
1603.0008; 935844 

NOTICE OF INAUGURAL MEETING & AGENDA 
 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
Wednesday, March 17, 2021 

3:00 P.M. 
 

Due to Executive Orders issued by Governor Polis and Public Health Orders implementing the 
Executive Orders issued by the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, and the threat 

posed by the COVID-19 coronavirus, public attendance will be via teleconferencing. The meeting 
can be joined through the directions below: 

 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/7636703470 

Meeting ID: 763 670 3470 
Call In Number: 1 720 707 2699 

 
Jason Kvols    Designee for District No. 2 
John Mick      Designee for District No. 3 
Jason Kvols      Designee for District No. 4 
John Mick      Designee for District No. 5 
John Mick      Designee for District No. 6 
Lee Merritt      Designee for District No. 7 
Jason Kvols      Designee for District No. 8 
 

1. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
a. Call to Order 
b. Declaration of Quorum and Confirmation of Director Qualifications 
c. Reaffirmation of Disclosures of Potential or Existing Conflicts of Interest 
d. Approval of Agenda 

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT (Items not on the Agenda; Comments limited to three minutes per person) 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS (These items are considered to be routine and will be approved by 

one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested, in which event, the 
item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered in the Regular Agenda.  Enclosures 
included in electronic packets; hard copies available upon request.) 
a. Administrative Matters 

i. Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-03-01: 2021 Annual Administrative Resolution (enclosure) 
ii. Adoption of Resolution 2021-03-02 Extending Emergency Procedures and Authorizing 

Teleconferencing for Regular and Special Meetings (enclosure) 
iii. Adoption of Resolution 2021-01-03: Resolution Establishing an Electronic Signature Policy 

(enclosure) 
iv. Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-03-04: Providing for the Defense and Indemnification of 

Directors and Employees of the Authority (enclosure) 
v. Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-03-05: Adopting Colorado Special District Records Retention 

Schedule (enclosure) 
vi. Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-03-06: Adopting Public Records Request Policy (enclosure) 

vii. Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-01-07: Designating the Location of Regular and Special 
Meetings Outside the Authority Boundaries (enclosure) 
 
 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/7636703470


Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority  
March 17, 2021 Inaugural Meeting Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 
 

b. Consultant Matters 
i. Approval of Engagement of WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON as General Counsel 

(enclosure) 
ii. Acknowledgement of Letter from WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON, regarding 

Special Disclosure of Costs of Legal Services in Connection with Bonds (enclosure) 
iii. Approval of Engagement of CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP for Accounting Services (to be 

distributed) 
iv. Approval of Engagement of Public Alliance, LLC For Management Services (enclosure) 
v. Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with MMI Water Engineers, LLC for 

Engineering Services (enclosure) 
vi. Approval of Engagement of DA Davidson & Co. for Investment Banking Services (enclosure) 

vii. Approval of Engagement of Kutak Rock. LLP as Bond Counsel in connection with Special 
Revenue Bonds Series 2021A, Series 2021B and Series 2021C (enclosure) 

viii. Approval of Engagement of Kutak Rock. LLP as Bond Counsel in connection with certain 
Taxable Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and Tax-Exempt Water and Sewer 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A- 2 (enclosure) 
 

c. Insurance Matters 
i. Approval of SDA Membership, Intergovernmental Agreement with Colorado Special Districts 

Property and Liability Pool, and Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-03-08 (enclosures) 
ii. Approval of Agency Services Agreement with T. Charles Wilson Insurance Services 

(enclosure) 
 

d. Approval of Public Improvements Acquisition and Reimbursement Agreement with Mayberry, 
Communities, LLC (enclosure) 

 
4. FINANCIAL MATTERS  

a. Public Hearing on 2021 Budget and Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2021-03-08: Adopting 
Budget and Appropriating Funds (budget to be distributed) 

b. Discuss Opening Checking Account and ColoTrust Account 
c. Discuss Use of bill.com 
d. Discuss Status of 2021 Bond Issuances 

i. Limited General Obligation Bonds 
ii. Revenue Bonds 

   
5. LEGAL MATTERS 

a. Discuss Website Development with Heatherly Creative (enclosure) 
 

6. OTHER BUSINESS  
a. Next Regular Meeting –  April 1, 2021 

  
7. ADJOURNMENT 

  



2303.0007;1109840 

Resolution No. 2021-03-01 
 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITYAUTHORITY 
ANNUAL ADMINISTRATIVE RESOLUTION 

(2021) 
      

WHEREAS, the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”) 
was created by virtue of that certain Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Establishment Agreement by and among the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District 
Nos. 2-8, dated March 10, 2021 (the “Agreement”), pursuant to § 29-1-203, C.R.S., and in 
conformity with § 29-1-203.5; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Authority (the “Board”) has a duty to perform 
certain obligations in order to assure the efficient operation of the Authority and, in some cases 
has voluntarily agreed to perform certain obligations not otherwise required by Colorado law, and 
hereby directs its consultants to take the following actions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Board directs the Authority’s manager to prepare and file with the Division, 
within thirty (30) days of a written request from the Division, an informational listing of all 
contracts in effect with other political subdivisions, in accordance with § 29-1-205, C.R.S.  

2. The Board directs the Authority’s accountant to cause the preparation of and to file 
with the Department of Local Affairs the annual public securities report for nonrated public 
securities issued by the Authority within sixty (60) days of the close of the fiscal year, as required 
by §§ 11-58-101, et seq., C.R.S. 

3. The Board directs the Authority’s manager to: 1) obtain proposals for auditors to 
be presented to the Board; 2) to cause an audit of the annual financial statements of the Authority 
to be prepared and submitted to the Board on or before June 30; and 3) to cause the audit to be 
filed with the State Auditor by July 31st, or by the filing deadline permitted under any extension 
thereof, all in accordance with §§ 29-1-603(1) and 29-1-606, C.R.S.  Alternatively, if warranted 
by § 29-1-604, C.R.S., the Board directs the Authority’s accountant to apply for and obtain an 
audit exemption from the State Auditor on or before March 31st in accordance with § 29-1-604, 
C.R.S. 

4. The Board directs the Authority’s accountant to submit a proposed budget to the 
Board by October 15th, to prepare the final budget and budget message, including any amendments 
thereto, if necessary, and directs the Authority’s manager to schedule a public hearing on the 
proposed budget and/or amendments, and to post or publish notices thereof, and directs the 
Authority’s legal counsel to prepare all budget resolutions and to file the budget, budget resolution 
and budget message with the Division on or before January 30th, all in accordance with §§ 29-1-
101, et seq., C.R.S. 

5. The Board directs the Authority’s accountant to monitor expenditures and 
contracted expenditures and, if necessary, to notify the Authority’s manager, legal counsel and the 



2303.0007; 110984 2 

Board when expenditures or contracted expenditures are expected to exceed appropriated amounts, 
and directs legal counsel to prepare all budget amendment resolutions and directs Authority’s 
manager to schedule a public hearing on a proposed budget amendment and to post or publish 
notices thereof and to file the amended budget with the Division on or before the date of making 
such expenditure or contracting for such expenditure, all in accordance with §§ 29-1-101, et seq., 
C.R.S. 

6. The Board directs the Authority’s legal counsel to cause the preparation of the 
Unclaimed Property Act report and submission of the same to the State Treasurer by November 
1st if there is property presumed abandoned and subject to custody as unclaimed property, in 
accordance with § 38-13-110, C.R.S. 

7. The Board designates the El Paso County Advertiser and News  as a newspaper of 
general circulation within the boundaries of the Authority and directs that all legal notices shall be 
published in the El Paso County Advertiser and News, unless otherwise designated by the Board 
or legal counsel. 

8. The Board determines that each director may receive compensation for their 
services as directors. 

9. The Authority hereby acknowledges the following officers for the Authority: 

President:  

Treasurer:  

Secretary:  

Recording Secretary: Authority Manager 

10. The Board hereby determines that each member of the Board shall, for any potential 
or actual conflicts of interest, complete conflicts of interest disclosures and directs legal counsel 
to file the conflicts of interest disclosures with the Board and with the Colorado Secretary of State 
at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to every regular and special meeting of the Board, in 
accordance with § 18-8-308, C.R.S.  Written disclosures provided by Board members required to 
be filed with the governing body in accordance with § 18-8-308, C.R.S. shall be deemed filed with 
the Board when filed with the Secretary of State. Additionally, at the beginning of each year, each 
Board member shall submit information to legal counsel regarding any actual or potential conflicts 
of interest and, throughout the year, each Board member shall provide legal counsel with any 
revisions, additions, corrections or deletions to said conflicts of interest disclosures. 

11. The Board confirms its obligations under § 24-10-110(1), C.R.S., with regards to 
the defense and indemnification of its public employees, which, by definition, includes elected and 
appointed officers.  

12. The Board hereby appoints the Authority’s manager as the official custodian for 
the maintenance, care and keeping of all public records of the Authority, in accordance with §§ 
24-72-202, et seq., C.R.S.  The Board hereby directs the Authority’s legal counsel, accountant, 



2303.0007; 110984 3 

manager, and all other consultants to adhere to the Colorado Special Authority Records Retention 
Schedule as adopted by the Authority.  

13. The Board hereby designates the telephone pole along Highway 94 at the northeast 
corner of the Authority as the location where the Authority will post physical notice of meetings 
at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the meeting and directs the Authority’s manager make 
physical meeting postings within the boundaries of the Authority in accordance with § 32-1-903(2) 
and § 24-6-402(2)(c), C.R.S. If possible, the physical posting shall include specific agenda 
information. 

14. The Board determines to hold regular meetings on November 11, 2021, at 9:00 a.m. 
at 2154 E. Commons Avenue, Suite 2000, Centennial, Colorado.  Notice of the time and place for 
all regular meetings shall be posted in accordance with § 24-6-402, C.R.S. 

15. In the event of an emergency, the Board may conduct a meeting outside of the 
limitations prescribed in § 24-6-402(2)(c), C.R.S., provided that any actions taken at such 
emergency meeting are ratified at the next regular meeting of the Board or at a special meeting 
conducted after proper notice has been given to the public. 

16. Pursuant to the authority set forth in § 24-12-103, C.R.S., the Board hereby 
designates, in addition to any officer of the Authority, AJ Beckman of Public Alliance, LLC as a 
person with the power to administer all oaths or affirmations of office and other oaths or 
affirmations required to be taken by any person upon any lawful occasion. 

17. The Board directs the Authority’s manager to obtain proposals and/or renewals for 
insurance, as applicable, to insure the Authority against all or any part of the Authority’s liability, 
in accordance with §§ 24-10-115, et seq., C.R.S.  The Board directs the Authority’s accountant to 
pay the annual agency fees and insurance premiums, as applicable, in a timely manner.   

18.  The Board hereby opts to include elected or appointed officials as employees 
within the meaning of § 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(A), C.R.S., and hereby directs the Authority’s manager 
to obtain workers’ compensation coverage for the Authority. 

19. In accordance with § 38-35-109.5(2), C.R.S, the Authority hereby designates the 
President of the Board as the official who shall record any instrument conveying title of real 
property to the Authority within 30 days of any such conveyance.  

20. The Board directs the Authority’s accountant to prepare and submit the 
documentation required by any continuing disclosure obligation signed in conjunction with the 
issuance of debt by the Authority. 

21. The Board directs legal counsel to monitor, and inform the Board of, any legislative 
changes that may occur throughout the year.   

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank, signature page follows.] 



2303.0007;1109840 

ADOPTED this 17th  day of March, 2021. 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
 
 

By:  
 Officer of the Authority 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 
General Counsel to the Authority 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF RESOLUTION 

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the resolution of 
the Board adopted at a meeting held on March 17, 2021 via teleconference, Colorado. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name this 17th day of March, 
2021. 

 
              
      Signature 
 
             
      Printed Name 

Attest: 
  
  
By:  
  



2303.0007: 1110462 

Resolution No. 2021-03-02 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 
 

DECLARING EMERGENCY PROCEDURES AND 
AUTHORIZING TELECONFERENCING FOR REGULAR AND SPECIAL MEETINGS  

     
 

WHEREAS, Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”), is a 
political subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “State”), organized to 
serve a public use and promote the health, safety, prosperity, security and general welfare of the 
residents of the Authority and the State of Colorado; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-903, C.R.S., all official business of the Board of Directors of 

the Authority (the “Board”) shall be conducted only during regular and special meetings at which a 
quorum is present, and all said meetings shall be open to the public; and 
 
 WHEREAS, § 32-1-1001(1)(h) C.R.S., provides the Board with the management, control and 
supervision of all the business and affairs of the Authority; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Governor of the State (the “Governor”) declared a state of emergency on 
March 10, 2020, and extended the declaration on April 8, 2020 (the “Emergency”) due to the threat 
that COVID-19 coronavirus (“COVID-19”) poses to the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of 
the State; and  

 
WHEREAS, on April 26, 2020, as directed by the Governor, the Colorado Department of 

Public Health and Environment issued Public Health Order 20-28 (the “Order”) implementing “Safer 
at Home” guidelines, effective 12:01 A.M. on April 27, 2020.  The Order limits public gatherings 
outside a residence to no more than ten (10) individuals, except for the purposes expressly permitted 
in the Order, and to the extent possible encourages compliance with Social Distancing Requirements 
(as defined in the Order); and 
 
 WHEREAS, counties, municipalities, and other local governments have issued, or may issue,  
COVID-19 related public health orders limiting public gatherings and establishing social distancing 
requirements (collectively the “Local Orders”, and together with the Order, the “Orders”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment and Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention recommend certain precautions in order to attempt to slow the spread 
of COVID-19, including minimizing close contact with large numbers of people; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to attempt to protect the health and safety of the residents of the 
Authority from COVID-19 and in order to comply with the Orders, and any subsequent orders, while 
at the same time continuing with the required business of the Authority, the Board wishes to have the 



2303.0007: 1110462 2  

ability to hold regular and special meetings via teleconferencing until such time that the Emergency 
is lifted by the State, the Orders, or any subsequent orders, are repealed, or as otherwise determined 
by the Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to establish certain procedures and requirements for when the 
Authority determines to hold regular and special meetings via teleconferencing during the Emergency 
and the time when the Orders, or any subsequent orders, are in effect. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Teleconferencing for Regular and Special Meetings.  The Board hereby authorizes 
the holding of regular and special meetings for the Authority by teleconferencing methods until 
such time that the Emergency and Orders, or any subsequent orders, are lifted, or as otherwise 
determined by the Board.   

2. Quorum of the Board for Teleconferenced Regular and Special Meetings.  A 
quorum of the Board for attendance and voting purposes at regular and special meetings shall be 
established by the attendance of a majority of the members of the Board on the teleconferencing 
platform.  Each Board member must be able to clearly hear and participate in any teleconferenced 
meetings. 

3. Posting of Regular and Special Meeting Notices.  The Authority shall continue to 
post notice of all regular and special meetings pursuant to the Authority’s previously adopted 
policies and State law. 

4. Public Attendance at Teleconferenced Regular and Special Meetings.  The 
Authority shall arrange for a dial-in-number for members of the public and the Board to utilize in 
order to attend the teleconferenced regular and special meetings of the Authority.  Members of the 
public may be excluded from executive sessions that are held by the Board in accordance with 
State law.   The dial-in number shall be included on the agenda for the meeting. 

5. Ratification of Actions. Any actions, including, but not limited to the adoption of 
this Resolution, taken at a regular or special meeting held by teleconference platform shall be 
ratified at the first regular or special in-person Board meeting that takes place after adoption of 
this Resolution. 

6. Term. This Resolution shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the 
Board determines that the conditions necessitating its adoption no longer exist, including lifting of 
the Emergency, the repeal of the Orders, or any subsequent orders, or as otherwise determined by 
the Board. 

The Remainder of this Page is Intentionally Left Blank 



2303.0007: 1110462 3 

ADOPTED THIS 17TH DAY OF MARCH, 2021. 

 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of 
Colorado  

 

             
Officer of the Authority 

ATTEST: 

 

      
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
       
General Counsel to the Authority 
 

 
 

 

 

Signature Page to Resolution Declaring Emergency Procedures Authorizing Teleconferencing for Special 
Meetings, dated March 17, 2021 

 



2303.0007; 1110463 1 

Resolution No. 2021-03-03 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 
 

ESTABLISHING AN ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE POLICY  
__________________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”) is 

a political subdivision and political corporation of the State of Colorado; and 
 
WHERAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 

Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 17, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its 
entirety; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to § 29-1-203.5(2)(a), C.R.S., the Authority may, to the extent 

provided by the Establishment Agreement, exercise the general powers of a special district as  
specified in Part 10 of Article 1 of Title 32, C.R.S., excluding the power to levy a tax or exercise 
the power of eminent domain ; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to §32-1-1001(1)(h), C.R.S., the Board of Directors of the 

Authority (the “Authority”) is empowered with the management, control and supervision of all 
the business and affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, in 2002, the Colorado legislature enacted the Uniform Electronic 
Transactions Act, §§ 24-71.3-101, et seq., C.R.S. (the “Act”); and   
 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Act is to facilitate e-Government in Colorado by giving 
electronic signatures the same force and effect as signatures produced by non-electronic means; 
and   

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to § 24-71.3-117, C.R.S., the Authority, as a political subdivision 

of the State of Colorado, has the general power, in relation to the administration of the affairs of 
the Authority to determine the extent to which it will create and retain electronic signatures; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to § 24-71.3-118 (1), C.R.S., the Authority, as a political 

subdivision of the State of Colorado, has the general power, in relation to the administration of 
its affairs, to determine the extent to which it will send and accept electronic signatures to and 
from other persons and otherwise create, generate, communicate, store, process, use, and rely 
upon electronic signatures; and 
 

WHEREAS, the use of electronic signatures increases efficiency of various internal and 
external transactions that require signature or authorization; and  

 



2303.0007; 1110463 2 

WHEREAS, the Board desire to adopt a policy that establishes and governs the process 
for using and accepting electronic signatures for internal and external Authority business and 
transactions. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. Adoption of Electronic Signature Policy. The Authority hereby adopts the 

Electronic Signature Policy set forth in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein.  

2. Preambles Incorporated.  The preambles to this Resolution are hereby 
incorporated into this Resolution as if set out fully herein.  

3. Severability.  If any part, section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Resolution or Electronic Signature Policy is for any reason held to be invalid, such invalidity 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions.  

4. Effective Date.  This Resolution and Electronic Signature Policy shall take effect 
as of the date of this Resolution (the “Effective Date”) until amended, superseded or rescinded.   

5. Ratification of Electronic Signatures.  To the extent that the Authority has utilized 
or accepted Electronic Signatures (as defined in the Electronic Signature Policy) prior to the 
Effective Date, such Electronic Signatures are hereby ratified, approved and accepted by the 
Board.  

 

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank, Signature Page Follows 

 



2303.0007; 1110463 3 

ADOPTED this 17th day of March, 2021. 

 

 
 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  

 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Officer of the Authority 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON  
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
                                                                     
General Counsel to the Authority 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature Page to Resolution Establishing an Electronic Signature Policy 
 
 



2303.0007; 1110463 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Electronic Signature Policy 
 

 
1.0 Background and Purpose  

 
Use of electronic signatures increases the efficiency of various internal and external transactions 
that require signature or authorization. This policy establishes and governs the process for using 
and accepting electronic signatures used to conduct official Authority business. 
 
2.0 Policy 
 
The Authority permits the use of Electronic Signatures for both internal and external transactions 
to conduct the official business of the Authority in accordance with the procedures set forth 
below.   
 

2.1 Where Authority policies, or applicable laws, regulations, or rules require a signature, 
that requirement is met if the document contains an Electronic Signature. 

 
2.2 If a law or regulation prohibits a transaction from occurring electronically, the 

transaction must occur in the manner specified by that law or regulation. 
 

2.3 This Policy shall be construed in a manner consistent with the Colorado Uniform 
Electronic Transactions Act (the “Act”).  If there is a conflict between the Act and 
this policy, the Act shall control. 

 
2.4 Nothing contained in this Policy shall be construed as requiring a person to use an 

Electronic Signature for any Authority business or transaction. Scanned, copied, or 
facsimiles of documents containing an original handwritten signature are not 
covered by this Resolution as such are not considered Electronic Signatures under 
the Act, and are legally acceptable without further action of the Authority.  

 
2.5 If an applicable policy, law, regulation or rule prohibits particular Authority 

business or transactions from utilizing Electronic Signatures, such business or 
transaction shall be consummated in the manner permitted by applicable law. If an 
applicable policy, law, regulation or rule requires an Electronic Signature to 
contain specific elements, notwithstanding the acceptability of the Electronic 
Signatures as described in this Policy, the Electronic Signature must contain those 
specific elements to be valid and enforceable. 

 
3.0 Procedures 
 

3.1 External Transactions 
 
3.1.1. Each party to an External Transaction must agree to conduct the transaction 

electronically. Agreement may be implied from the context and 



2303.0007; 1110463 A-2 

circumstances. 
3.1.2. Only an Authorized Signatory may execute an External Transaction on 

behalf of the Authority. 
 

3.1.3. The Authority may require a standard signature block or certification to be 
used for certain External Transactions. 

 
3.2 Internal Transactions 

 
3.2.1. Only an Authorized Signatory may execute an Internal Transaction on behalf of 

the Authority. 
 
4.0 DEFINITIONS. 
 

4.1 “Authorized Signatory” means  a director, employee, contractor, consultant or other 
person who has been authorized or delegated by the Board the authority to sign 
documents on behalf of the Authority 
 

4.2 “Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to or 
logically associated with a record and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to 
sign the record.  Electronic Signatures include, but are not limited to,  (i) a signature 
image (a computer file that is created from the scanned image of the handwritten 
signature); and (ii) a signature generated by a computer program such as Adobe, 
DocuSign or other similar software that may or may not be time and date stamped. 

 
4.3 “External Transaction” means any legally binding agreement or contract between the 

Authority and an individual, entity, business, or government agency. 
 

4.4 “Internal Transaction” means any internal work-flow or approval process that requires a 
signature or approval on an Authority form, document, memo, or other similar format. 
 

 
 
 



2303.0007; 1110464  

Resolution No. 2021-03-04 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION 
OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES OF THE AUTHORITY 

   
 
 

 WHEREAS, Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”) is a 
political subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado, by virtue of the Establishment 
Agreement dated March 10, 2021 (the “Agreement”), pursuant to § 29-1-203, C.R.S., and in 
conformity with § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S.; and 
  
 WHEREAS, past and present directors and employees of the Authority may be subject, from 
time to time, to claims arising from acts or omissions occurring during the performance of their 
governmental duties; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority desires to encourage persons to serve on its Board of Directors and 
accept employment with the Authority by defending and indemnifying such persons against liability 
for acts or omissions occurring during the performance of their governmental duties; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Authority and its inhabitants to defend and 
indemnify its directors and employees against liability for acts and omissions which occur within their 
Scope of Employment, as defined below, and for which such defense and indemnification is not 
otherwise provided by Colorado law. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD THAT: 
 
 1. Definitions.  For purposes of this resolution, the terms below shall be defined as 
follows: 
 
  a. Director:  “Director” includes former, current, and future directors of the 
Authority, from the date of organization, who are sued for acts or omissions occurring during their 
term as a director of the Authority. 
 
  b. Employee:  “Employee” includes former, current, and future employees of the 
Authority, from the date of organization, who are sued for acts or omissions occurring during their 
employment with the Authority. 
 
  c. Scope of Employment:  an act or omission of a Director or Employee of the 
Authority is within the “Scope of Employment” if it reasonably relates to the business or affairs of 
the Authority and the act was made in good faith and in a manner a reasonable person would have 
believed to be in the best interests of the Authority. 



 
 
2303.0007; 1110464 

2 

 
  2. Tort Actions Governed by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act. 
 
  The Authority shall pay, in accordance with §§ 24-10-110, et seq., C.R.S., as amended 
from time to time (the “Act”), the costs of defense of and settlements and judgments against a Director 
or Employee of the Authority, including reasonable attorney fees, where the action is brought by a 
third party and lies or could lie in tort or are otherwise governed by the Act.  As a prerequisite to such 
payment, the Director or Employee must furnish the Authority with an affidavit in the form attached 
hereto as “Exhibit A”, incorporated herein by reference, stating that:  (1) to his/her reasonable belief, 
the act or omission upon which the claim is based occurred within the Scope of Employment, as 
defined above; and (2) the act or omission was not willful or wanton.  The Director or Employee shall 
also be required to comply with all relevant provisions of the Act, including but not limited to, 
provision of timely notice to the Authority of claims in accordance with such Act.  The Authority 
shall not pay such judgments under this paragraph and shall be reimbursed by the Director or 
Employee for the reasonable costs of his/her defense under this paragraph, including reasonable 
attorney fees, if it is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that: (1) the injuries did not arise 
out of an act or omission of the Director or Employee occurring within the Scope of Employment; or 
(2) the act or omission was willful and wanton.  
 
 3. Other Non-Criminal Acts and Omissions.  The Authority hereby agrees to pay the 
costs of defense and settlements and judgments against its Directors and Employees, including 
reasonable attorney fees, for all other third party actions, including but not limited to, actions which 
lie or could lie in contract, or arise under state or federal laws and are not governed by § 24-10-110, 
C.R.S., except for criminal actions, and subject to such limitations as exist in law as of the date of the 
claim against the Director or Employee.  As a prerequisite to such payment, the Director or Employee 
must furnish the Authority with an affidavit in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A stating that:  (1) 
to his/her reasonable belief, the act or omission upon which the claim is based occurred within the 
Scope of Employment; and (2) the act or omission was not willful or wanton.  The Authority shall 
not pay such judgments under this paragraph and shall be reimbursed by the Director or Employee 
for the reasonable costs of his/her defense under this paragraph, including reasonable attorney fees, 
where it is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that: (1) the injuries did not arise out of an 
act or omission of the Director or Employee occurring within the Scope of Employment; or (2) the 
act or omission was willful and wanton. 
 
 4. Criminal Actions.  The Authority hereby agrees to pay the costs of defense, including 
reasonable attorney fees, and any fines or penalties assessed, where a criminal action is brought 
against its Directors or Employees for acts or omissions occurring during their term or employment 
with the Authority and within the Scope of Employment, to the extent allowed by law.  As a 
prerequisite to such payment, the Director or Employee must furnish the Authority with an affidavit 
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A stating that:  (1) to his/her reasonable belief, the act or 
omission upon which the claim is based occurred within the Scope of Employment, and (2) he/she 
had no reasonable cause to believe his/her conduct was unlawful.  The Authority shall not pay such 
fines or penalties and shall be reimbursed by the Director or Employee for the reasonable costs of 
his/her defense, including reasonable attorney fees, where it is determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, arbitrator, mediator, or other third-party binding decision maker that: (1) the injuries 
did not arise out of an act or omission of the Director or Employee occurring during his/her term or 



 
 
2303.0007; 1110464 

3 

employment with the Authority and within the Scope of Employment; or (2) the Employee or Director 
had reasonable cause to believe his/her conduct was unlawful. 
 
 5. Miscellaneous Provisions.  The following provisions shall apply to any of the actions 
discussed in Sections 2, 3 and 4 above: 
 

a. No Waiver of Notice Requirements.  The Authority does not hereby waive the 
notice requirements of its Directors and Employees as set forth in § 24-10-
110(2), C.R.S. Indemnification will not be made and the Authority shall not 
be liable for defense costs unless written notice of the action is given to the 
Authority by either the plaintiff, the Director or Employee within fifteen (15) 
days after commencement of such action.  The Authority shall not indemnify 
or pay the defense costs of a Director or Employee who willfully and 
knowingly fails to notify the Authority of the act or omission which led to the 
claim within a reasonable time after such act or omission, if such act or 
omission could reasonably have been expected to lead to a claim.   

 
b. Consent to Compromise or Settlement.  The Authority shall pay no judgment 

or settlement of claims against its Director or Employee where the Director or 
Employee has compromised or settled the claim without the Authority’s 
written consent. 

 
c. Legal Representation of the Director or Employee.  The Authority’s legal 

counsel shall serve as counsel to the Director or Employee, unless it appears 
to such counsel that the interests of the Authority and the Director or 
Employee may be adverse.  In the latter event, the Director or Employee may 
select separate counsel to be approved in writing by the Authority.  The 
Director or Employee shall cooperate with the Authority and its legal counsel 
in his defense. 

 
d. No Indemnification.  In no event will the Authority indemnify or pay defense 

costs if it is adjudged by the Board of Directors that the Director or Employee 
has acted primarily for personal benefit or on the basis of other improper 
benefit, whether or not the Director or Employee is acting in his official 
capacity. 

 
e. Director’s or Employee’s Costs.  The Authority shall not be responsible for 

costs to its Directors or Employees associated with time spent in giving 
depositions, testifying or otherwise cooperating with their defense. 

 
 6. No Waiver of Sovereign Immunity.  By the adoption of this Resolution, the Authority 
does not waive its defense of sovereign immunity as to any action. 
 
 7. No Waiver of Insurance Coverage.  The approval and adoption of this Resolution shall 
not constitute a waiver by the Authority of insurance coverage with respect to any liability covered 
by this Resolution.  This Resolution shall render the Authority secondarily liable in the event the 



 
 
2303.0007; 1110464 

4 

Authority’s insurance does cover such liability and the conditions of this Resolution are met. 
 
 8. Liberal Construction.  The purpose of this Resolution is to protect Directors and 
Employees of the Authority against personal liability for their actions taken on behalf of the Authority 
and reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the Authority.  Therefore, it is the intent of the 
Authority that this Resolution be liberally construed in favor of protection of such Directors and 
Employees. 
 
 9. Liability Limitations.  The Authority shall indemnify a Director or Employee up to, 
but not in excess of, the applicable limitations of the Act. The Authority specifically reserves any 
defenses which are available to Directors or Employees under the Act or by common law. 
 
 10. Effect of Other Insurance, Bond or Indemnification Plans.  If the Authority has 
insurance coverage for any act for which indemnification is provided by this Resolution, its coverage 
shall be primary. If the Director or Employee against whom a claim is subject to indemnification 
under this Resolution is asserted had any other valid insurance, bond or indemnification plan available 
covering the loss or damage alleged against him, and the Authority does not have adequate insurance 
coverage, and the act for which indemnification is sought is other than as action sounding in tort, such 
insurance, bond or other plan will be first applied to the payment of any defense costs, attorneys’ fees, 
or claim/judgment before the Authority shall be required to obtain funds for indemnification from 
sources other than insurance. The obligation of the Authority to indemnify and save harmless the 
Director or Employee shall, in all events, exist only to the extent permitted by this Resolution. 
 
 11. Subrogation Rights of the Authority.  In the event of any payments pursuant to this 
Resolution, the Authority or its assigns shall be subrogated to all of the Director’s or Employee’s 
rights of recovery therefor against any person or entity.  The Director or Employee shall execute and 
deliver instruments and papers and do whatever else is necessary to secure such rights. The Director 
or Employee shall do nothing to prejudice such rights. 
 
 12. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be effective as of the date the Authority was 
established pursuant to the Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021. 
 
 13. Severability and Invalidation.  If any provision, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or 
word herein, or the application thereof in any given circumstance of this Resolution is found to be 
invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such finding shall not affect the validity of the 
remainder of this Resolution, unless such invalidation would act to destroy the intent or essence of 
this Resolution. 
 
 14. Renewal of Indemnifications.  Unless repealed by resolution of the Board of Directors 
of the Authority on or before January 30 of the then current fiscal year, the indemnification 
established herein shall be effective from and after the date of adoption, and shall be deemed 
automatically extended from year to year to the extent permitted by law; provided, however, that 
nothing shall prevent the Board from separately appropriating funds from time to time for the 
purposes authorized in this Resolution. 
 
  



 
 
2303.0007; 1110464 

5 

15. Attorneys.  In the event there is litigation over the enforceability of this Resolution, the 
prevailing party in such litigation shall be awarded its reasonable attorneys fees. 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank].



2303.0007; 1110464  

ADOPTED this 17th day of March, 2021. 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
 
 

By:  
 Officer of the Authority 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
      
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON  
Attorneys At Law 
 
 
       
General Counsel to the Authority 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature Page to Resolution Providing for the Defense and Indemnification of Directors and 
Employees



2303.0007; 1110464  

EXHIBIT A 
 

Form of Indemnification Affidavit 
 



 
 
2303.0007; 1110464 

2 

AFFIDAVIT OF ELIGIBILITY FOR INDEMNIFICATION 
 
 “I, _________________________, who reside at _________________________________, 

Colorado, affirm under oath that I have been subjected to legal action in connection with actions that 

I have taken or omissions that I have suffered in my capacity as a Director or Employee of Mayberry, 

Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”), and that I am eligible for indemnification 

by the Authority because: (1) these actions or omissions reasonably relate to the business or affairs of 

the Authority; (2) the actions or omissions were undertaken in good faith, and in a manner a 

reasonable person would have believed to be in the best interests of the Authority; (3) these actions 

or omissions were not willful or wanton; and (4) I did not have reasonable cause to believe that these 

actions or omissions were unlawful.  Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine any of the 

following: (1) these actions or omissions were not reasonably related to the business or affairs of the 

Authority; (2) I did not take these actions or suffer these omissions in good faith, and in a manner a 

reasonable person would have believed to be in the best interests of the Authority; (3) these actions 

or omissions were willful or wanton; or (4) one or more of these actions or omissions was unlawful 

and I had reasonable cause to believe that said action or omission was unlawful; then I agree that the 

Authority shall have no further obligations to indemnify or defend me, and I shall reimburse the 

Authority for its prior costs in indemnifying and defending me, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.” 

 

 
 
        
Date       Signature of Director or Employee 
 
STATE OF COLORADO  ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ___________  ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this   day of  
  , 20__, by ____________________. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
      __________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
 
My commission expires: _________________. 



 

2303.0007:1110469 
 

Resolution No. 2021-03-05 
 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 
 

ADOPTING THE COLORADO SPECIAL AUTHORITY RECORDS RETENTION 
SCHEDULE 

      
 

WHEREAS, the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”) 
was formed pursuant to the Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021  (the “Agreement”) 
in conformity with § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., and is a political subdivision and public corporation of 
the State of Colorado; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, the Board of Directors of the Authority (the 

“Board”) shall have the management, control and supervision of all the business and affairs of 
the Authority; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Authority recognizes a need for a comprehensive records retention 

schedule for the Authority’s non-permanent records and the retention of those records that have 
long-term administrative, fiscal and historical value; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Colorado State Archives has developed a state-wide record retention 
schedule in cooperation with the Colorado Special District Association, the Colorado Attorney 
General’s Office and the State Auditor’s Office for special districts to use and follow; and 

 
WHEREAS, although the Authority is not a special district itself, it was created by 

special districts and the Authority believes it is important to follow the same schedule for the 
retention of the Authority’s non-permanent records. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. ADOPTION OF RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE.  The Authority hereby 

adopts the 2008 Colorado Special Authority Records Retention Schedule, and all subsequent 
revisions thereto, and authorizes the Authority’s legal counsel to submit the request to the 
Colorado State Archives for the Schedule to be used as legal authority for the destruction and 
preservation of the Authority’s records. 
  
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.  Signature Page Follows]. 



2303.0007:1110469 

ADOPTED this 17th day of March, 2021. 

 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the 
State of Colorado 
 
 
_____________________________   
Officer of the Authority 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

_____________________________   
 

 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON  
Attorneys At Law 
 
 
       
General Counsel to the Authority 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature page to Resolution Adopting the Colorado Special Authority Records Retention 
Schedule 



2303.0026: 1110471 

Resolution No. 2021-03-06 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST POLICY 

Adopted March 17, 2021 

              

I. Purposes of the Authority’s Public Records Request Policy 

This Public Records Request Policy of the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority (the “Authority”) shall be applied and interpreted with the following purposes in 
mind: 

a. To adopt a Public Records Request Policy pursuant to § 24-72-203(1), C.R.S.; 

b. To provide access to and the protection and integrity of Public Records in the 
custody of the Authority;  

c. To prevent unnecessary interference with the regular discharge of the duties of the 
Authority and its manager in compliance with the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-200.1 
to 24-72-206, C.R.S. (“CORA”);  

d. To establish reasonable and standardized fees for producing copies of and 
information from records maintained by the Authority as authorized by CORA; and 

e. To set forth a general procedure for providing consistent, prompt and equitable 
service to those requesting access to Public Records.   

II. Public Records Requests 

A. Applicability 

This Public Records Request Policy applies to requests submitted to the Authority for the 
inspection of Public Records pursuant to CORA, and shall supersede any previously adopted 
CORA policies of the Authority. 

B. Definitions 

1. “Custodian”:  Except as otherwise provided in this policy, the term 
“Custodian” shall mean Public Alliance, or any successor that has been designated by the Board 
of the Authority to oversee the collection, retention, and retrieval of Public Records of the 
Authority.  

2. “Public Records”:  As defined in § 24-72-202(6), C.R.S. 

C. Submission of Requests 

1. Requests for inspection of Public Records are to be submitted in writing 
on an official request form to the Custodian and must be sufficiently specific as to enable the 
Custodian to locate the information requested with reasonable effort. The official request form is 



2303.0026; 1110471 

attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference, as may be modified from 
time to time by the Authority. The Authority has determined that the use of an official request 
form is necessary for the efficient handling of Public Records requests. 

2. Requests may be submitted by mail, fax, e-mail or hand-delivery.  

3. A request shall be considered made when the request is actually received 
by the Custodian: 

a. A letter is received when it is opened in the usual course of 
business by the recipient or a person authorized to open the recipient’s mail; 

b. A fax is received when it is printed during regular business hours, 
or, if received after hours, at 8:30 a.m. on the following business day; and 

c. An e-mail is received when it is received and opened during 
regular business hours, or, if received after hours, at 8:30 a.m. on the following business 
day. 

4. If a deposit is required, the request is not considered received until the 
deposit is paid.   

D. Inspection 

1. The Custodian or the Custodian’s designee shall make the requested 
Public Records available for inspection during regular business hours, deemed to be from 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, except for times the Custodian’s office is closed.  
During the inspection of Public Records, the Custodian may ask that the requestor follow certain 
procedures to protect the integrity of the Public Records. 

2. If a Public Record is not immediately or readily available for inspection, 
the Custodian or the Custodian’s designee shall make an appointment or other arrangements with 
the applicant concerning the time at which the requested record will be available.  The Public 
Records shall be made available for inspection within a reasonable time, which is presumed to be 
three (3) working days or less from the date of receipt of the request.  Such three (3) day period 
may be extended by an additional seven (7) working days if extenuating circumstances, as 
described in § 24-72-203(3)(b), C.R.S., exist.  Responding to applications for inspection of 
Public Records need not take priority over the previously scheduled work activities of the 
Custodian or the Custodian’s designee. 

3. All Public Records to which the request applies shall be preserved from 
the date of the request until such time as set forth in the Authority’s records maintenance, 
retention, or deletion policy or practices utilized by the Custodian.   

4. No one shall remove a Public Record from the Custodian’s offices without 
the permission of the Custodian.  Public Records may be removed from file folders or places of 
storage for photocopying by the Custodian or the Custodian’s designee.  The Custodian may 
allow a person to use his or her own portable electronic equipment to make copies of Public 
Records. 



2303.0026; 1110471 

5. As a general practice, in response to a Public Records request: 

a. Public Records will be made available for inspection in the format 
in which they are stored. If the Custodian is unable to produce the Public Record in its 
stored format for any reason set forth in § 24-72-203(3.5)(b) C.R.S., an alternate format 
may be produced or a denial issued under § 24-72-204, C.R.S. 

b. The person making the request shall not be allowed to access the 
Custodian’s computer or any other computer for purposes of inspecting any Public 
Records; 

c. Any portion of a Public Record containing non-public information 
that is not subject to inspection may be redacted by the Custodian prior to making the 
record available for inspection.  The Custodian is not required to redact information from 
a writing that is not a Public Record in order to make the writing available for inspection.  
Denver Publishing Co. v. Bd. of County Comm’rs of the County of Arapahoe, 121 P.3d 
190 (Colo. 2005); Colorado Republican Party v. Benefield, et al., Court of Appeals 
No. 07CA1216, Oct. 23, 2008 (Unpublished). 

d. The Custodian, in consultation with the Authority’s general 
counsel, will determine which information is no longer considered “work-in-progress” 
subject to the deliberative process or work product privilege and therefore eligible for 
release.   

e. Altering an existing Public Record, or excising fields of 
information that the Custodian is either required or permitted to withhold does not 
constitute the creation of a new Public Record. § 24-72-203(3.5)(d), C.R.S.  

f. A document will not ordinarily be created in order to respond to a 
request. 

6. Where a request seeks in excess of 25 electronically-stored Public 
Records, the following procedure shall apply in responding to such a request: 

a. The Custodian shall solicit the comments of the requestor 
regarding any search terms to be used to locate and extract such records, and, in doing so, 
will seek to have the request refined so that it does not result in an inordinate number of 
irrelevant or duplicative documents, it being understood that the Custodian will make the 
final determination regarding search terms; 

b. The Custodian shall designate an employee or another person with 
experience in performing electronic searches to locate and extract responsive records;  

c. The person who is designated to perform the searches shall 
consult, as appropriate, with legal counsel to identify privileged records that should not 
be produced; and 

d. Where appropriate, legal counsel shall conduct a final review to 
identify and withhold privileged records.   



2303.0026; 1110471 

7. The Custodian or the Custodian’s designee shall deny the inspection of the 
records if such inspection would be contrary to federal or state law or regulation or would violate 
a court order.  In special circumstances, a Custodian shall deny inspection of the Public Records 
if such inspection would cause substantial injury to the public interest.  Such a denial shall be 
made in writing by the Custodian to the person making the request and shall set forth with 
specificity the grounds of the denial.  It is not necessary to state a ground for denial of access for 
each document if a specific ground is applicable to a group of documents.    

8. If the Public Records requested are not in the custody or control of the 
Custodian, the Custodian shall notify the requestor of this fact in writing.  In such notification, 
the Custodian shall state in detail to the best of his/her knowledge and belief the reason for the 
absence of the Public Records, the location of the Public Records, and what person then has 
custody or control of the Public Records.    

9. All Public Records, regardless of storage format, will be administered in 
accordance with approved retention schedules.  The Authority reserves the right to adopt the 
records retention policy that has been promulgated by the Custodian. 

E. Fees for All Record Requests 

1. Fees for standard reproductions.  The Custodian or the Custodian’s 
designee shall charge a fee not to exceed twenty-five cents per page for any photocopies or 
printed copies of electronic records that are required to make a Public Record available.  Other 
reproductions of Public Records shall be provided at a cost not to exceed the actual cost of the 
reproduction.  Such fees shall be paid by the applicant prior to the receipt of copies of any Public 
Records.  Requests expected to exceed a total charge of $10.00 or more must be accompanied by 
a deposit equal to the reasonably-estimated reproduction costs.  This deposit will be credited 
toward the total fee, and the total fee shall be paid prior to release of the requested records.  In 
the event the deposit amount exceeds the actual costs, the balance will be refunded. 

2. Transmission fees.  No fees related to transmission shall be charged for 
transmitting public records via electronic mail.  Within the period specified in § 24-72-203, 
C.R.S., the Custodian shall notify the record requester that a copy of the record is available but 
will only be sent to the requester once the custodian receives payment for postage if the copy is 
transmitted by United States mail, or payment for the cost of delivery if the copy is transmitted 
other than by United States mail, and payment for any other supplies used in the mailing, 
delivery, or transmission of the record and for all other costs associated with producing the 
record.  Upon receiving such payment, the custodian shall send the record to the requester as 
soon as practicable but no more than three business days after receipt of such payment. 

3. Fees for search, retrieval and legal review: 

a. In the case of any request requiring more than one hour of  time for 
search, retrieval, supervision of inspection, copying, manipulation, redaction or legal 
counsel review to identify and withhold privileged records, the Custodian or the 
Custodian’s designee may charge an hourly fee not to exceed $33.58 per hour for such 
time pursuant to § 24-72-205(6)(a), C.R.S.  Prior to performing any services necessary to 
respond to a request, the Custodian or the Custodian’s designee shall require the applicant 
to pay a deposit equal to the reasonably estimated fees that will be charged by the 



2303.0026; 1110471 

Custodian for such staff time.  Before receiving any records, the applicant shall also pay 
the amount by which the cost of any open records services exceeds the deposit.  The 
Authority shall promptly refund the amount by which the deposit exceeds the cost of any 
open records services. 

b. To the extent possible, the Custodian shall utilize administrative or 
clerical staff for search and retrieval of Public Records who are ordinarily responsible for 
such duties to ensure that the fees charged for staff time in connection with the request 
represent costs incurred in the ordinary course of business and not extraordinary charges, 
but in any case, such charges shall be consistent with § 24-72-205(6), C.R.S.   

 

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank. Signature page follows. 



2303.0026; 1110471 

ADOPTED this 17th day of March, 2021. 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
 
 

By:  
 Officer of the Authority 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
    

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
                                                                     
General Counsel to the Authority 
 

Signature Page to Public Records Request Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2303.0026; 1110471 

EXHIBIT A 

OFFICIAL REQUEST FORM 

 



2303.0026: 1110471 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
 

Request for Inspection/Copy of Public Records 
 
 

Applicant Name:    
 

Applicant Address:     
City/State:                               Zip:     

 
Daytime Phone #:(       )   Alt./Cell: (       )  
 

Email:      
 

Detailed description of the records requested:  (Please use additional sheets if necessary) 
               
               
                
Select a preferred format for the materials:  Hard Copies ____  Electronic ____  View Hard Copy Only ____ 

 

I request the records described and agree to pay all charges incurred in processing this request at or 
before the time the records are made available.  If over $10, I understand I must provide a deposit to 
pay for the cost incurred to obtain the records.  I understand that the Estimated Charges are 
estimates only, and that the actual cost may vary.  This request will be considered received when 
this form is complete and received by the Custodian and any required deposit is paid.     

 
Signature:   Date:  

 
Submit Request Form To: 
Public Alliance 
355 S. Teller Street, Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 

 
If the records are available pursuant to §§ 24-72-201, et seq., C.R.S., the records shall be made available for viewing within three (3) working days. 
The date of receipt is not included in calculating the response date. If extenuating circumstances exist so that the Custodian cannot reasonably gather 
the records within the three (3)-day period, the Custodian may extend the period by up to seven (7) working days. The requestor shall be notified of 
the extension within the three (3)-day period.  Public records shall be viewed at the Authority’s offices during regular business days at prearranged 
times. 

 

 

For Internal Use Only 
Estimated Charges 

Number of Pages _______ at $0.25/page _______ Research & Retrieval ______Hours at $_____/Hr  
See § 24-72-205(6), C.R.S. for hourly fee 
Research & Retrieval Total: $ ______ Postage/Delivery Costs:  $_________________ 

Deposit Required: $______________________ Total Estimate Cost: $____________________ 
Note: Non-standard and special requests will be billed at cost and charged in addition to any other fees 

Administrative Matters 
Date Request Completed: Amount Prepaid:  $___________________ 
Approved:___________ Denied: _____________ Balance Due Before Release:  $__________ 
If Denied, Provide Reason(s): Total Amount Paid:  $_________________ 

     For Internal Use Only 
    Date of Request:  ___________ 
     Time of Request:  ____ AM/PM 
 
       

       
    

mailto:_________@$0.25/page


2303.0007; 1110473 

Resolution No. 2021-03-07 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 

 
DESIGNATING THE LOCATION OF REGULAR AND SPECIAL MEETINGS 

OUTSIDE THE AUTHORITY’S BOUNDARIES 
 

 WHEREAS, the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”) 
created by virtue of that certain Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority Establishment 
Agreement by and among Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan Authority Nos. 2-8 dated March 
10, 2021 (the “Agreement”), pursuant to § 29-1-203, C.R.S., and in conformity with § 29-1-203.5; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-903(1), C.R.S., all regular and/or special meetings of the 
Authority’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) must be held within the Authority’s boundaries, within the 
boundaries of El Paso County, or in any location not farther than twenty (20) miles from the Authority’s 
boundaries; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-903(1), C.R.S., the provisions governing the location of 
meetings may be waived if the proposed change of location of the meeting appears on the agenda of a 
regular or special meeting of the Board and a resolution is adopted by the Board stating the date, time 
and place of such meeting; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a location outside of the prescribed locations set 
forth in §32 1-903(1), C.R.S. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Board hereby RESOLVES as follows: 
 
 1. DESIGNATION OF DATES, TIMES AND LOCATIONS OF MEETINGS.  As of the 
date hereof, all regular and/or special meetings of the Board shall be held as follows: 
 

Regular Meetings: November 11, 2021, at 9:00 a.m., and as otherwise determined by the 
Board annually. 

 
Special Meetings: as deemed necessary by the Board, at dates and times to be determined. 

 
 Meeting Location:  White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 

2154 East Commons Avenue, Suite 2000 
Centennial, Colorado 80122 

 
 2. The above dates, time and location shall remain in effect until contrary action is taken by 
the Board, which action must comply with § 32-1-903(1), C.R.S., or §§ 32-1-903(1)(a) - 32-1-903(1)(b), 
C.R.S. 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 



2303.0007; 1110473 

 
ADOPTED this 17th day of March, 2021. 

 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
        

 Officer of the Authority 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
       
General Counsel to the Authority 
 
 
 

[Signature Page to Resolution Designating the Location of Regular and Special meetings Outside the 
Authority’s Boundaries]. 

 
 

 



 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Ste. 2000   |  Centennial, CO  80122 |   P 303.858.1800 F 303.858.1801  | WhiteBearAnkele.com 

 
WILLIAM P. ANKELE, JR. 
JENNIFER GRUBER TANAKA 
CLINT C. WALDRON 
KRISTIN BOWERS TOMPKINS 
ROBERT G. ROGERS 
BLAIR M. DICKHONER 
GEORGE M. ROWLEY 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
KRISTEN D. BEAR 
K. SEAN ALLEN 
 

 
ZACHARY P. WHITE 

TRISHA K. HARRIS 
HEATHER L. HARTUNG 

MEGAN J. MURPHY 
EVE M. G. VELASCO 
LAURA S. HEINRICH 

AUDREY G. JOHNSON 
LISA CANCANON 

CAREY S. SMITH V 
ERIN K. STUTZ  

 
March 17, 2021 

 
Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
c/o Public Alliance, LLC 
355 South Teller Street, Suite 200 
Lakewood, Colorado  80226  
 
 RE: Engagement of WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
 
Dear Directors: 
 
 We are pleased to confirm our engagement as general counsel to the Mayberry, Colorado 
Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”), which we have successfully organized at the request 
of the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District Nos. 2-8. (“District Nos. 2-8,” together with 
the Authority, the “Districts”). 
 

This engagement letter provides the terms upon which White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 
(“WBA”) WBA will provide legal services to the Authority and is intended to formalize our retention 
as general counsel, as required by the applicable Rules of Professional Conduct. This letter sets forth 
details of the engagement, including how we propose to staff the matter, billing arrangements and 
certain conflict of interest understandings. Additional information about WBA can be found at 
www.whitebearankele.com. 
 
 1.       Personnel.  Legal services provided under this engagement may be performed by any 
lawyer at WBA.  We will also use paralegals and/or other support staff as we believe to be necessary 
and effective in providing you with legal services. 
  

2. Fees, Expenses and Retainer.  Our fees for services rendered on the Authority’s 
behalf will be based upon time charged using the hourly rates charged by each attorney or paralegal 
working on the matter.  WBA’s legal services are billed on an hourly basis, in increments of one-
tenth of an hour, and are not contingent.  Hourly rates for professionals in WBA currently range from 
$225.00 to $495.00 (attorneys), from $135.00 to $210.00 (paralegals), and are $200.000 to $210.00 
for other professionals.  Hourly rates are revised periodically to reflect the current cost for delivery 
of legal services and the fees charged for services under this engagement may change without notice.  
From time to time WBA prepares memoranda, agreements or other documents based upon current 
legislative, State and Federal law concerns that are the subject of common interest and benefit to our 
clients.  WBA allocates the fees for this work on an equitable basis to clients who benefit from this 
legal work by WBA’s personnel.  If you do not wish to receive this information, please advise us 

http://www.whitebearankele.com/


Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
RE: Engagement of WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
March 17, 2021 
Page 2 of 5 
 

 

accordingly.  WBA contracts with other law firms for the performance of specialized services.  In the 
event that these services are rendered on behalf of the Authority, the fees and costs associated with 
those services will be reflected on WBA’s bill. 

 
In addition to legal fees, WBA also charges for certain out-of-pocket costs incurred by us in 

representing you. Charges for long distance telephone calls (domestic only), conference calling 
services (domestic only), facsimiles (domestic only), in-office copying, ordinary postage (under 
$10.00), and deliveries made by in-house staff are covered by an administrative fee, currently equal 
to 2.5% of the legal fees charged. This administrative fee is in lieu of itemizing those expenses and 
may be adjusted over time. If there are other expenses, such as filing and recording fees, computer-
assisted research fees, mileage, delivery service fees, travel, meals or hotel accommodation charges, 
those will be billed separately.  These costs are subject to the same payment terms as legal fees and 
are your responsibility.  WBA’s policy is to advance or incur expenses on a discretionary basis up to 
$1,000.00, subject to your reimbursement of them in the next bill.  If an expense will exceed that 
amount, we will ask you to pay it directly to us in advance or have you contract directly with the 
vendor. 

 
WBA will not require the payment of a retainer at this time, but we reserve the right to require 

a retainer if deemed necessary by WBA or if you fail to timely pay invoices. 
 
 3. Billing.  Generally, invoices for fees and expenses will be submitted to you monthly 
and are due upon receipt.  If an invoice remains unpaid after thirty (30) days, we will consider it in 
default and you agree that we may charge a late fee on all amounts due and owing at the rate of one 
percent (1%) compounded monthly.  By signature below, you agree to pay all fees, costs and expenses 
billed by WBA for the legal services.  If payments as described above are not paid on a timely basis, 
WBA may withdraw from the representation in accordance with the Rules of Professional Conduct.  
In the event that WBA is compelled to resort to collection of your account, which may or may not 
include litigation, you agree that your obligations to WBA shall include payment of all costs and 
expenses of such collection efforts, including court fees and costs, attorneys’ fees and out-of-pocket 
expenses. 
  

4. Attorney-Client Relationship.  In performing our services as general counsel to the 
Authority, the Authority will be our client.  We will represent the interests of the Authority, acting 
through its duly authorized management and at the Board of Directors’ (the “Board” or “Directors”) 
direction.  We do not represent the interests of any of the Board, the Directors individually, or the 
Authority’s employees.  Nothing in this engagement agreement and nothing in our statements to you 
will be construed as a guarantee or promise about the outcome of any matter which WBA may handle 
on your behalf.  Our comments about the outcome of your matters or any phase thereof are 
expressions of opinion only.  Further, neither WBA nor any of its attorneys or employees shall be 
employed, retained, or otherwise categorized as a “municipal advisor” to the Authority as such term 
is defined in the 15 U.S.C. 78o-4(e)(4)(c), as amended by the Dodd/Frank Act (the “Act”), or any 
rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Act.  Any comments or 
advice provided by WBA or its attorneys regarding the issuance of securities by the Authority shall 
be solely of a “traditional legal nature”, as permitted under the Act.  Throughout the attorney-client 



Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
RE: Engagement of WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
March 17, 2021 
Page 3 of 5 
 

 

relationship, the Authority consents to the use of the Authority’s name and public information relating 
to the Authority’s transactions on WBA’s website or in other marketing materials. 

 
5. Conflicts of Interest.  We have performed an internal review for potential conflicts 

of interest based upon information you have provided to us.   In doing so, we find it important to note 
that we currently represent the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 1 (“District 
No. 1”) as well as District Nos. 2-8.  The Districts, together with District No. 1, were organized to 
work together to provide the public improvements and services needed for the community.  There 
may be issues on which the Districts and District No. 1 have conflicting interests relative to 
administration, financing, construction or general operations.  Also, due to the fact that special 
districts are governed by an elected board of directors, which instructs us regarding the policies it 
wishes to implement or pursue, policies of a district may change from board to board and conflicts 
of interest among the Districts and District No. 1 can arise accordingly.  If a conflict arises, WBA 
may be required to withdraw from representation of the Districts and District No. 1 involved in the 
disputed issue, and those Districts and District No. 1 may need to retain independent counsel 
regarding the disputed issue.  

 
 WBA represents many other local governments and municipal clients that may be viewed as 
competing with the Authority.  Simultaneous representation in unrelated matters of clients whose 
interests are only economically adverse, such as representation of competing economic enterprises in 
unrelated transactions, does not ordinarily constitute a conflict of interest that requires consent of the 
respective clients. 

 
 6. Document Retention.  WBA maintains its client files electronically and ordinarily 
does not keep separate paper files.  We will scan documents you or others send to us related to your 
work to our electronic file and will ordinarily maintain the electronic version throughout the term of 
our engagement or, in some instances, while a particular matter or project is pending.  Unless you 
instruct us otherwise, with limited exceptions for certain documents such as original real property 
deeds and promissory notes, once such documents have been scanned to our electronic file, we will 
destroy all paper documents provided to us.  Following the conclusion of our services, we will return 
the Authority’s files to the Authority upon request, unless WBA has not received payment of all 
outstanding fees and costs, in which case WBA reserves the right to withhold them until payment is 
made.  Otherwise, no sooner than thirty (30) days after the conclusion of our services, we may destroy 
the files.  Please note that if WBA is designated as the public records custodian for the Authority 
pursuant to §§24-72-202, et seq., C.R.S., WBA will maintain all public records in accordance with 
any duly approved and adopted retention and destruction policy of the Authority and the Colorado 
State Archives or similar regulatory body. 
 
 7. Termination.  You will have the right to terminate our representation at any time.  
Whether you terminate the representation or we terminate the representation for reasons set forth in 
the Rules of Professional Conduct, including nonpayment of legal fees and expenses, all fees incurred 
for services rendered through the date of termination, as well as all costs and expenses incurred by 
us on your behalf, must be paid within ten days of receipt of our final statement.  We reserve the right 
to charge for any extraordinary work required in connection with the orderly transition of pending 
matters to new counsel.  Upon conclusion of our services, whether due to termination or completion 



Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
RE: Engagement of WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
March 17, 2021 
Page 4 of 5 
 

 

of the work, we will not thereafter be responsible for legal matters for which our services have not 
been specifically requested and we have agreed to perform in writing. 
 
 8. Arbitration of Disputes.  If a dispute arises regarding our services or fees set forth in 
this engagement letter or any prior engagement letter between you and WBA, any fee dispute will be 
decided by the Colorado Bar Association Legal Fee Arbitration Committee (the “Committee”) in 
Denver, Colorado in accordance with the rules and procedures used by the Committee.  There is no 
charge for the dispute resolution services provided by the Committee and each party will pay its own 
costs and expenses.  If, either in addition to a pending fee dispute or in the absence of one, any other 
dispute or claim of any type or nature arises with respect to services rendered pursuant to this 
engagement agreement set forth in this engagement letter or any prior engagement letter between you 
and WBA, including, without limitation, a claim for legal malpractice, it will be decided by the 
Judicial Arbiter Group (“JAG”) in Denver, Colorado by a single arbitrator to be mutually agreed to 
by the parties.  Each party will be responsible for paying one half of all fees and expenses charged 
by the arbitrator.  Colorado law, including all applicable statutes of limitation and other defenses, 
will apply to the dispute before JAG just as if it had been brought in a judicial proceeding.  In the 
absence of an agreement to the contrary, the Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure shall apply to the 
dispute before JAG just as if the dispute had been filed in district court.  The parties recognize that 
by agreeing to arbitration as the method for dispute resolution, they: relinquish the right to bring an 
action in court and seek remedies available in court proceedings, including the extensive discovery 
rights typically permitted in judicial proceedings;  waive the right to a jury trial  acknowledge the 
arbitrator’s award is not required to include factual findings or legal reasoning; and acknowledge that 
any party’s right to appeal or seek modification of the award is strictly limited and the award is final 
and binding on the parties. 
 
 9. Employment Eligibility.  WBA hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or 
contract with an illegal alien, and that WBA has participated in or has attempted to participate in the 
E-Verify program pursuant to §§8-17.5-101, et seq., C.R.S., in order to verify that it does not employ 
any illegal aliens. 
 
 10. Representative Client Lists.  WBA currently maintains a website, firm résumé, and 
other materials for use with current and potential clients and for marketing purposes.  Execution of 
this engagement letter provides your consent to WBA’s use of the Authority’s name as a 
representative client of WBA on our website, firm résumé, and other materials.  
 
 If you are in agreement with the foregoing terms of this engagement and it meets your 
understanding of the professional relationship we have established, please have an authorized 
representative of the Authority sign and return a copy of this letter to our office at your earliest 
convenience.  By signing below, you acknowledge that you have been given the opportunity to 
discuss this engagement letter with another attorney or any other person of your choosing. 
 
 We look forward to working with you and will commit the necessary resources of WBA to 
meet your needs.  Our efforts will always be to ensure that our relationship is based on open and 
honest communication regarding these matters.  If at any time you have questions concerning our 
representation, please feel free to contact us immediately.       



Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
RE: Engagement of WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
March 17, 2021 
Page 5 of 5 
 

 

Sincerely, 
 
      WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
      Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 
 
 
JGT:kas 
 
APPROVED, ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO BY:  
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
 
 
        
Signature 
 
Printed Name:       
Position:       
Date:         
 
 

 



WILLIAM P. ANKELE, JR. 
JENNIFER GRUBER TANAKA 
CLINT C. WALDRON 
KRISTIN BOWERS TOMPKINS 
ROBERT G. ROGERS 
BLAIR M. DICKHONER 
GEORGE M. ROWLEY 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
KRISTEN D. BEAR 
K. SEAN ALLEN 

 

ZACHARY P. WHITE 
TRISHA K. HARRIS 

HEATHER L. HARTUNG 
MEGAN J. MURPHY 

EVE M. G. VELASCO 
LAURA S. HEINRICH 

AUDREY G. JOHNSON 
LISA CANCANON 

CAREY S. SMITH V 
ERIN K. STUTZ 

 
 

March 17, 2021  
 

 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
c/o AJ Beckman 
Public Alliance, LLC 
355 South Teller Street 
Lakewood, Colorado 80226 
 

Re: Special Disclosure of Costs for Legal Services in Connection with Bonds 
 
Dear Board of Directors: 
 
 White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron (“WBA”) currently serves as general counsel to 
the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Authority”) pursuant to an 
engagement letter dated March 17, 2021 that defines the scope of WBA’s engagement for general 
counsel legal services (the “Engagement”).  The Engagement states that fees for our services are 
paid monthly based on hours of service provided and other factors set forth in the Engagement.  
The purpose of this letter is to confirm the terms of a special fee arrangement regarding WBA’s 
work in connection with the expected issuance by the Authority of its Special Revenue Bonds 
Series 2021A in the estimated principal aggregate amount of up to $7,890,000 (the “Series 2021A 
Bonds”), the Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds Series 2021B in the estimated principal 
aggregate amount of up to $1,887,000 (the “Series 2021B Bonds”) and the Junior Subordinate 
Special Revenue Bonds Series 2021C in the estimated principal aggregate amount of up to 
$1,205,000 (the “Series 2021C Bonds” together with the Series 2021A Bonds and Series 2021B 
Bonds, are referred to collectively as the “Bonds” and/or the “Transaction”).  This letter is also 
intended to describe the roles of WBA and various other professionals expected to be involved in 
the Transaction.   Due to the nature of this type of Transaction, fees for all professionals are usually 
paid at closing; however, our Engagement provides for monthly billing and payment, followed, 
typically, by reimbursement to the District for our fees from closing proceeds.  This letter discloses 
a special billing arrangement for our fees to provide a measure of certainty to the Authority 
regarding the costs of the Transaction.  Other than as specifically noted herein, this letter is not 
intended to alter any of the provisions of the Engagement. 
  
 The effort to close the Transaction may involve the work of several professionals outside 
the Firm including, but not limited to: (i) an investment banker (the “Underwriter”) who will be 
engaged by the Authority to structure and then market the Transaction (ii) a bond lawyer who will 
be engaged by the Authority to assist with structuring the Transaction and issue various opinions 
necessary to close the Transaction, including a tax exempt opinion (“Bond Counsel”); (iii) 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
March 17, 2021 
Page 2 
 
disclosure counsel who will be engaged by the Authority to prepare the necessary documents to 
describe the Transaction and disclose the potential risks thereof to purchasers (“Disclosure 
Counsel”); and (iv) an independent municipal advisor to provide advice with respect to the 
Transaction, specifically including advice regarding structure, timing, financial terms, and other 
similar matters (“Municipal Advisor”).  These professional firms are generally referred to herein 
as the “Professionals”.  Our role as general counsel will be to participate with the Professionals in 
documenting the Transaction as to which we will render a general counsel opinion to various 
parties regarding the status of the Authority and other matters surrounding the Transaction.  Please 
note that we do not practice municipal securities law or municipal tax law.  Accordingly, we will 
not be drafting or opining on the validity or enforceability of any capital pledge or similar 
agreements between and among the Authority and Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan 
District Nos. 2 and 3 in connection with the Transaction, we also will not be negotiating the terms 
of any such agreement on behalf of any of the parties.  
 
 All of the Professionals will be paid out of proceeds of the Transaction on terms set forth 
in their individual engagements, which means they are paid by the Authority.  Their duties to the 
Authority will be set forth in their individual engagement agreements and will run directly to the 
Authority and not to WBA.  The Underwriter may choose to engage its own counsel whose duties 
will run to the Underwriter only, but whose fees are generally paid by the Authority as a cost of 
the Transaction at closing.  
 
 In connection with these Professional engagements, it is important to understand that 
WBA’s role in the Transaction is limited to matters specifically set forth in our legal opinion, the 
anticipated form of which is attached hereto (the “Opinion”).  If the risk or structure of the 
Transaction changes materially from what we anticipate at this time, resulting in changes to our 
Opinion which may increase the scope of our services or risk, we will advise the Authority and it 
may be necessary for us to increase our fees (as set forth below) for these services. 
 
 It is also important for the Authority to understand, and agree, that WBA is not engaged to 
oversee the efforts, work product, advice or opinions of the other Professionals.  We will perform 
the work necessary to render our Opinion and will be sufficiently involved in the Transaction to 
keep the Board of Directors apprised of the status of the efforts of the other Professionals.  We 
read their work to assure our familiarity with their documents but we do not review their work for 
completeness or accuracy. They are engaged because their services fall outside the scope of our 
expertise.  Accordingly, by proceeding with the Transaction, the Authority acknowledges that it 
will rely solely on such Professionals as to the advice they render to the Authority and the content 
of their written materials, and the Authority further acknowledges that WBA is not the guarantor 
of their work.  Should the Authority have any questions or concerns regarding the work of other 
Professionals, those questions should be directed to us so we can make sure they are addressed by 
the correct party.   
 
 As compensation for WBA’s services as general counsel in connection with the approval, 
issuance and closing of the Transaction, the Authority shall pay the Firm a fee of $100,000 for the 
Transaction from closing proceeds to compensate us for our time and expertise in connection with 
attempting to achieve a closing of the Transaction and for risks we incur in connection with the 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
March 17, 2021 
Page 3 
 
issuance of our Opinion.  Accordingly, we will NOT include time and materials billings to the 
Authority as part of our routine monthly general counsel invoices; rather, a “Bond Transaction 
Legal Services Invoice” will be provided to the Authority at or near the closing of the Transaction 
and shall be due at the time of closing.  In addition to these fees, there shall be due and payable 
upon closing of the Transaction the out of pocket expenses, including travel, telephone and telefax, 
staff overtime and copying expenses, and all other items and expenses incurred or paid by the Firm 
on behalf of the Authority  in connection with the Transaction.   Please note that if the Authority 
directs that work on the Transaction cease prior to closing, or in the event the Transaction does not 
close for any reason within 90 days of the date of this letter, we may opt to provide a standard 
invoice to you for actual time and expenses incurred, which will be due in accordance with our 
standard Engagement, in lieu of the Bond Transaction Legal Services Invoice referenced above.   
  
 We appreciate the opportunity to continue to provide legal services to the Authority.  
Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please do not hesitate to call us. 
 

Sincerely, 
    WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
    Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority Acknowledgment 
 
 
By:         
Signature 
 
Printed Name:       
Position:       
Date:         
 
 
 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
March 17, 2021 
Page 4 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 Acknowledgment 
 
 
By:         
Signature 
 
Printed Name:       
Position:       
Date:         
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 3 Acknowledgment 
 
 
By:         
Signature 
 
Printed Name:       
Position:       
Date:         
 
 
Enclosure: 
  



Form of General Counsel Opinion 



 

 
_____________, 2021 

 
 

 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority  

Addressee (1) 

c/o Public Alliance, LLC Address 
355 S. Teller Street Address 
Lakewood, Colorado 80226  Address 
  
   

 
 

$____ 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  

(EL PASO COUNTY, COLORADO) 
SPECIAL REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021A (the “Senior 2021 Series A Bonds”) 

and 
SUBORDINANTE SPECIAL REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021B  

(the “Subordinate Series 2021 B Bonds”) 
and  

JUNIOR SUBORDINATE SPECIAL REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021C  
(the “Junior Subordinate Series 2021 C Bonds” and, collectively, with the Senior 

2021 Series A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2021B Bonds, the “Bonds”) 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as general counsel to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority, El Paso County, Colorado (the “Authority”) in connection with the issuance by the 
Authority of the Bonds.  We are not counsel for individual directors of the Authority.   The 
opinions stated herein are given in our limited capacity as legal counsel to the Authority for 
general matters.  Further, neither our firm nor any of its attorneys or employees have been 
employed, contracted, or otherwise retained as a “municipal advisor” to the Authority as such 
term is defined in 15 U.S.C. 78o-4(e)(4), as amended by the Dodd/Frank Act (the “Act”), or any 
rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Act.  Any comments or 
advice provided by our firm regarding the issuance of securities by the Authority have been 
solely of a “traditional legal nature”, as recognized under the Act. 

As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied specifically upon the 
certified proceedings of the Authority relating to the authorization, issuance and delivery of the 
Bonds and certifications or other representations of public officials and other persons furnished 
to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.  Whenever our 
opinion with respect to the existence or absence of facts is indicated to be based on our 
knowledge, it shall mean that, during the course of our representation as described above, no 
information has come to our attention which has given us actual knowledge contrary to the 
existence or absence of such facts.  We have not undertaken any independent investigation to 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B 
Junior Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021C 
____________, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

2303.1301; 1108274 

determine the existence or absence of such facts, nor have we undertaken any such investigation 
with respect to facts certified by anyone, and no inference as to our knowledge of the existence 
or absence of such facts may be drawn from our representation of the Authority. 

In connection herewith, we have assumed, without independent verification or 
investigation as to the same:  (a) the genuineness and authenticity of all documents submitted to 
us as originals; (b) the conformity of the originals to all photocopies provided to us in connection 
with rendering this opinion; (c) that the signatures of persons signing all documents in 
connection with which this opinion is rendered are genuine and are authorized by the entity on 
whose behalf such persons have signed; provided, however, that no such assumptions as to 
genuineness and authorization are made as to signatures on behalf of the Authority; (d) that all 
parties to the documents reviewed by us have full power and authority and have obtained all 
consents and/or approvals necessary to execute, deliver and perform thereunder, provided 
however that no such assumptions are made as to the Authority regarding necessary consents 
and/or approvals in connection with execution, delivery, and performance of the Financing 
Documents, as defined below; and (e) that all such documents have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate officers, have been duly executed by such parties, and have been duly 
delivered by such parties; provided, however, that no such assumptions are made as to the 
Authority’s, execution and delivery of any Financing Documents. 

The Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors 
of the Authority (the “Board”) at a special meeting held on March 29, 2021 (the “Authorizing 
Resolution”).  Capitalized words and phrases not otherwise defined herein shall have the 
meanings assigned in the Authorizing Resolution. 

As general counsel to the Authority, we have reviewed the following documents: 

A. An executed copy of the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021 (the “Establishment Agreement”);  

B. Those portions of the [Disclosure Document Name] dated _______, 2021 (the 
“Disclosure Document”) titled: [“THE AUTHORITY—INTRODUCTION”, “THE 
AUTHORITY” and “LEGAL MATTERS”]; 

C. An executed copy of the Authorizing Resolution;  

D. The Indenture of Trust (Senior), Indenture of Trust (Subordinate) and Indenture of 
Trust (Junior) between the Authority and UMB Bank, n.a, as trustee, dated as of 
_______________, 2021; 

E. The Bond Purchase Agreement between the Authority and 
___________________, dated as of _______________, 2021; and 

F. The Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated as of ____, 2021. 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B 
Junior Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021C 
____________, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

2303.1301; 1108274 

The documents described in paragraphs [C if there is an offering document; or B if there 
is not an offering document] through [__), above, are hereafter referred to as the “Financing 
Documents.”  

Based on the foregoing, and except as otherwise qualified and limited herein and 
expressly qualified by paragraphs 10 [11] through 13 [14], inclusive, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Authority is a duly organized and existing political subdivision and public 
corporation of the State of Colorado. 

2. The Authority is not required by law to amend the Establishment Agreement to 
effectuate the execution and performance of its obligations under the Financing Documents. 

3. To the best of our knowledge, based upon the oral representations and 
affirmations provided to us by individuals serving on the Board, and without any other 
independent investigation or inquiry by us, for the period from the date of adoption and approval 
of the Authorizing Resolution to and including the date hereof, such individuals are qualified to 
serve as directors and officers of the Authority. 

4. The Financing Documents have been duly authorized, executed, and delivered on 
behalf of the Authority. 

5. To the best of our actual knowledge, [and except as otherwise set forth in the 
Disclosure Document,] there is no action, suit, or proceeding pending in which the Authority is a 
party, nor is there any inquiry or investigation pending against the Authority by any 
governmental agency, public agency, or authority which, if determined adversely to the 
Authority, would have a material adverse effect upon the Authority’s ability to comply with its 
obligations under the Financing Documents.  

6. To the best of our knowledge and with reasonable inquiry, the issuance, 
execution, and delivery of the Bonds by the Authority, and the execution and delivery of the 
Financing Documents and the performance by the Authority of its obligations with respect 
thereto, will not result in a violation of any applicable judgment, order or decree of any authority 
of the State of Colorado, and will not result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any 
agreement or instrument to which the Authority is a party or by which the Authority is bound.   

7. To the best of our knowledge and with reasonable inquiry, no additional or further 
approval, consent, or authorization of any governmental, public agency, or authority not already 
obtained is required by the Authority in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, or entering 
into and performing its obligations under the Financing Documents. 

8. We assisted the Authority in the review of portions of the Disclosure Document.  
We have not been engaged as disclosure counsel by the Authority in connection with preparation 
of the Disclosure Document nor by any other participant involved with the issuance of the 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B 
Junior Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021C 
____________, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 

2303.1301; 1108274 

Bonds, and have not undertaken to provide counsel in regard to the contents of the Disclosure 
Document and/or the disclosure or nondisclosure of matters addressed therein except as set forth 
in the sections of the Disclosure Document entitled:  “THE AUTHORITY--INTRODUCTION’, 
“THE AUTHORITY”, and “LEGAL MATTERS” (together, the “Covered Sections”).  We have 
generally reviewed the Covered Sections and participated in meetings and discussions with 
representatives of the Authority, Bond Counsel and the Underwriter but have not reviewed 
sections of the Disclosure Document other than the Covered Sections.  In the course of these 
activities, and without further independent investigation, we are not aware that the Covered 
Sections of the Disclosure Document (except for the financial statements, projections and other 
financial and statistical information included in the Covered Sections, as to which we express no 
opinion) contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required 
to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading 

This letter contains opinions of our firm which are, in their entirety, subject to and 
qualified generally as set forth therein, and are expressly qualified by the following paragraphs 
10 [11] through 13 [14]: 

10. [11]. The obligations of the Authority with respect to the Bonds, Financing 
Documents, and other documents and agreements referred to or contained therein or herein may 
all be affected in the future by: 

(a) Provisions of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, 
fraudulent conveyance, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of 
creditor’s rights generally; 

(b) Compliance or non-compliance by the directors of the Authority with laws 
contained in § 18-8-308, C.R.S., and under §§24-18-101, et seq., C.R.S., regarding disclosure of 
potential conflicts of interest; provided, however, that we have advised the directors of the 
requirements of such laws and we are aware that each of the directors of the Authority have filed 
potential conflict of interest disclosure forms, if applicable, in connection with the transactions 
and agreements contemplated herein; 

(c) Rights to indemnification and contribution which may be limited by 
applicable law and equitable principles; 

(d) The unenforceability under certain circumstances of provisions imposing 
penalties, forfeiture, late payment charges or an increase in interest rate upon delinquency in 
payment or the occurrence of an event of default; 

(e) General principles of equity now or hereafter in effect, including, without 
limitation, concepts of mutuality, reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing, and the possible 
unavailability of specific performance or injunctive relief, regardless of whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law; 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B 
Junior Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021C 
____________, 2021 
Page 5 
 
 

2303.1301; 1108274 

(f)  The exercise by the United States of America of the powers delegated to 
it by the federal constitution; 

(g) The reasonable and necessary exercise in certain exceptional situations of 
the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State and its governmental bodies in the 
interest of serving an important public purpose; and 

(h) The exercise of judicial discretion and interpretation. 

11.  [12]. We do not practice law in the areas of federal or state income taxation.  
Accordingly, we express no opinion as to the federal or state tax consequences associated with 
the issuance of the Bonds or with regard to execution and delivery of any of the Financing 
Documents. 

12. [13]. The opinions expressed herein are based solely upon Colorado and 
applicable federal law as of the date hereof.  In providing this opinion, we expressly rely on §1-
1-105.5, C.R.S. and §32-1-808, C.R.S.   

13. [14]. We express no opinion as to:  (a) the financial ability of the Authority to 
perform its obligations under the Financing Documents; (b) the validity or enforceability of the 
Bonds or the Financing Documents; (c) the accuracy of any TABOR allocation made in 
connection with the issuance; or (d) the financial condition of the Authority or the sufficiency of 
the security provided for payment of the debt service on the Bonds. 

Our only client in the transaction to which this opinion relates is the Authority.  None of 
the other addressees to this letter have been or are currently clients of our firm.  The inclusion of 
the additional addressees to this opinion shall not establish an attorney-client relationship 
between such addressee and our firm. 

This letter and the opinions expressed herein are limited to the use of the addressees as 
set forth above, and may not be relied upon by other parties, and may be relied upon only as 
stated herein.  The opinions set forth herein supersede any and all previous understandings, 
representations, statements, opinions, etc., provided by our firm, whether oral or written, and 
whether such previous understandings, representations, statements, or opinions were made to the 
addressees herein, or otherwise, in relation to the Bonds.  We express no opinion as to matters 
not specifically set forth herein and no opinion may be inferred or implied beyond the matters 
expressly stated in this letter, subject to all assumptions, limitations, exceptions and 
qualifications contained herein.  Further, the opinions expressed herein are based only on the 
laws in effect and the facts in existence as of the date hereof and in all respects are subject to and 
may be limited by future legislation, developing case law, and any change in facts occurring after 
the date of this letter.  We expressly undertake no responsibility or duty to inform any party, 
whether addressees hereof or not, as to any change in fact, circumstance or law occurring after 
the date hereof which may affect or alter any of the opinions, statements or information set forth 
above.  This letter and the opinions expressed herein may not be quoted, reproduced, circulated 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B 
Junior Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds, Series 2021C 
____________, 2021 
Page 6 
 
 

2303.1301; 1108274 

or referred to in whole or in part without our express written consent except in the transcript of 
proceedings prepared in connection with issuance of the Bonds.   

Sincerely, 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
March 15, 2021 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs 

Community Authority 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 
Carrie Bartow, CPA 
Carrie.Bartow@CLAconnect.com 
direct 719‐284‐7239 

CLAconnect.com 
 

WEALTH ADVISORY 

OUTSOURCING 

AUDIT, TAX, AND 
CONSULTING 



CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
8390 E. Crescent Parkway, Suite 300 
Greenwood Village, CO 80111 

303-779-5710 | fax 303-779-0348 

CLAconnect.com 

 

 

March 15, 2021 

Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
 
Dear Directots: 

We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature 
and limitations of the services CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) will provide for Mayberry, 
Colorado Springs Community Authority (“you,” “your,” or “the authority”) for the year ending 2021. The terms 
of our engagement will apply to the initial and all subsequent periods, unless the agreement is changed in a 
communication that you and CLA both sign or terminated as permitted herein. 

Carrie Bartow is responsible for the performance of the compilation and preparation engagements and other 
services identified in this agreement. She may be assisted by one or more of our authorized signers in the 
performance of the engagement. 

Scope of professional services 

CLA will generally perform the following services for your authority: 

Ongoing normal accounting services: 

• Outsourced accounting functions  

 For each fund of the authority, CLA will generally prepare and maintain the following accounting 
records: 

o Cash receipts journal 

o Cash disbursements journal 

o General ledger 

o Accounts receivable journals and ledgers 

o Deposits with banks and financial institutions 

o Schedule of disbursements 

o Bank account reconciliations 

o Investment records 

 Process accounts payable including the preparation and issuance of checks. 

 Prepare billings, record billings, enter cash receipts, and track revenues. 

 Reconcile certain accounts regularly and prepare journal entries. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 2 

  

 As requested, we will either (1) prepare monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements and 
supplementary information and perform a compilation engagement with respect to those financial 
statements, or (2) prepare monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements and supplementary 
information, but not perform a compilation with respect to those financial statements.  

o We expect that you will request CLA to (1) perform a compilation of the authority’s 
quarterly financial statements for filing with third parties on behalf of lenders as may be 
required by the authority’s financing agreements, and/or (2) prepare financial statements, 
that will not be subject to a compilation, for use by the authority’s board of directors. 

o We expect that if the financial statements are intended for use by someone who is not 
knowledgeable about the authority’s financial affairs, you will request that they be subject 
to a compilation engagement. 

o We will request the board of directors to document acceptance of the requested services 
performed or not performed in the minutes or in an administrative resolution at least 
annually. 

o Additional information is provided below. 

 Prepare a schedule of cash position to manage the authority’s cash deposits, funding for 
disbursements, and investment programs in accordance with policies established by the authority’s 
board of directors. 

 Prepare the annual budget, perform a preparation engagement with respect to the annual budget, 
and assist with the filing of the annual budget – additional information is provided below. 

 Assist the authority’s board of directors in monitoring actual expenditures against 
appropriation/budget. 

 If an audit is required, prepare the year‐end financial statements (additional information is provided 
below) and related audit schedules for use by the authority’s auditors. 

 If an audit is not required, prepare the Application for Exemption from Audit, perform a compilation 
engagement with respect to the Application for Exemption from Audit, and assist with the filing of 
the Application for Exemption from Audit – additional information is provided below. 

 Review claims for reimbursement from related parties prior to the board of directors’ review and 
approval. 

 Prepare reporting requirements as may be required from funding sources. 

 Attend board meetings as requested. 

 Be available during the year to consult with you on any accounting matters related to the authority. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 3 

  

 Review and approve monthly reconciliations and journal entries prepared by staff. 

 Reconcile complex accounts monthly and prepare journal entries. 

 Analyze financial statements and present to management and the board of directors. 

 Develop and track key business metrics as requested and review periodically with the board of 
directors. 

 Document accounting processes and procedures. 

 Continue process and procedure improvement implementation. 

 Report and manage cash flows. 

 Assist with bank communications. 

 Perform other nonattest services.  

• Cash access services 

 Prepare checks and wire transfers to be drawn upon your bank account(s). 

 Obtain administrator access to your bank accounts for purposes of performing the duties 
documented in our engagement letter. 

 Take deposits to the bank, which may include cash. 

  



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 4 

  

Compilation services 

As requested, we will prepare the monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements of the Authority, which 
comprise the balance sheet – governmental funds and the related statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balance – general fund, and perform a compilation engagement with respect to those financial 
statements. The financial statements will not include the related notes to the financial statements; the 
government‐wide financial statements; the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances 
– governmental funds; and required supplementary information.  

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) provides for certain required supplementary information 
(RSI) to accompany the authority’s basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the GASB who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting and 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. The 
supplementary information other than RSI accompanying the compiled financial statements is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Supplementary 
information other than RSI will be subject to the compilation engagement. Other information will not be subject 
to the compilation engagement. Management has requested that the required supplementary information not 
be presented. 

If an audit is not required, we will prepare the Application for Exemption from Audit in the form prescribed by 
the Colorado Office of the State Auditor, and perform a compilation engagement with respect to the Application 
for Exemption from Audit. 

Preparation services – monthly/quarterly 

As requested, we will prepare the monthly/quarterly financial statements of the Authority, which comprise the 
balance sheet – governmental funds and the related statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balance – general fund. The financial statements will not include the related notes to the financial statements; 
the government‐wide financial statements; the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances – governmental funds; and required supplementary information.  

We will prepare the annual budget (for the subsequent year) of revenues, expenditures, and fund balances, 
including the estimate of comparative information (for the current year) and the actual comparative information 
(for the prior year), in the format prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105, and perform a 
preparation engagement with respect to the annual budget. 

References to financial statements in the remainder of this engagement letter are taken as a reference to also 
include the budget/prospective financial information where available. 

The budget presents, to the best of the Board of Directors knowledge and belief, the Authority’s expected 
financial position and results of operations for the budget period. It is based upon the Board of Directors 
assumptions reflecting conditions it expects to exist and courses of actions it expects to take during the budget 
period. 

 

  



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 5 

  

Preparation services ‐ annual 

If an audit is required, we will prepare the year‐end financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business‐type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information if applicable, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of 
the Authority, and the related notes to the financial statements. The year‐end financial statements, including 
the related notes to the financial statements, will be prepared for use by the authority’s auditors. 

Engagement objectives and our responsibilities 

The objectives of our engagement are to: 

a. Prepare monthly/quarterly financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), except for the departures from U.S. GAAP 
identified above, based on information provided by you and information generated through our 
outsourced accounting services. 

b. As requested, apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of 
monthly/quarterly financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that 
there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order for them 
to be in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except for the departures from U.S. GAAP identified above. 

c. Prepare the annual budget in accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised 
Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105 based on information provided by you. 

d. Apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of the annual 
budget without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material 
modifications that should be made to the annual budget in order for the annual budget to be in 
accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105. 

e. If an audit is not required, prepare the Application for Exemption from Audit in accordance with the 
requirements prescribed by Colorado Office of the State Auditor based on information provided by you. 

f. Apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of the Application 
for Exemption from Audit without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no 
material modifications that should be made to the Application for Exemption from Audit in order for 
the Application for Exemption from Audit to be in accordance with the requirements of the Colorado 
Office of the State Auditor. 

g. If an audit is required, prepare the year‐end financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) based on information 
provided by you. 

We will conduct our compilation and preparation engagements in accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and comply with the AICPA's Code of Professional 
Conduct, including the ethical principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence, and due care. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 6 

  

Engagement procedures and limitations 

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided to us for 
the engagement or otherwise gather evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. 
Accordingly, we will not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the financial statements, 
the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit (if an audit is not required), the year‐end financial 
statements (if an audit is required), and the supplementary information. 

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any misstatements in the monthly/quarterly 
financial statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit, and the year‐end financial 
statements, including misstatements caused by fraud or error, or to identify or disclose any wrongdoing within 
the authority or noncompliance with laws and regulations. We have no responsibility to identify and 
communicate deficiencies in internal control as part of this engagement. You agree that we shall not be 
responsible for any misstatements in the authority’s financial statements, the annual budget, the Application for 
Exemption from Audit, and the year‐end financial statements that we may not identify as a result of 
misrepresentations made to us. 

Our report 

As part of our monthly/quarterly compilation engagements, we will issue a compilation report that will state 
that we did not audit or review the financial statements and that, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a 
conclusion, nor provide any assurance on them. We will disclose that we are not independent in our report. 

The compilation report on the monthly/quarterly financial statements will indicate that management has 
elected to omit substantially all the disclosures; the government‐wide financial statements required by U.S. 
GAAP; and the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – governmental funds; and 
that if the omitted disclosures, the government‐wide financial statements, and the statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances – governmental funds were included in the financial statements, 
they might influence the user’s conclusions about the authority’s financial position, changes in financial position, 
and that the financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such matters. 

The compilation report on the monthly/quarterly financial statements will indicate that management has 
omitted the required supplementary information and that such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the GASB, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 

The compilation report on the monthly/quarterly financial statements will state that the accompanying annual 
budget information presented in comparison with the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balance (general service fund and debt service fund) has not been compiled or examined by us, and accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on it.  

The compilation report on the monthly/quarterly financial statements will also state that the accompanying 
historical supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part 
of the basic financial statements; the information is the responsibility of management; the historical 
supplementary information was subject to our compilation engagement; we have not audited or reviewed the 
historical supplementary information and do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of 
assurance on the historical supplementary information. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 7 

  

The compilation report on the year‐end financial statements will also state that the supplementary budget 
information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements; the information is the responsibility of management; the supplementary budget information was 
subject to our compilation engagement; we have not audited or reviewed the supplementary budget 
information and do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on the 
supplementary budget information. 

The compilation report on the annual budget will state that management is responsible for the accompanying 
budget (for the subsequent year) of revenues, expenditures, and fund balances, including the estimate of 
comparative information (for the current year) and the actual comparative information (for the prior year) in the 
format prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105, that we performed a compilation of the annual 
budget, that we did not audit or review the annual budget, and that, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, 
a conclusion, not provide any form of assurance on it. The report will also state that the budget is presented in 
accordance with the requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105, and is not intended to be a 
presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Additionally, our report will disclose that budgeted results may not be achieved as there will usually be 
differences between the budgeted and actual results, because events and circumstances frequently do not 
occur as expected and these differences may be material. We assume no responsibility to update our report for 
events and circumstances occurring after the date of our report. 

The compilation report on the Application for Exemption from Audit will state that management is responsible 
for the accompanying application included in the prescribed form, that we performed a compilation of the 
application, that we did not audit or review the application, and that, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, 
a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on it. The report will also state that the Application for 
Exemption from Audit is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Colorado Office of the State 
Auditor, and is not intended to be a presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. The report will include a statement that the report is intended solely for the 
information and use of the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and is not intended to be and should not be 
used by anyone other than this specified party. 

There may be circumstances in which the report may differ from its expected form and content. If, for any 
reason, we are unable to complete the compilations of your financial statements, the annual budget, the 
Application for Exemption from Audit (if an audit is not required), or the year‐end financial statements (if an 
audit is required), we will not issue reports on such statements, the annual budget, the Application for 
Exemption from Audit (if an audit is not required), or the year‐end financial statements (if an audit is required), 
as a result of this engagement. 

No assurance statement 

The monthly/quarterly financial statements prepared for the authority that are not subject to a compilation 
engagement will not be accompanied by a report. However, management agrees that each page of the financial 
statements will include a statement clearly indicating that no assurance is provided on them. 

  



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 8 

  

As part of our preparation of financial statements that are not subject to a compilation engagement, each page 
of the financial statements and supplementary information will include the following statement: “No assurance 
is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government‐wide financial 
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances ‐ governmental funds 
have been omitted”. 

If an audit is required, the year‐end financial statements prepared for use by the authority’s auditors will not be 
accompanied by a report. However, management agrees that each page of the year‐end financial statements 
will include a statement clearly indicating that no assurance is provided on them. 

Management responsibilities 

The financial statement engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management 
acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP 
and assist management in the presentation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except for 
the departures from U.S. GAAP identified above.  

The annual budget engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management acknowledges and 
understands that our role is to prepare the annual budget in accordance with the requirements prescribed by 
Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105 and assist management in the presentation of the annual budget in 
accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105. 

The Application for Exemption from Audit engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that 
management acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare the Application for Exemption from 
Audit in accordance with the requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and assist 
management in the presentation of the Application for Exemption from Audit in accordance with the 
requirements prescribed by Colorado Office of the State Auditor. 

We are required by professional standards to identify management’s responsibilities in this agreement. 
Professional standards define management as the persons with executive responsibility for the conduct of the 
authority’s operations, and may include some or all of those charged with governance. Those standards require 
that you acknowledge and understand that management has the following overall responsibilities that are 
fundamental to our undertaking the engagement in accordance with SSARSs: 

a. The selection of the financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial 
statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit.  

b. The preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except 
as identified above, the preparation and fair presentation of the annual budget in accordance with the 
requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29‐1‐105, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) in accordance with the 
requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor. 

c. The presentation of the supplementary information. 

d. The presentation of the required supplementary information. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 9 

  

e. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit 
(if applicable) that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

f. The prevention and detection of fraud. 

g. To ensure that the authority complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its activities. 

h. The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, explanations, and other information, 
including significant judgments, you provide to us for the engagement. 

i. To provide us with the following: 

i. Access to all information relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) such as 
records, documentation, and other matters. 

ii. Additional information that may be requested for the purpose of the engagement. 

iii. Unrestricted access to persons within the authority with whom we determine it necessary to 
communicate. 

We understand that you are engaging us to make recommendations and perform services to help you meet your 
responsibilities relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, the annual budget, 
and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable). 

For all accounting services we may provide to you, including the preparation of your financial statements, the 
annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) management agrees to assume all 
management responsibilities; oversee the services; evaluate the adequacy and results of the services; and 
accept responsibility for the results of the services. 

Management responsibilities relevant to CLA’s access to your cash 

Someone with management authority is responsible for the processes below. All approvals must be documented 
in writing, either electronically or manually, or formally approved and documented in the minutes of the 
authority board meeting: 

 Approve all invoices and check payments. 

 Approve all new vendors and customers added to the accounting system. 

 Approve all wire transfers to external parties. 

 Approve all new employees and all employee status changes prior to those employees or changes being 
added to the payroll system, if applicable. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 10 

  

 Approve all credit card statements prior to those expenses being processed in the accounting system 
and subsequently paid. 

 Approve (or delegate to the CLA controller if applicable) all customer and vendor credit memos and 
accounts receivable amounts written off. 

 Review and approve (or delegate to the CLA controller if applicable) all bank statements and affiliated 
monthly reconciliations. 

Fees, time estimates, and terms 

Our fees for these services will be based on the time involved and the degree of responsibility and skills 
required, plus expenses including internal and administrative charges. Our invoices for these fees will be 
rendered each month as work progresses and are payable on presentation. In accordance with our firm policies, 
work may be suspended if your account becomes 60 days or more overdue and will not be resumed until your 
account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, our engagement will be deemed to 
have been completed even if we have not issued our report. You will be obligated to compensate us for all time 
expended and to reimburse us for all out‐of‐pocket expenditures through the date of termination. 

The hour rates currently in effect for our services are as follows: 

Chief Financial Officer/Principal  $220 ‐ $400 
Controller  $175 ‐ $250 
Senior  $130 ‐ $175 
Staff  $115 ‐ $130 
Administrative Support  $85 ‐ $100 

 
As our rates change over time, we will provide an updated rate schedule. 

A 5% technology fee is added to all invoices for services. 

Out‐of‐pocket expenses such as out‐of‐town travel, meals, and lodging will be billed at cost and are not included 
in the fees quoted above. The fee estimate is based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel and other 
consultants, and their assistance with preparing requested schedules. If the requested items are not available on 
the dates required or are not accurate, the estimated fee for services will likely be higher. If unexpected 
circumstances require significant additional time, we will advise you before undertaking work that would require 
a substantial increase in the fee estimate. 

Other fees 

You also agree to compensate us for any time and expenses, including time and expenses of legal counsel, we 
may incur in responding to discovery requests or participating as a witness or otherwise in any legal, regulatory, 
or other proceedings that we are asked to respond to on your behalf.   



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 11 

  

Finance charges and collection expenses 

You agree that if any statement is not paid within 30 days from its billing date, the unpaid balance shall accrue 
interest at the monthly rate of one and one‐quarter percent (1.25%), which is an annual percentage rate of 15%. 
In the event that any collection action is required to collect unpaid balances due us, reasonable attorney fees 
and expenses shall be recoverable. 

Use of financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit 

The financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) and 
our compilation reports thereon are for management’s use. If you intend to reproduce and publish the financial 
statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) and our reports 
thereon, they must be reproduced in their entirety. Inclusion of the financial statements, the annual budget, or 
the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) in a document, such as an annual report or an offering 
document, should be done only with our prior approval of the document. You are responsible to provide us the 
opportunity to review such documents before issuance. 

With regard to the electronic dissemination of financial statements, the annual budgets, and the Application for 
Exemption from Audit (if applicable) that have been subjected to a compilation engagement, including financial 
statements, the annual budgets, and Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) published 
electronically on your website, you understand that electronic sites are a means to distribute information and, 
therefore, we are not required to read the information contained in those sites or to consider the consistency of 
other information in the electronic site with the original document. 

We may issue preliminary drafts to you for your review. Any preliminary drafts should not be relied on or 
distributed. 

Municipal advisors 

For the avoidance of doubt, the authority is not engaging CLA as a municipal advisor, and CLA is not a municipal 
advisor as defined in Section 975 of the Dodd‐Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or under 
Section 158 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”). CLA is not recommending an action to you, is not 
acting as an advisor to you, and does not owe a fiduciary duty pursuant to Section 15B of the Act to you with 
respect to the information and material contained in the deliverables issued under this engagement. You should 
discuss any information and material contained in the deliverables with any and all internal and external 
advisors that you deem appropriate before acting on this information or material. 

Limitation of remedies 

Our role is strictly limited to the engagement described in this letter, and we offer no assurance as to the results 
or ultimate outcomes of this engagement or of any decisions that you may make based on our communications 
with you or our reports. You agree that it is appropriate to limit the liability of CLA, its partners, principals, 
directors, officers, employees, and agents (each a “CLA party”) and that this limitation of remedies provision is 
governed by the laws of the state of Colorado, without giving effect to choice of law principles. 

  



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 12 

  

You further agree that you will not hold CLA or any other CLA party liable for any claim, cost, or damage, 
whether based on warranty, tort, contract, or other law, arising from or related to this agreement, the services 
provided under this agreement, the work product, or for any plans, actions, or results of this engagement, 
except to the extent authorized by this agreement. In no event shall any CLA party be liable to you for any 
indirect, special, incidental, consequential, punitive, or exemplary damages, or for loss of profits or loss of 
goodwill, costs, or attorney fees. 

The exclusive remedy available to you shall be the right to pursue claims for actual damages that are directly 
caused by acts or omissions that are breaches by a CLA party of our duties owed under this agreement, but any 
recovery on any such claims shall not exceed the fees actually paid under this agreement by you to CLA. 

Time limitation 

The nature of our services makes it difficult, with the passage of time, to gather and present evidence that fully 
and fairly establishes the facts underlying any dispute that may arise between you and any CLA party. The 
parties (you and CLA) agree that, notwithstanding any statute or law of limitations that might otherwise apply to 
a dispute, including one arising out of this agreement or the services performed under this agreement, for 
breach of contract or fiduciary duty, tort, fraud, misrepresentation or any other cause of action or remedy, any 
action or legal proceeding by you against any CLA party must be commenced as provided herein or you shall be 
forever barred from commencing a lawsuit or obtaining any legal or equitable relief or recovery. An action to 
recover on a dispute shall be commenced within the statute of limitations under Colorado state statutes. 

Service satisfaction 

If you are not completely satisfied with the services performed by CLA, we will take reasonable corrective action 
to satisfy you, and then if you are not completely satisfied, we will accept a portion of the fees that reflects your 
level of satisfaction. Upon full payment of our invoice, we will assume you are satisfied with our work and our 
service commitment will have been fulfilled. 

To ensure that our services remain responsive to your needs, as well as fair to both parties, we will meet with 
you throughout the term of the agreement and, if necessary, revise or adjust the scope of the services to be 
provided and the fees to be charged. 

Furthermore, it is understood that either party may terminate this agreement at any time, for any reason, by 
giving 30 days written notice to the other party. In that event, the provisions of this agreement shall continue to 
apply to all services rendered prior to termination. It is understood that any unpaid fees that are owed or 
invoices that are outstanding at the date of termination are to be paid in accordance with the terms of this 
agreement. 

Other provisions 

Except as permitted by the “Consent” section of this agreement, CLA will not disclose any confidential, 
proprietary, or privileged information of the authority to any persons without the authorization of authority 
management or unless required by law. This confidentiality provision does not prohibit us from disclosing your 
information to one or more of our affiliated companies in order to provide services that you have requested 
from us or from any such affiliated company. Any such affiliated company shall be subject to the same 
restrictions on the use and disclosure of your information as apply to us. 



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 13 

  

Pursuant to authority given by law or regulation, we may be requested to make certain workpapers available to 
a regulator for their regulatory oversight purposes. We will notify you of any such request. Access to the 
requested workpapers will be provided to the regulators under the supervision of CLA personnel and at a 
location designated by our firm. Furthermore, upon request, we may provide copies of selected workpapers to 
such regulators. The regulators may intend, or decide, to distribute the copies or information contained therein 
to others, including other governmental agencies. 

We will be responsible for our own property and casualty, general liability, and workers compensation 
insurance, taxes, professional training, and other personnel costs related to the operation of our business.  

When performing the services above, we will utilize the resources available at your authority to the extent 
practical to continue development of your personnel. During a portion of our work, we may require the use of 
your computers. We will try to give you advance notice and coordinate our use so it does not interfere with your 
employees. 

The relationship of CLA with the authority shall be solely that of an independent contractor and nothing in this 
agreement shall be construed to create or imply any relationship of employment, agency, partnership, or any 
relationship other than an independent contractor. 

Accounting standards and procedures will be suggested and applied that are consistent with those normally 
utilized in an authority of your size and nature. Internal controls may be recommended relating to the 
safeguarding of the authority’s assets. If fraud is initiated by your employees or other service providers, your 
insurance is responsible for covering any losses. 

We are available to perform additional procedures with regard to fraud detection and prevention, at your 
request, as a separate engagement, subject to completion of our normal engagement acceptance procedures. 
The terms and fees of such an engagement would be documented in a separate engagement letter. 

The authority agrees that CLA will not be assuming any fiduciary responsibility on your behalf during the course 
of this engagement. 

Additional provisions required by CRS 8‐17.5‐102(2)(a)(I) and (II) 

Unlawful employees, contractors, and subcontractors 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (Contractor) shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work 
under this contract. Contractor shall not knowingly contract with a subcontractor that (a) knowingly employs or 
contracts with an illegal alien to perform work under this contract or (b) fails to certify to the Contractor that the 
subcontractor will not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under this contract. 
[CRS 8‐17.5‐102(2)(a)(I) and (II)] 

Verification regarding illegal aliens 

Contractor has verified or attempted to verify through participation in the E‐Verify Program or the Department 
Program [as defined in CRS 8‐17.5‐101(3.3) and (3.7)] of the state of Colorado that Contractor does not employ 
any illegal aliens.  

  



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 14 

  

Limitation regarding E‐Verify Program and the Department Program 

Contractor shall not use the E‐Verify Program or the Department Program procedures to undertake pre‐
employment screening of job applicants while performing this contract. [CRS 8‐17.5‐102(2)(b)(II)] 

Duty to terminate a subcontractor and exceptions 

If Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work under this contract knowingly 
employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the Contractor shall, unless the subcontractor provides information to 
establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien: 

(1) Notify the subcontractor and the authority within three days that the Contractor has actual knowledge 
that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal alien; and 

(2) Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if, within three days of receiving notice that the 
Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal alien, 
the subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien. [CRS 8‐17.5‐
102(2)(b)(III)(A) and (B)] 

Duty to comply with state investigation 

Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request of the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment 
made in the course of an investigation pursuant to CRS 8‐17.5‐102(5). [CRS 8‐17.5‐102(2)(b)(IV)] 

Employment provision 

In the event that a CLA employee is solicited to work in a position as an employee of your authority, and in the 
event that the CLA employee accepts the position of employment with your authority, the following conditions 
will apply: 

1. CLA will require a four‐week notice period subsequent to the employee’s written notice to CLA, and 

2. The authority will be required to pay an employment fee of $60,000 for Chief Financial Officer and 
Controller and $25,000 for Senior and Staff to CLA immediately upon receipt of this notice. 

If any former CLA employee shall be hired as an employee within 60 days of leaving CLA, there shall be a 
refutable presumption that the CLA employee was solicited to work as an employee of your authority and the 
above fee shall be payable to CLA. 

Consent 

Consent to use financial information 

Annually, we assemble a variety of benchmarking analyses using data obtained through our client engagements. 
Some of this benchmarking information is published and released publicly. However, the information that we 
obtain is confidential, as required by the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. Your acceptance of this 
engagement letter will serve as your consent to use of the authority’s information in these cost comparison, 
performance indicator, and/or benchmarking reports. 

  



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 15 

  

Subcontractors 

CLA may, at times, use subcontractors to perform services under this agreement, and they may have access to 
your information and records. Any such subcontractors will be subject to the same restrictions on the use of 
such information and records as apply to CLA under this agreement. 

Technology 

CLA may, at times, use third‐party software applications to perform services under this agreement. You 
authorize CLA to sign on your behalf any vendor agreements applicable to such software applications. CLA can 
provide a copy of the application agreement at your request. You acknowledge the software vendor may have 
access to your data. 

Agreement 

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and believe this letter accurately summarizes the 
significant terms of our engagement. This letter constitutes the entire agreement regarding these services and 
supersedes all prior agreements (whether oral or written), understandings, negotiations, and discussions 
between you and CLA. If you have any questions, please let us know. If you agree with the terms of our 
engagement as described in this letter, please sign, date, and return the signed copy to us to indicate your 
acknowledgment and understanding of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our engagement to prepare 
your monthly/quarterly financial statements and perform a compilation engagement with respect to those same 
financial statements, to prepare your monthly/quarterly financial statements that are not subject to a 
compilation engagement and include a no assurance statement on those same financial statements, to prepare 
your annual budget and perform a compilation engagement with respect to the same annual budget, to prepare 
the Application for Exemption from Audit and perform a compilation engagement with respect to the same 
Application for Exemption from Audit, and to prepare the year‐end financial statements for use by the 
authority’s auditors, and the parties’ respective responsibilities. 

Sincerely, 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
 
 
 
 
Carrie Bartow, CPA, CGMA 
Principal 
719‐284‐7239 
Carrie.Bartow@CLAconnect.com 
 

Enclosures 

  

bart5007
CJB Signature



March 15, 2021 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authortiy 
Page 16 

  

Response: 

This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority. 

 

Authorized signature:                    

Title:                        

Date:                        



2303.4201; 1109803 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(MANAGEMENT SERVICES) 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 17TH day of March, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and PUBLIC 
ALLIANCE, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor” or “Public Alliance”).  
The Authority and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively 
as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 17, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the Authority.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

2 

express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this 
Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or 
authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

3 

Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 
experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find 
that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, 
at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

4 

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B-1. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 
coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

5 

not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 
(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

6 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit B-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

7 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the Authority and 
given to the Contractor by the Authority, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority deems confidential, 
or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the Authority.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the Authority; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the Authority’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority 
and the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the Authority shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the Authority may disclosure Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

8 

the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 
“Authority Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or 
tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or 
employees, in connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services 
or work pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise 
to the contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the 
negligence of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the 
Contractor.  Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other 
employee benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for 
special/consequential or punitive damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

9 

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the 
Authority or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be 
billed by the Contractor to the Authority.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

10 

the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 
this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority 
C/O WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer G. Tanaka, Esq.  
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  
 

  
Contractor: Public Alliance, LLC 

355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman 
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com   

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 

mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com
mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com


2303.4201; 1109803 
 

11 

payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the Authority.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

12 

unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

13 

33. STANDARD OF CARE.  In providing Services under this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall perform in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances at 
the same time. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow.] 



Authority Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Management Services 
with Public Alliance, LLC, dated March 17, 2021 

 
2303.4201; 1109803 
 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY,  a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Management Services 
with Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority, dated March 17, 2021 

 
2303.4201; 1109803 
 15 

CONTRACTOR: 
PUBLIC ALLIANCE, LLC, a Colorado limited 
liability company 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2021, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Public Alliance, LLC. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 



0895.4200; 1103261  

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 

Scope of Services 

Standard Services Provided (include but are not limited to): 

• Board Meetings: Meeting coordination, filing, publication and posting of all required 
notices. Establishment of quorum and cancellation when necessary. Preparation and 
distribution of board meeting agenda and materials one week in advance of board 
meetings or as directed. Attendance, moderation and scrivener for all regular and special 
board meetings, work sessions, executive sessions, and public forums. Preparation of 
meeting minutes and coordination of review with counsel prior to finalization. Tracking 
of action items and preparation of reports as necessary. 

• Personnel Management: Staff and vendor oversight, review, and counseling. Maintain 
updated list of all directors and terms of office, vendors and contract dates, consultants 
and staff (if applicable). Monitor requirements pertaining to HB 1343 (Illegal Aliens). 

• Contract Management: Preparation of requests for proposal (RFPs), evaluation, 
presentation and recommendations for bids received. Monitor compliance with public 
bidding requirements. Ongoing oversight to ensure contract compliance. Warranty 
period monitoring and coordination of final acceptance process. 

• Statutory Compliance: Execution of required filings publications and reports. 
Coordination with Authority’s counsel to ensure accuracy. 

 
• Liaison: Primary contact for the public, vendors, public officials, local governments and 

the press. Official custodian and manager of public records in accordance with Colorado 
Open Records Act (CORA) 

• Financial Management: Assist with budget preparation, budget message, and annual 
filing of budget, budget resolution, and related documents. Assist with and review annual 
audit. Research options and work with consultants and the board to obtain grants and 
loans when necessary and available. Track developer reimbursements pursuant to 
inclusion agreements.  

• Insurance and Risk Management: Regular and timely reviews of property schedules 
and insurance coverages, sureties, and bonds. Ongoing evaluation of risks and property 
inspections as frequently as desired. Regular policy review, filing of insurance claims 
and following through to collection and resolution of claimed damages. Ongoing 
monitoring of vendor contracts to ensure proper coverages are in place for all contractors 
and subcontractors. 

Property Management: 

• 24-Hour Emergency Response: Answering service with 24-hour emergency response.  



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

2 

All emergencies will be responded within one hour or less, and resolved as quickly as 
possible. 

• Contracting Agent: Administer annual contracts and mobilize specialty contracts when 
necessary to ensure that the desired condition of the property is maintained. Preparation 
of Requests for Proposals (RFPs) as necessary. Solicitation and evaluation of bids 
received. Tabulation of data and presentation to the board in a clear “apples to apples” 
manner. 

• Contractor Oversight: Review quality and thoroughness of work performed by 
contractors, consulting with the Authority’s engineer as appropriate. Review invoices 
and requests for payment, ensure contract requirements and client expectations are met. 

• Property Inspections: Inspections of the property will be performed as frequently as 
desired by the board in order to identify and act upon existing, imminent or potential 
maintenance issues and evaluate the quality of services being provided.  

Financial Matters: 

• Accounts Payable: Invoice review and, and account coding verification. 
• Budgets: Assist with budget preparation and provide guidance as necessary. And ensure 

proper filing. Assist with supplemental and/or amended budgets and accompanying 
documents, if required. Participate in the certification of mill levies. 

• Audits: Thorough review, and assistance in the preparation and filing of the audit(s) or 
audit exemption(s) will be provided. 

Other Services: 

• Inclusions, Construction and Public Bidding: Coordinate development referrals and 
property inclusions. Work with Engineer and other professionals to coordinate and 
supervise the project process as assigned and approved by the Board.  

• Website Administration: This is a routine service with which I have many years of 
experience. Once the required credentials are provided, Public Alliance will prepare and 
post in an ongoing and timely manner, all website updates whether the website is hosted 
through the Statewide Internet Portal Authority (SIPA) or a private website hosting 
service. 

• Other Services and Assignments and Directed by the Board. 
 

Compensation Schedule: 

- Authority Management: $140 per hour. 
 

- Administrative Support: $140 per hour. 

- Field Work / Site Visits / Property Management; $70 per hour 

- Expenses: Incidental expenses will be passed through without markup. Copies; 
$0.05 per page for black and white and $0.15 per page for color.



2303.4201; 1109803 
  

EXHIBIT A-1 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 



2303.4201; 1109803 
 

2 

 



2303.4201; 1109803 
  

EXHIBIT B 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 
and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third party fidelity bond in favor of 
the Authority covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or 
be responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 
responsibility for money or property of the Authority.  Such bond shall protect the 
Authority against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, 
securities, or other property belonging to or in the possession of the Authority.  Said bond 



2303.4201; 1109803 
  

shall be in an amount as determined by the Authority, from a surety acceptable to the 
Authority. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

6. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



2303.4201; 1109803 
  

EXHIBIT B-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



2303.4201; 1109803 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 



2303.4201; 1109803 
  

 



2303.4202; 1110442 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(ENGINEERING SERVICES) 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 17th day of March, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and MMI WATER 
ENGINEERS, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The Authority and 
the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 17, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

  TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the Authority.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 



2303.4202; 1110442 2 

the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this 
Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or 
authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 
Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 



2303.4202; 1110442 3 

experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find 
that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, 
at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



2303.4202; 1110442 4 

Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th  
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 
coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 
not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 



2303.4202; 1110442 5 

(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 



2303.4202; 1110442 6 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 



2303.4202; 1110442 7 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the Authority and 
given to the Contractor by the Authority, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority deems confidential, 
or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the Authority.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the Authority; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the Authority’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority 
and the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the Authority shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the Authority may disclosure Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 



2303.4202; 1110442 8 

the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 
“Authority Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or 
tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or 
employees, in connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services 
or work pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise 
to the contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the 
negligence of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the 
Contractor.  Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other 
employee benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for 
special/consequential or punitive damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  



2303.4202; 1110442 9 

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  Such notice shall not be required for automatic expiration 
under Section 2, above.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid for all the 
Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should either Party 
to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other Party, said 
other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under this 
Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with the 
Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the Authority 
or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the Authority.   



2303.4202; 1110442 10 

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 
the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 
this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority 
Public Alliance, LLC 
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman, Authority Manager  
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com 
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  

mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com


2303.4202; 1110442 11 

  
Contractor: MMI Water Engineers, LLC 

7262 South Garrison Court 
Littleton, CO 80128 
Attention: Bradley A. Simons, P.E. 
Phone: (720) 234-8398 
Email: Bradley.a.simons@gmail.com  
 

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This 
Agreement may not be modified except by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the 
Authority.  

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

mailto:Bradley.a.simons@gmail.com


2303.4202; 1110442 12 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 



2303.4202; 1110442 13 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. STANDARD OF CARE.  In providing Services under this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall perform in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances at 
the same time. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



Authority’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Engineering Services 
with MMI Water Engineers, LLC, dated March 17, 2021 

 
2303.4202; 1110442 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 
 
  
 



CONTRACTOR:

MMI WATER ENGINEERS, LLC, a Colorado

Printed Name

STATE OF COLORADO
′‾ヽ〇一〇"‾‾

COUNTYOF ‘

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this J圭day of /有明,

202l, by Bradley A. Simmons, aS the President ofMMI Water Engineers, LLC, a CoIorado limited

liability company.

Witness my hand and o飾cial seal.

My commission explreS:

DARLENE K TOLAN
Notarγ Pu帥c

State of CoIo「8do

Nota「y iD # 201 64024429
ires O6・27・2024Commission Ex

Cbnかacto高SなI2a他re華ge /O Jnddyend擁/ Contrac/Or Agreemen/jbr Engineering Services

With Mdyberly, Cbloradb幼帝ngs Cbmm〃n砂4wihorrty,め/ed March J 7 2021

0478.4202, 1 100713 15



2303.4202; 1110442 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 



 
 

March 9, 2021 

 

 

 

Mr. AJ Beckman, Authority Manager 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 

%Public Alliance, LLC 

355 South Teller Street, Suite 200 

Lakewood, Colorado 80226 

(via e-mail:  aj@publicalliancellc.com) 

 

 

Re: General Engineering Services 

 

 

Dear Mr. Beckman: 

 

In accordance with the request of the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 

(Authority), MMI Water Engineers, LLC (MMI) will provide general engineering services on an as-

needed basis to support certain public improvements and facilities, including, but not limited to, 

certain water, street, traffic and safety controls, park and recreation, drainage, including 

stormwater drainage, sanitary sewer, and related grading that will benefit Mayberry, Colorado 

Springs Metropolitan District Nos. 1-8 (Districts). 

 

MMI’s services shall be billed on the basis of hourly charge rates plus reimbursable expenses 

incurred in accordance with the schedule below. 

 

 2021 Rate Schedule (through January 15, 2022) 

 

 Project Principal ...........................................................................$ 165.00 per hour 

 Mileage ........................................................................................ Current IRS rate 

 Direct Costs (i.e. job-related expenses) ....................................... Cost + 10% 

 Subcontracted Expenses .............................................................. Cost + 10% 



  March 9, 2021 
  Page 2 of 2 

 

Should you have any comments or questions, please contact me at 720-234-8398. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

MMI WATER ENGINEERS, LLC 

 
Bradley A. Simons, P.E. 

Principal 



2303.4202; 1110442 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



F。γm W“9
(Rev. November 2017)

漑罵言霊認諾γ

Request for Taxpayer

identification Number and Certification

> Go to www.hs.gov/fomW9 for instmuctions and the Iatest information.

Give Form to the

requester. Do not

Send to the lRS,

1 Name (as shown on your income tax retum). Name is requjred on this iine; do not ieave this line blank.

MMI Water En inee「s, LLC

2 Business name/disregarded entity name, if different什om above

NIA

3 Check approp「iate box for federal tax ciassjfication of the person whose name is ente「ed on li=e l. Check oniy one of the

foIIowing seven boxes.

□ IndividuaVs。l。P.。P.i。t。.。「 □ c co「poration　□ scorporatiOn　□ partnership　　□巾st/estat。

Single-membe「 LLC

田Limited liabiiity company・ Enter the tax classifieation (C=C corpoγation, S=S corporatlOn, P=Parinership)ト　S

Note: Check the approp「late box in the line above for the tax classificatlOn Of the single-member owner Do not check

LLC if the LLC is class嗣ed as a singIe-member LLC that is disregarded from the owner uniess the owner of the LLC is

another 」LC that is not disregarded from the owner for U・S. federal tax pu「poses. Otherwise, a Singie-member LしC that

is disrega「ded f「Om the owner shouId check the app「opriate box for the tax cIassifroation o白ts owner.

□ other (See instructions) >

4 Exemptions (COdes apply only to

Certain entities, nOt individuaIs; See

lnStrUCtiOnS On Page 3):

Exempt payee code Of any)

Exemption from FATCA reporting

COde 0f any)

5 Add「ess (numbe「, Street, and apt. or suite no.〉 See instructlOnS.

7262 South Garrison Court
6 City, State, and ZiP code

LittIeton, CO 801 28

Requester’s name and address (OPtional)

Mayberry CoIorado Springs Comm. Auth.

355 South Te=e「 Street, Suite 200

しakewood, CO 80226
7 List ac∞unt number(S) here (OPtional)

Taxpayer ldentification Number ITIN)

Enter yourTIN in the appropriate box. The TIN provided must match the name given on =ne 「 to avoid

backup withhoIding. For individuals, this is generally your sociaI security number (SSN). However, for a

resident aiien, SOle proprietor, Or disregarded entity, See the instructions for Part l, later. For other

entities言t is your empIoyer identification number (EiN). 1f you do not have a number, See How to geta

nN late「.

Note: lfthe account is in more than one name, See the instructions fo川ne 「 , AIso see What Name and

Number 7b Give the Requester for guideIines on whose number to enter.

certification

Under penaItjes of perjury, l certify that:

1. The …mber shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification number (Or I am waiting for a number to be issued to me); and

2・ l am not subject to backup withhoiding because: (a) l am exempt from backup wjthhoiding, Or (b) l have not been notified by the lntemai Revenue

Service (iRS) that l am subject to backup withhoIding as a resuIt of a faiiure to report a旧nterest or dividends, Or (C) the旧S has notified me that l am

no Ionger subject to backup withholding; and

3. 1 am a U・S・ Citizen or other U.S. person (defined below); and

4. The FATCA code(S) entered on thjs form (if any) indicating that l am exempt from FATCA repo面ng is correct,

Ce珊cation instructions" You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the lRS that you are currentiy subject to backup withhoIding because

you have faiIed to report a= interest and dividends on your tax ret=m. For reaI estate transactions, item 2 does not appIy. For mongage interest paid,

funds)

. Fom 1099-MiSC (Various types of income, Prjzes, aWards, OrgrOSS

PrOCeeds)

. Fom lO99-B (StOCk or mutuaI fund saIes and certain other

transactlOnS by brokers)

. Fom l O99-S (PrOCeeds from real estate transactions)

. Fom l O99-K (merchant card and third party network transactions)

. Form 「 O98 (home mortgage interest), 1 098-E (Student loan interest),

1 098-T (tuition)

. Form 「 O99-C (CanCeIed debt)

● Form l O99-A (acquisition or abandonment of secured property)

Use Fom W-9 onIy if you are a U.S. person (inciuding a resident
aIien), tO PrOVide your correct TIN.

/fyou do not retum Fom W-9 to的e requester w/th a 77N, yOU所ght

be su匂ect to back岬withho/ding・ See What is backup withholding,

ねte「

Section references are to the intemaI Bevenue Code unless othenNise

noted.

Future developments・ For the Iatest information about deveIopments

related to Form W-9 and its ins血Ctions, SuCh as IegisIatio= enaCted

after they were pubiished, gO tO WWW.存s.gov/fomW9.

Purpose of Form

An individuaI or entity (Fom W-9 requester〉 who is required to fiIe an

infomation retum with the lRS must obtain your correct taxpayer
identification numberぐiN) which may be your social security number

(SSN), individuai taxpayer identjfication number (iTIN), adoption
taxpayer identification number (ATiN), Or emPIoyer identification number

(EiN), tO rePOrt On an infomation retum the amount pald to you, Or Other
amount reportabIe on an infomation retum・ Exampies of informatlOn

retums incIude, but are no川mited to, the fo=owing,

● Form 「 O99-1NT (interest earned or paid)

Form W-9 (Rev. 1 1 -2017)

.
c
①
君
d
u
O
S
亡
e
革
○
つ
と
S
圭
o
遅
8
d
s
登
S

“
①
d
ら
し
〇
号
-
」
d



2303.4202; 1110442 C- 1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 
and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third party fidelity bond in favor of 
the Authority covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or 
be responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 
responsibility for money or property of the Authority.  Such bond shall protect the 
Authority against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, 
securities, or other property belonging to or in the possession of the Authority.  Said bond 



2303.4202; 1110442 C- 2 

shall be in an amount as determined by the Authority, from a surety acceptable to the 
Authority. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

6. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



2303.4202; 1110442  

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 
  





2303.4202; 1110442 C- 2 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING 
 
 



2303.4202; 1110442 C- 3 

 
 
 
 



 

D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets 
1550 Market Street, Suite 300  •  Denver, CO 80202  •  (303) 764-6000  •  1-800-942-7557  •  FAX (303) 764-5736 

 http://www.davidsoncompanies.com/ficm/  

March 5, 2021 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
c/o Jennifer Tanaka  
White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 

 
RE: Letter Agreement for Investment Banking Services to  

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
 
Community Authority,  
 
This letter agreement confirms the terms and conditions upon which D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed 
Income Capital Markets (“Davidson”), its successors or assigns will provide investment banking 
services to Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “Client”). 
 
The investment banking services rendered by Davidson under this agreement may include: 
 

- Analysis of the project’s credit quality 
- Analysis of the capital markets, including interest rates and terms available in the market 
- Evaluating potential strategies to achieve the Client’s goals 
- Working with the Client’s consultants and attorneys to determine the feasibility of various 

borrowing or restructuring options 
- Advising the Client on the structure and terms of a restructured bond or a new bond or loan   
- Coordinating with the Client’s attorneys and consultants, the dissemination of financial data 
- Negotiating the structure and terms of the Bonds/loan with the purchaser on behalf of the 

Client 
- Underwriting or privately placing Bonds on behalf of the Client or assisting the Client in 

obtaining a direct, tax exempt loan 
- Under the direction and legal advice of nationally recognized bond counsel, assist and 

supervise the steps necessary to be taken to close the transaction 
 
Delivered with this letter are the disclosures required by MSRB Rule G-17 regarding our role, duties 
and interests as an underwriter of the Bonds. By signing this letter agreement, the Client 
acknowledges and agrees that: (i) the transaction contemplated by this Agreement will be an arm’s 
length, commercial transaction between the Client and the purchaser, in which Davidson may be 
acting as an agent or as an underwriter, but not as a municipal advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary 
to the Issuer; (ii) Davidson has not assumed any fiduciary responsibility to the Client with respect to 
the transaction contemplated hereby and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading 
thereto; (iii) the only obligations Davidson will have to the Client with respect to the transaction 
contemplated hereby are expressly set forth in this letter agreement; and (iv) the Issuer has consulted 
and will continue to consult with its own legal, accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as 

http://www.davidsoncompanies.com/ficm/


Mayberry, Colorado Springs CA 
Letter of Engagement 
Page 2 of 3 
 

 

applicable, to the extent it deems appropriate.  The representative of the Client signing this letter 
agreement has been duly authorized to execute this letter agreement and to act hereunder. 
 
This letter agreement shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Client notifies 
Davidson in writing of its intent to terminate this letter agreement.  Davidson may resign and 
terminate this letter agreement by providing written notification with no less than 30 days prior 
notice to the Client. 
 
At such time as arrangements for the sale of Bonds or other borrowing have been completed, 
Davidson shall be paid as shown below, or $30,000, whichever is greater:  
 

- 1.0% of par for the structuring and placement of Bonds with the developer.  If any such 
fee in this category is paid in connection with the 2021 financing, it shall be credited 
against any future fees imposed by Davidson in connection with a refunding of the 
2021 debt   

- 2.0% of par for underwriting/placement of non-investment grade rated senior Bonds  
- 3.0% of par for underwriting/placement of subordinate Bonds 

 
In addition to such compensation, the following shall be paid by Client as a component of the cost of 
issuance of the Bonds or placement of the debt:  (i) legal fees incurred by Davidson’s engagement of 
underwriter’s counsel or placement agent’s counsel in connection with the issuance of Bonds or 
placement of the debt, as applicable; and (ii) legal fees related to third-party review of past 
continuing disclosure compliance.  Unless otherwise agreed to by Client, Client’s payment of the 
foregoing is contingent upon the sale of Bonds or placement of debt. 
 
This letter agreement is not an offer to purchase Bonds.  If the sale of Bonds or other borrowing does 
not occur, Davidson shall not be owed compensation.  Please indicate by your signature below your 
desire to engage D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets to provide investment banking 
services on these terms. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets  
 
 
____________________________ 
Brooke Hutchens 
Managing Director 
 

ACCEPTED this _____ day of ___________ 2021. 
 
 

_______________________________ 
      Authorized Officer 

  Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 



Mayberry, Colorado Springs CA 
Letter of Engagement 
Page 3 of 3 
 

 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
D.A. Davidson & Co. (hereinafter referred to as “Davidson” or “underwriter”) intends/ proposes to 
serve as an underwriter, and not as a financial advisor or municipal advisor, in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds. 
 
As part of our services as underwriter/senior managing underwriter, Davidson may provide advice 
concerning the structure, timing, terms, and other similar matters concerning the issuance of the 
Bonds.  
 
Disclosures Concerning the Underwriters Role: 
 

(i) MSRB Rule G·17 requires an underwriter to deal fairly at all times with both municipal 
issuers and investors. 

(ii) The underwriters' primary role is to purchase the Bonds with a view to distribution in an 
arm's-length transaction with the Issuer. The underwriters financial and other interests 
that may differ from those of the Issuer. 

(iii) Unlike a municipal advisor, the underwriters do not have a fiduciary duty to the Issuer 
under the federal securities laws and are, therefore, not required by federal law to act in 
the best interests of the Issuer without regard to their own financial or other interests. 

(iv) The underwriters have a duty to purchase the Bonds from the Issuer at a fair and 
reasonable price, but must balance that duty with their duty to sell the Bonds to investors 
at prices that are fair and reasonable. 

(v) The underwriter will review the official statement for the Bonds in accordance with, and 
as part of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws, as 
applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction. 

 
Disclosures Concerning the Underwriters Compensation: 
 

As underwriter, Davidson will be compensated by a fee and/or an underwriting discount that will be 
set forth in the bond purchase agreement to be negotiated and entered into in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds. Payment or receipt of the underwriting fee or discount will be contingent on 
the closing of the transaction and the amount of the fee or discount may be based, in whole or in 
part, on a percentage of the principal amount of the Bonds. While this form of compensation is 
customary in the municipal securities market, it presents a conflict of interest since the underwriter 
may have an incentive to recommend to the Issuer a transaction that is unnecessary or to 
recommend that the size of the transaction be larger than is necessary. 
 
Additional Conflicts Disclosure: 
 

Davidson has not identified any additional potential or actual material conflicts that require 
disclosure. 



 

  
4818-1244-7455.2  

K A MI L LE  C U RY L O 
312.602.4129 

kamille.curylo@kutakrock.com 
 

Kutak Rock LLP 
1801 California Street, Suite 3000, Denver, CO 80202-2652 

office 303.297.2400 
 

March 8, 2021 

 
Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
 and the Financing Districts  
c/o Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 
2154 E. Commons Avenue 
Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO 80122 
 
 

Re: Engagement as Bond Counsel for Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
and certain related entities 

Dear Board of Directors: 

This letter sets forth our understanding of the engagement of Kutak Rock LLP by 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “the Authority”) and certain related 
entities (as described in the succeeding sentence) to act as Bond Counsel in connection with the 
issuance of the Special Revenue Bonds Series 2021A, Series 2021B and Series 2021C 
(collectively, the “Bonds”) by the Authority.  The related entities include (i) Mayberry, Colorado 
Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 (“District No. 2”) and Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Metropolitan District No. 3 (“District No. 3” and, together with District No. 2 and the Authority, 
the “Financing Districts” and each a “Financing District”). 
 

As Bond Counsel, Kutak Rock LLP will provide all necessary and customary legal 
services traditionally performed by Bond Counsel, including: 

1. Providing assistance and advice on all legal matters relating to the issuance of 
bonds or the incurrence of debt, including elections, the Authority Establishment Agreement, 
interpretation of certain provisions in the Financing Districts’ service plans; and any related 
intergovernmental agreements. 

2. Preparing all necessary documents for authorizing, and securing the repayment of 
the bonds being issued, including, but not limited to, the bond resolutions, indentures, pledge 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 3 
March 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

4818-1244-7455.2  

 
agreement resolutions, pledge agreements, other financing documents, closing documents, all 
necessary filings required under Colorado state law, and assuming the bonds will be tax-exempt, 
all necessary filings required by the Internal Revenue Service. 

3. Upon satisfaction of all conditions precedent, delivering legal opinions (the 
“Opinions”) in connection with the issuance of the bonds as to each of the following matters:  the 
right and power of the Authority to issue the bonds, that the bonds are valid and binding 
obligations of the issuer, and that the sources for the repayment of the bonds are properly secured 
and pledged to pay the bonds.  If tax exempt bonds are issued, the Opinions will address all 
pertinent tax matters. Opinions will also be given on the pledge agreements to confirm that the 
pledge agreements are valid and binding obligations of each Financing District and that the 
sources pledged for payment under each pledge agreement are properly secured and pledged.  
Other Opinions as typically provided by Bond Counsel will also be given. 

4. Consulting with the Authority and the Financing Districts’ Board members, the 
Authority and the Financing Districts’ Counsel, the Authority and the Financing Districts’ 
consultants and advisors, and other working group members regarding bond issuance, security, 
and other matters relating to the bonds and the pledge agreements. 

5. Participating in meetings, including the Authority and the Financing Districts’ 
Board meetings as necessary. 

Kutak Rock LLP’s Opinions will be executed and delivered in written form on the date 
that the bonds are delivered (the “Closing”) and will be based upon facts and law existing as of 
their date.  As is customary, in rendering the Opinions, Kutak Rock LLP will rely upon the 
certified proceedings; certifications of the Authority and the Financing Districts’ officials and 
other persons; opinions of general counsel to the Authority and the Financing Districts; opinions 
of other legal counsel involved in the transaction as to matters relevant to the bonds; and 
certifications of other parties to the transaction, as appropriate. 

Our fee to act as Bond Counsel for the Authority’s issuance of bonds will range from 
$175,000 to $185,000, a fee based on the amount and nature of legal work involved and the size, 
structure and complexity of the financing; however, our fee assumes a closing on the bonds will 
occur by August 31, 2021.  If the Closing extends beyond August 31, 2021, we may increase the 
fee to cover additional time involved in achieving a Closing on the Bonds.  Unless other payment 
arrangements are made, if the Closing has not occurred by October 31, 2021 or the transaction is 
abandoned by the Authority prior to that date, Kutak Rock LLP will submit an invoice for our 
actual time and expenses incurred until the date on which we are directed by  the Authority to 
stop our work on the Bonds, and such invoice will be due thirty (30) days after the date on which 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 3 
March 8, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

4818-1244-7455.2  

 
the invoice is delivered to you.  The fee includes routine out-of-pocket disbursements (such as 
photocopying charges, delivery expenses, fax charges and postage). Any extraordinary 
disbursements or expenses authorized by the Authority or any Financing District will be billed 
directly to the Authority.  The firm’s public finance partners who are anticipated to be principally 
involved in this representation are Kamille Curylo, Kristine Lay, and for tax matters, Matthias 
Edrich.  Of counsel attorneys anticipated to be principally involved in this representation include 
Anne Bensard.  Associate attorneys anticipated to be principally involved in this representation 
include Tanya Barton; other associate attorneys and paralegals will be added to the team as our 
work progresses.  Unless other payment arrangements are made, our fee will be due at Closing of 
the bonds, prior to delivery of the Opinions.  If any matters are assigned to Kutak Rock LLP that 
will be billed on an hourly basis, we will obtain specific approval from the Authority to charge 
our then-current hourly rates and to bill the Authority separately for out-of-pocket 
disbursements. 

Kutak Rock LLP will perform its obligations in accordance with the standards of 
professional responsibility applicable to attorneys.  We have represented, and currently do 
represent, in matters unrelated to the Authority or the Financing Districts, other entities that may 
be involved in the Authority’s bond transaction, including D.A. Davidson & Co.  We have 
concluded that such representations do not constitute a conflict of interest under the standards of 
professional responsibility applicable to attorneys, but we are disclosing these representations to 
you so that you can communicate to us any concerns or additional information you may have 
concerning actual or potential conflicts. 

This engagement letter shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

The Authority and any Financing District may terminate this agreement with respect to 
our engagement by notifying Kutak Rock LLP in writing.  Conversely, Kutak Rock LLP may 
withdraw as counsel to the Authority or any Financing District and terminate this agreement in a 
manner that protects the interests of the Authority and any Financing District in the work being 
performed by Kutak Rock LLP by notifying the Authority and any Financing District in writing. 

If the above sets forth our understanding to your satisfaction, please confirm the terms of 
our engagement by signing, dating and returning the enclosed copy of this letter.  If the foregoing 
does not reflect our understanding or if you wish to discuss additional projects with us, please 
contact me. 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 3 
March 8, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 

4818-1244-7455.2  

 
Throughout our representation, we want you to be satisfied with our fees as well as the 

professional services we perform on your behalf.  Accordingly, we invite your inquiry if you 
have any questions concerning any aspect of our representation. 

This letter may be executed in two or more counterparts (and by different parties on 
separate counterparts), each of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one 
and the same instrument. 

 Sincerely, 
 /s/ Kamille Curylo 
 
 Kutak Rock LLP 
 
 
 
 
 
CONFIRMED AND AGREED TO AS OF THE 
DATE INDICATED BELOW: 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 

By: ____________________________________ 
Authorized Officer 

Date:  March __, 2020 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2  

By:_____________________________________ 

Date:  March ___, 2020 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 3 

By:_____________________________________ 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 3 
March 8, 2021 
Page 5 
 
 

4818-1244-7455.2  

 
Date:  March ___, 2020 

 



 

  
4815-6111-7151.2  

K A MI L LE  C U RY L O 
312.602.4129 

kamille.curylo@kutakrock.com 
 

Kutak Rock LLP 
1801 California Street, Suite 3000, Denver, CO 80202-2652 

office 303.297.2400 
 

March 8, 2021 

 
Board of Directors 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community the Authority 
  and Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
c/o Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron 
2154 E. Commons Avenue 
Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO 80122 
 
 

Re: Engagement as Bond Counsel for Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community the 
Authority and a certain related entity 

Dear Board of Directors: 

This letter sets forth our understanding of the engagement of Kutak Rock LLP by 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the “the Authority”) and Mayberry, 
Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 (“District No. 2” and the “Financing District”) to 
act as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance of certain Taxable Water and Sewer 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A-1 and Tax-Exempt Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 
2021A-2 (collectively, the “Bonds”) by the Authority. 
 

As Bond Counsel, Kutak Rock LLP will provide all necessary and customary legal 
services traditionally performed by Bond Counsel, including: 

1. Providing assistance and advice on all legal matters relating to the issuance of 
bonds or the incurrence of debt, including elections, the Authority Establishment Agreement, 
interpretation of certain provisions in the Financing District’s service plan; and any related 
intergovernmental agreements. 

2. Preparing all necessary documents for authorizing, and securing the repayment of 
the bonds being issued, including, but not limited to, the bond resolutions, indentures, pledge 
agreement resolution, pledge agreements, other financing documents, closing documents, all 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
March 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

4815-6111-7151.2  

 
necessary filings required under Colorado state law, and assuming the Series 2021A-2 bonds will 
be tax-exempt, all necessary filings required by the Internal Revenue Service. 

3. Upon satisfaction of all conditions precedent, delivering legal opinions (the 
“Opinions”) in connection with the issuance of the bonds as to each of the following matters:  the 
right and power of the Authority to issue the bonds, that the bonds are valid and binding 
obligations of the issuer, and that the sources for the repayment of the bonds are properly secured 
and pledged to pay the bonds.  If tax exempt bonds are issued, the Opinions will address all 
pertinent tax matters. Opinions will also be given on the pledge agreements to confirm that the 
pledge agreements are valid and binding obligations of the Financing District and that the 
sources pledged for payment under each pledge agreement are properly secured and pledged.  
Other Opinions as typically provided by Bond Counsel will also be given. 

4. Consulting with the Authority and the Financing District’s Board members, the 
Authority and the Financing District’s Counsel, the Authority and the Financing District’s 
consultants and advisors, and other working group members regarding bond issuance, security, 
and other matters relating to the bonds and the pledge agreements. 

5. Participating in meetings, including the Authority and the Financing District’s 
Board meetings as necessary. 

Kutak Rock LLP’s Opinions will be executed and delivered in written form on the date 
that the bonds are delivered (the “Closing”) and will be based upon facts and law existing as of 
their date.  As is customary, in rendering the Opinions, Kutak Rock LLP will rely upon the 
certified proceedings; certifications of the Authority and the Financing District’s officials and 
other persons; opinions of general counsel to the Authority and the Financing District; opinions 
of other legal counsel involved in the transaction as to matters relevant to the bonds; and 
certifications of other parties to the transaction, as appropriate. 

Our fee to act as Bond Counsel for the Authority’s issuance of bonds will range from 
$110,000 to $120,000, a fee based on the amount and nature of legal work involved and the size, 
structure and complexity of the financing; however, our fee assumes a closing on the bonds will 
occur by August 31, 2021.  If the Closing extends beyond August 31, 2021, we may increase the 
fee to cover additional time involved in achieving a Closing on the Bonds.  Unless other payment 
arrangements are made, if the Closing has not occurred by October 31, 2021 or the transaction is 
abandoned by the Authority prior to that date, Kutak Rock LLP will submit an invoice for our 
actual time and expenses incurred until the date on which we are directed by  the Authority to 
stop our work on the Bonds, and such invoice will be due thirty (30) days after the date on which 
the invoice is delivered to you.  The fee includes routine out-of-pocket disbursements (such as 
photocopying charges, delivery expenses, fax charges and postage).  Any extraordinary 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
March 8, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

4815-6111-7151.2  

 
disbursements or expenses authorized by the Authority or the Financing District will be billed 
directly to the Authority.  The firm’s public finance partners who are anticipated to be principally 
involved in this representation are Kamille Curylo, Kristine Lay, and for tax matters, Matthias 
Edrich.  Of counsel attorneys anticipated to be principally involved in this representation include 
Anne Bensard.  Associate attorneys anticipated to be principally involved in this representation 
include Tanya Barton; other associate attorneys and paralegals will be added to the team as our 
work progresses.  Unless other payment arrangements are made, our fee will be due at Closing of 
the bonds, prior to delivery of the Opinions.  If any matters are assigned to Kutak Rock LLP that 
will be billed on an hourly basis, we will obtain specific approval from the Authority to charge 
our then-current hourly rates and to bill the Authority separately for out-of-pocket 
disbursements. 

Kutak Rock LLP will perform its obligations in accordance with the standards of 
professional responsibility applicable to attorneys.  We have represented, and currently do 
represent, in matters unrelated to the Authority or the Financing District, other entities that may 
be involved in the Authority’s bond transaction, including D.A. Davidson & Co.  We have 
concluded that such representations do not constitute a conflict of interest under the standards of 
professional responsibility applicable to attorneys, but we are disclosing these representations to 
you so that you can communicate to us any concerns or additional information you may have 
concerning actual or potential conflicts. 

This engagement letter shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

The Authority and the Financing District may terminate this agreement with respect to 
our engagement by notifying Kutak Rock LLP in writing.  Conversely, Kutak Rock LLP may 
withdraw as counsel to the Authority or the Financing District and terminate this agreement in a 
manner that protects the interests of the Authority and the Financing District in the work being 
performed by Kutak Rock LLP by notifying the Authority and the Financing District in writing. 

If the above sets forth our understanding to your satisfaction, please confirm the terms of 
our engagement by signing, dating and returning the enclosed copy of this letter.  If the foregoing 
does not reflect our understanding or if you wish to discuss additional projects with us, please 
contact me. 

Throughout our representation, we want you to be satisfied with our fees as well as the 
professional services we perform on your behalf.  Accordingly, we invite your inquiry if you 
have any questions concerning any aspect of our representation. 



 
 
 
 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2 
March 8, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 

4815-6111-7151.2  

 
This letter may be executed in two or more counterparts (and by different parties on 

separate counterparts), each of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one 
and the same instrument. 

 Sincerely, 
 /s/ Kamille Curylo 
 
 Kutak Rock LLP 
 
 
 
 
 
CONFIRMED AND AGREED TO AS OF THE 
DATE INDICATED BELOW: 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community the Authority 

By: ____________________________________ 
Authorized Officer 

Date:  March __, 2020 

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District No. 2  

By:_____________________________________ 

Date:  March ___, 2020 

 



PROPOSAL

Named Member: Broker of Record:
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority
Public Alliance LLC
355 Teller St., Suite 200
Lakewood, CO 80226

T. Charles Wilson Insurance Service
384 Inverness Parkway
Suite 170
Englewood, CO 80112

Proposal No. Entity ID Effective Date Expiration Date Invoice Date
22433 228 3/10/2021 EOD 12/31/2021 3/9/2021

Coverage Contribution
Crime $ 110.00
General Liability $ 423.00
Hired Auto Physical Damage $  53.00
No-Fault Water Intrusion & Sewer Backup $  14.00
Non-Owned Auto Liability $ 107.00
Public Officials Liability $ 396.00

Total Estimated Contribution $1,103
Estimated Annualized Contribution (for budgeting purposes only) $1,356.00

Please note: where included above, Hired Auto Physical Damage and Non-Owned Auto Liability are mandatory coverages and 
may not be removed. No-Fault Water Intrusion & Sewer Backup coverage may only be removed with completion of the No-
Fault Opt Out Endorsement.

The following discounts are applied (Not applicable to minimum contributions):
10% Direct Discount

Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool
PO Box 1539

Portland, OR 97207-1539



Proposal 22433 This proposal does not bind coverage.  3/9/2021

Public Entity Liability and Auto Physical Damage Certificate Holder Proposal
Master Coverage Document Number: CSD Pool – CTC 01 01 2018 and CSD Pool PEL 01 01 21
Proposal Number: 22433 Coverage Period: 3/10/2021 to EOD 12/31/2021
Named Member: Broker of Record:
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority
Public Alliance LLC
355 Teller St., Suite 200
Lakewood, CO 80226

T. Charles Wilson Insurance Service
384 Inverness Parkway
Suite 170
Englewood, CO 80112

This proposal is provided only for those coverages indicated below for which a contribution is shown.
Coverage Per Occurrence Limit Annual Aggregate Limit Deductible Contribution

Public Entity Liability Coverage including: $2,000,000 None
General Liability Included None None $423
Medical Payments - Premises $10,000 None None Included
Employee Benefits Liability Included None None Included
Public Officials Liability Included None $1,000 $396
Employment Practices Liability Included None *$100,000 Included
Pre Loss Legal Assistance $3,500 $7,000 None Included

     No-Fault Water Intrusion & Sewer Backup
$200,000 limited to 

$10,000 Any One 
Premises

***$1,000,000 $500 $14

Cyber $200,000 **$200,000 $1,000 Included
Fiduciary Liability $200,000 **$200,000 $1,000 Included
Excess Liability - Coverage agreements A,B,C,D No Coverage No Coverage N/A No 

CoverageAuto Liability No Coverage No Coverage N/A No 
CoverageMedical Payments – Auto No Coverage No Coverage N/A No 
CoverageNon-Owned and Hired Auto Liability Included None None $107

Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists Liability No Coverage No Coverage N/A No 
CoverageAuto Physical Damage No Coverage No Coverage N/A No 
CoverageHired Auto Physical Damage $50,000 N/A $500/$500 $53

Auto Physical Damage - Employee 
Deductible Reimbursement $2,500 N/A None Included

Total Contribution 993.00
*Employment Practices Liability Deductible: 50% of loss including Indemnity and Legal Expenses subject to a maximum deductible of *$100,000 
each occurrence.
**A $5,000,000 All Member Annual Aggregate Limit shall apply to Cyber.
**A $1,000,000 All Member Annual Aggregate Limit shall apply to Fiduciary Liability.
***No-Fault Water Intrusion & Sewer Backup has $1,000,000 All Member Annual Aggregate Limit.

Additional Endorsements applicable to Member:

BINDING SUBJECTIVITY: Coverage is effective upon receipt of payment, which is considered “acceptance” of coverage. 
Please include a copy of the proposal summary with your check so that we may properly apply payment.

Countersigned by:  
Authorized Representative



Proposal 22433 This proposal does not bind coverage.  3/9/2021

Comprehensive Crime Proposal

Master Coverage Document Number: Insurer: 
Proposal Number: 22433 Coverage Period: 3/10/2021 to EOD 12/31/2021
Named Member: Broker of Record:
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority T. Charles Wilson Insurance Service
Public Alliance LLC 384 Inverness Parkway
355 Teller St., Suite 200
Lakewood, CO 80226

Suite 170
Englewood, CO 80112

Covered ERISA Plan:  Covered Designated Agent(s):  

Coverage Limits:
Public Employee Dishonesty Coverage: $5,000

Limit is Per Loss
Faithful Performance of Duty
Officers, Directors, and Trustees
Welfare and Pension Plan ERISA Compliance if Covered Plan is shown 
Volunteer Workers as Employees

Forgery or Alteration Coverage: $5,000
Theft, Disappearance, and Destruction Coverage: $5,000

Inside Premises 
Outside Premises

Computer and Funds Transfer Fraud Coverage: $5,000
Debit, Credit or Charge Card Forgery Coverage: $5,000
Money Orders and Counterfeit Paper Currency Coverage: $5,000
Fraudulent Impersonation Coverage: $5,000

Crime Deductible: $100

Fraudulent Impersonation Deductible: 20% of Fraudulent Impersonation Limit
Contribution: $110

Policy Forms:
Government Crime Policy (Discovery Form)

BINDING SUBJECTIVITY: Coverage is effective upon receipt of payment, which is considered “acceptance” of coverage. Please 
include a copy of the proposal summary with your check so that we may properly apply payment. 

Countersigned by:  
Authorized Representative



Proposal 22433 This proposal does not bind coverage.  3/9/2021

 

Identity Recovery Proposal

Master Coverage Policy Number: 
CSD Pool IDR Form 01 01 21

Insurer:
The Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection 
and Insurance Company

Proposal Number: 22433 Coverage Period: 3/10/2021 to EOD 12/31/2021

Named Member:             Broker of Record:
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority
Public Alliance LLC
355 Teller St., Suite 200
Lakewood, CO 80226

T. Charles Wilson Insurance Service
384 Inverness Parkway
Suite 170
Englewood, CO 80112

Member:
All permanent employees and District Board members participating in the Colorado Special Districts Property and 
Liability Pool; Special District Association of Colorado staff and Board of Directors.

Coverage:
Reimbursement coverage for expenses arising from a defined “Identity Theft” event. Including: legal fees for 
answer of civil judgements and defense of criminal charges; phone, postage, shipping fees; notary and filing fees; 
credit bureau reports; lost wages; child/elder care and mental health counseling.

This coverage does not reimburse the member for monies stolen or fraudulently charged to the member, and 
excludes loss arising from the member’s fraudulent, dishonest or criminal act.

Annual Aggregate Limit per Member: $35,000

Case Management Service Expenses - does not reduce the limit available

Legal Costs - reduces the limit available

Sub Limits:

$5,000 Lost Wages and Child/Elder Care
$1,000 Mental Health Counseling
$1,000 Miscellaneous Expenses

Coverage Trigger: Coverage is provided on a discovery basis with a 60-day reporting requirement

Claims: For Recovery Assistance and Counseling, please call 1-800-945-4617

BINDING SUBJECTIVITY: Coverage is effective upon receipt of payment, which is considered “acceptance” of 
coverage. Please include a copy of the proposal summary with your check so that we may properly apply 
payment. 

Countersigned by:   

Authorized Representative



Excess Liability Options Proposal For 2021

This Proposal Does Not Bind Coverage

This report demonstrates what it would cost your district to increase coverage from your current limit of 
liability to a higher limit. 

Named Member: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority

Certificate Number: 22433

Excess Limit Annual Excess Contribution Change in Contribution
$1,000,000 $330 $330

$2,000,000 $570 $570

$3,000,000 $810 $810

$4,000,000 $1,020 $1,020

$5,000,000 $1,250 $1,250

$6,000,000 $1,500 $1,500

$7,000,000 $1,750 $1,750

$8,000,000 $2,000 $2,000

. 

Note: This is not your Coverage Document. It was created solely for informational purposes.
3/9/2021



General Liability Schedule
Improvement District

Proposal Number: 22433 Coverage Period: 3/10/2021 - EOD 12/31/2021
Named Member: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority

Broker: Kliesen, Lara (13)

Code
   
 Description Unit Amount Effective Date Expiration Date

 105-Total Operating Expenses - Any other Dollars 50,000.00 3/10/2021 12/31/2021

 348-Number of Board Members Total 3/10/2021 12/31/2021

If your district has exposures not listed on the General Liability schedule above, such as airplanes, security staff, bridges, drones, 
etc., please furnish details. Certain activities may be excluded or restricted.



RESOLUTION NO.    
 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of    
(hereafter  referred to as  “the District”)  has authority under  Article XIV, Section 
18(2)(a) of the Colorado Constitution, and Sections 24-10-115.5, 29-13-102, and 29- 
1-201,  et  seq .,  Colorado  Revised  Statutes,  as  amended,  to  participate  in  a  self- 

insurance pool for property and liability and/or workers’ compensation coverages: 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has reviewed a contract to cooperate with other 
Colorado Special Districts by participating in a self-insurance pool for property and 
liability coverages entitled “Intergovernmental Agreement for the Colorado  Special 
Districts Property and Liability Pool”, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and incorporated into this Resolution: and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds that participation in such a pool would be in 
the best interest of the District, its employees, and its taxpayers: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the District 
hereby: 

 
1. Approves the contract entitled Intergovernmental Agreement for the Colorado 

Special Districts  Property and  Liability  Pool, a copy of which  is attached 
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated into this Resolution by this reference. 

 
2. Authorizes and directs the Chairman of the Board of Directors and President 

of the District to execute Exhibit A on behalf of the District. 
 
3. Directs the Secretary of the Board of  Directors to transmit to the Colorado 

Special Districts Property and Liability Pool (hereafter referred to as “Pool”), 
McGriff, Seibels & Williams, PO Box 1539, Portland, OR 97207-1539, an 
executed and attested copy of this Resolution and one original of Exhibit A. 

 
4. Designates as District’s initial Representative 

to the Pool and designates  as the District’s 
Alternative Representative. 

 
5. Representative Email Address: _______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Representative Mailing Address: ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
 

 
Alternate Representative Email Address: ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Alternate Representative Mailing Address: _________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

2021-03-08

Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority

 AJ Beckman, Manager



6. Understands that, with the adoption of this Resolution, the District becomes a 
member of the Pool, with coverage to be provided by or through the Pool on 
such date as determined by the District and  Pool. The District  hereby 
requests, unless other dates are later designated  by the District, that 
coverage should begin on the following dates for the following type of 
coverage: 

 

Date Coverage 
 

Workers’ Compensation 

Property 

General Liability 

Automobile 

Public Officials Liability 

Inland Marine 

Equipment Breakdown / Boiler & Machinery 

Comprehensive Crime 

 
Director moved the adoption of the above Resolution. 

 

 
Director seconded the adoption of the above Resolution. 

 

 
This Resolution was adopted by a majority vote of the Board of Directors of the 
District on the day of , 20    

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman of the Board and 
President of the District 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

Secretary of the Board 

3/17/2021

3/17/2021

3/17/2021

3/17/2021

3/17/2021

3/17/2021

3/17/2021

3/17/2021



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR THE 
COLORADO SPECIAL DISTRICTS 
PROPERTY AND LIABILITY POOL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As Amended 
SEPTEMBER 14, 2011 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

 
ARTICLE 1 Definitions ..................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 2 Creation of Pool ............................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE 3 Purposes ......................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 4 Non-Waiver of Governmental or Other Immunity ....................................... 2 

ARTICLE 5 Participation ................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 6 Board of Directors and Officers .................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 7 Meetings of the Board of Directors .............................................................. 4 

ARTICLE 8 Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors ............................................... 5 

ARTICLE 9 Members' Powers and Meetings ................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 10 Obligations of Members ................................................................................ 7 

ARTICLE 11 Contributions ................................................................................................8 

ARTICLE 12 Liability of Directors, Officers and Employees ......................................... 10 

ARTICLE 13 Withdrawal of Members ............................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE 14 Expulsion of Members ................................................................................ 12 

ARTICLE 15 Effect of Withdrawal or Expulsion ........................................................... 12 

ARTICLE 16 Miscellaneous .............................................................................................. 13 



1  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR THE 
COLORADO SPECIAL DISTRICTS PROPERTY AND LIABILITY POOL 

 
 

ARTICLE 1. Definitions 
 
As used in this Pool Agreement, the following terms shall have the meaning hereinafter set out: 

 
1.1 BOARD: Board of Directors of the Pool. 

 
1.2 CLAIM YEAR: Any twelve consecutive month period established by the Board. The "initial" 

claim year is the first claim year established for the Pool. 
 
1.3 DIRECTOR: A person serving on the Board. 

 
1.4 MEMBER: A Special District which enters into this Pool Agreement. An "initial" member of the 

Pool is a member which obtains coverage through the Pool during the initial claim year. 
 
 
1.5 MEMBER REPRESENTATIVE: That person who has been designated in writing by a Member 

as its representative to the Pool. 
 
1.6 POOL: The Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool established pursuant to the 

Constitution and the statutes of this state by this Pool Agreement. 
 
1.7 POOL AGREEMENT: This Intergovernmental Agreement for the Colorado Special Districts 

Property and Liability Pool. 
 
1.8 SPECIAL DISTRICT: A political subdivision of the State of Colorado that is a unit of local 

government pursuant to Article 13, Title 29, C.R.S., as amended, that is a public entity pursuant to 
24-10-103(5), C.R.S., as amended, and that is eligible for membership in the Special District 
Association of Colorado according to the Association’s bylaws as amended and in effect from time 
to time. “Special District” also includes any separate entity created by intergovernmental 
agreement authorized by Part 2, Article 1, Title 29, C.R.S., as amended, if at least one of the 
contracting entities is a special district and if all of the contracting entities are units of a local 
government pursuant to Article 13, Title 29, C.R.S., as amended, and are public entities pursuant 
to 24-10-103(5), C.R.S., as amended. 

 
1.9 SDA BOARD: The Board of Directors of the Special District Association of Colorado. 

 

ARTICLE 2. Creation of Pool 
 
2.1 The Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool is hereby formed by this Pool 

Agreement by Member Special Districts as a separate and independent governmental and legal 
entity pursuant to the provisions of Article XIV, Section 18(2) of the Colorado Constitution and 



2  

Constitution and Sections 29-1-201et. seq., 8-44-101(1)(C) and (3), 8-44-204, 24-10-115.5, and 
29-13-102, C.R.S., as amended. 

 
2.2 Each Special District entering into this Pool Agreement has the power under Colorado law to 

make provision for the property and liability coverages, workers’ compensation benefits, and risk 
management, claims handling, and other functions and services which constitute the specific 
functions and services jointly provided by means of the Pool. 

 

ARTICLE 3.  Purposes 
 
3.1 The purposes of the Pool are to provide defined property, liability, workers’ compensation and 

associated coverages, and claims and risk management services related thereto, for Member 
Special Districts through a self-insurance pool. 

 
3.2 It is the intent of the Members to use Member contributions to defend and indemnify, in 

accordance with this Pool Agreement, any Member against stated liability or loss to the extent of 
the coverage provided by or through the Pool. 

 
3.3 All income and assets of the Pool shall be at all times dedicated to the exclusive benefit of its 

Members. 
 

ARTICLE 4. Non-Waiver of Governmental or Other Immunity 
 
4.1 All Pool money, plus earned interest, is money derived from its Members which consist solely of 

Special Districts within the State of Colorado. It is the intent of the Members that, by entering 
into this Pool Agreement, they do not waive and are not waiving any immunity provided by any 
law to the Members or their public employees, as defined in 24-10-103(4), C.R.S., as amended. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5. Participation 
 
5.1 The Board shall have the authority to limit the Members of the Pool to those Colorado Special 

Districts which are members of the Special District Association of Colorado and which properly 
enter into and adopt this Pool Agreement. 

 
5.2 New Members, including special districts which have previously withdrawn or been expelled 

from the Pool, shall be admitted only upon approval by the Board, subject to the payment of such 
sums and under such conditions as the Board in each case or from time-to-time establishes. 



3  

5.3 A Member may participate in the Pool for either or both of the following purposes: 
 

1. The property and liability coverages authorized by sections 24-10-115.5 and 29-13-102, 
C.R.S., as amended, and risk management, claims handling and other functions and 
services related to such coverages; 

 
2. The workers’ compensation coverages authorized by sections 8-44-101(1)(C) and (3) and 

8-44-204, C.R.S., as amended, and risk management, claims handling, and other functions 
and services related to such coverages. 

 
5.4 A Member who is participating in the Pool for one of the purposes set forth in Paragraph 5.3 of 

this Article may be authorized to participate in the Pool for the other of those purposes upon 
further compliance, as necessary, with Paragraph 5.1 of this Article and approval of the Board, 
subject to the payment of such sums and under such conditions as the Board in each case or from 
time-to-time establishes. 

 

ARTICLE 6. Board of Directors and Officers 
 
6.1 The Pool Board of Directors shall be composed of nine persons to be appointed by the SDA 

Board. Directors shall be appointed from among the Member Representatives, each from a 
different Member. At least one (1) Pool Director shall be appointed by the SDA Board from 
among the SDA directors. Pool Directors who are not SDA directors shall be appointed by the 
SDA Board from nominations received from Members. In no event may more than three Pool 
Directors be appointed from any one of the following types of special districts: Ambulance, Fire, 
Metropolitan, Park and Recreation, Sanitation, Water, Water and Sanitation, Hospital, or Library 
Districts. Nominations from the Members shall be submitted to the SDA Board at such time as 
the SDA Board may provide, and any nomination must be approved by the Board of Directors of 
the Member submitting the nomination. 

 
6.2 The Executive Director of the SDA shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting Director on the 

Board. 
 
6.3 Terms of the Directors shall be two-year, overlapping terms or until their successors have been 

appointed, except as provided herein. The term of office shall begin on a January 1, and end at 
midnight on a December 31, except that the Directors appointed to the first Board following the 
formation of the Pool shall begin their term prior to a January 1 if the SDA Board so directs. 
Directors may serve successive terms. The SDA Board shall appoint to the first Board following 
formation of the Pool, three Directors to serve one-year terms and four Directors to serve two year 
terms, with the successors of each appointed for two-year terms. Of the two additional persons to 
be appointed to the Board upon expansion of the Board from seven to nine persons, one shall be 
appointed to serve a one-year term and one shall be appointed to serve a two-year term, with the 
successors of each appointed for two-year terms; the terms of office of the two additional persons 
initially appointed may begin prior to a January 1 if the SDA Board so directs. 



4  

6.4 The officers of the Pool shall be: president, one or more vice presidents, secretary, one or more 
assistant secretaries, and comptroller. The officers shall be elected annually by and from among 
the Directors at the first meeting of the Board following each December 31. 

 
6.5 A vacancy shall occur on the Board when a Director: 

 
1. Submits a written resignation to the Board. 

 
2. Dies. 

 
3. Ceases to be a Member Representative. 

 
4. Fails to attend three consecutive regular meetings of the Board without the Board having 

entered upon its minutes an approval for an additional absence or absences, except that 
such additional absence or absences shall be excused for temporary mental or physical 
disability or illness. 

 
5. Is convicted of a felony. 

 
6.6 Any vacancy on the Board shall be filled by appointment by the SDA Board for the unexpired 

portion of the term. 
 

ARTICLE 7. Meetings of the Board of Directors 
 
7.1 The Board may set a time and place for regular meetings which may be held without further 

notice. The Members shall be notified of the time and place set for regular meetings. 
 
7.2 Special meetings may be called by the President or by a majority of the Directors by mailing 

written notice at least ten (10) days in advance to all Directors or by unanimously executed waiver 
of notice. 

 
7.3 Five Directors shall constitute a quorum to do business. All acts of the Board shall require 

approval of a majority of the Directors present, except as otherwise specifically provided in this 
Pool Agreement. 

 
7.4 One or more or all Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by means of a 

conference telephone or similar communications equipment by which all persons participating in 
the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute 
presence at the meeting. 

 
7.5 Any action of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the 

action so taken is signed by all Directors appointed to the Board. Such consent shall have the 
same effect as a unanimous vote. The consent may be executed in counterparts. 



5  

ARTICLE 8. Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors 
 
8.1 The business and affairs of the Pool shall be managed by the Board which shall exercise all the 

authority and powers and discharge all the duties of the Pool, except as is otherwise provided in 
this Pool Agreement. 

 
8.2 In addition to all other powers of the Board set out in this Pool Agreement, the Board shall have 

the power to: 
 

1. Exercise all powers necessary to carry out the purposes of the Pool. 
 

2. Retain agents, independent contractors and employees necessary to administer and achieve 
the purposes of the Pool, including, but not limited to, attorneys, accountants, 
investigators, experts, consultants, and others. 

 
3. Purchase, sell, encumber, and lease real property, and purchase, sell, encumber or lease 

equipment, machinery, and personal property. 
 

4. Invest money as allowed for the Pool by Colorado statutes or by lawful regulations 
adopted pursuant to Colorado statutes, as from time-to-time amended. 

 
5. Purchase excess insurance, stop-loss insurance, and reinsurance as the Board deems 

prudent. 
 

6. Adopt and adjust the coverages provided through the Pool. 
 

7. Adopt and adjust contributions to the Pool. 
 

8. Enter into contracts including, but not limited to, contracts for risk management, claim 
adjustment, and brokerage services. 

 
9. Reimburse Directors for reasonable and approved expenses, including expenses incurred in 

attending Board meetings, and pay compensation to each Director for his or her services   
in a sum not to exceed the maximum sum which may by statute be paid as compensation 
for services of directors on Colorado special district boards of directors. 

 
 

10. Purchase fidelity bonds from an insurance company approved by the Insurance 
Commissioner of the State of Colorado to do business in Colorado. 

 
11. Establish reasonable and necessary loss reduction, prevention and risk management 

policies and procedures to be followed by the Members. 
 

12. Appoint committees from time to time as the Board considers desirable. 



6  

13. Provide for claims and loss control procedures, and establish conditions to be met prior to 
the payment or defense of claims. 

 
14. Establish rules governing its own conduct and procedure, and the authority of its officers, 

not inconsistent with this Pool Agreement. 
 

15. Approve attorneys or firms of attorneys to represent Members in claims covered through 
the Pool. 

 
16. Delegate in writing fiduciary responsibilities or ministerial powers and duties to individual 

Directors or committees of the Board or to such agents, employees, and independent 
contractors as the Board considers desirable. 

 
8.3 In addition to all other duties of the Board set out in this Pool Agreement, the Board shall have the 

duty to: 
 

1. Have an audit of the financial affairs of the Pool be made annually by a certified public 
accountant in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and provide a copy thereof 
to each Member. 

 
2. Select a qualified actuary to conduct periodic reviews of the Pool's funds and any reviews 

required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado, and make recommendations to the 
Board based on such reviews. 

 
3. Designate one or more persons or entities to administer the Pool. 

 
4. Adopt a budget annually and report the budget to the Members. 

 
5. Three persons shall be appointed annually to an expulsion committee to serve until 

January 1 of the year following the appointment. One person, to be appointed by the 
Board, shall be a director on the board, one person, to be appointed by the Board, shall be 
a representative of the person(s) or entity(ies) providing general administrative services to 
the Pool, and one person, to be appointed by the SDA Board, shall be a member of the 
SDA Board. 

 

ARTICLE 9. Members' Powers and Meetings 
 
9.1 The Members shall have the power to: 

 
a. Amend the Pool Agreement by a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Members present at a 

meeting. Written notice of any proposed amendment shall be provided to each Member at 
least forty-five (45) days in advance of any vote on the amendment. 

 
b. Dissolve the Pool and disburse its assets by a two thirds (2/3) vote of the Members present 

at a meeting, pursuant to such notice and in keeping with such procedure as shall be 



7  

shall be established by the Board. Notice of the dissolution and plan for disbursement of 
assets and payment of the remaining obligations of the Pool shall be mailed to the 
Insurance Commissioner of Colorado at least ninety (90) days prior to the effective date of 
the dissolution. The plan for disbursement of assets and payment of the remaining 
obligations of the Pool shall not take effect until approved by the Insurance Commissioner 
of Colorado. Upon dissolution of the Pool, the assets of the Pool not used or needed for 
the purposes of the Pool, as determined by the Board and subject to approval by the 
Insurance Commissioner of Colorado, shall be distributed exclusively to Special Districts 
which are members of the Pool prior to dissolution to be used for one or more public 
purposes. 

 
9.2 Meetings of the Members shall be held as follows: 

 
a. Members shall meet at least once annually at a time and place to be set by the Board, with 

notice mailed to each Member at least thirty (30) days in advance. 
 

b. Special meetings may be called by the Board upon its own motion and shall be called by 
the Board upon written request of thirty (30) percent of the Members, with notice mailed 
to each Member at least thirty (30) days in advance. 

 
c. The president of the Pool shall preside at the meetings; a vice president of the Pool shall 

preside in the absence of the president. 
 

d. Twenty (20) percent of the Members shall constitute a quorum to do business. 
 

e. Proxy voting shall be allowed, pursuant to such procedures as the Board may determine. 
 
 

f. Each Member shall be entitled to one vote on each issue, to be cast by its Member 
Representative. 

 
g. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Pool Agreement, any amendment to the Pool 

Agreement, except an amendment relating to dissolution of the Pool, may be adopted 
without a meeting if an approval in writing, setting forth the amendment approved, is 
signed by the Member Representatives of at least two thirds (2/3) of the Members. The 
approval may be executed in counterparts. 

 
 

ARTICLE 10. Obligations of Members 
 
10.1 Each Member shall have the obligation to: 

 
a. Pay all contributions or other payments to the Pool at such times and in such amounts as 

shall be established by the Board. Any delinquent payments shall be paid with interest 
pursuant to a policy established by the Board and uniformly applied. 



8  

 

b. Designate in writing, a Member Representative and one or more alternates for the 
Members' meetings. The Representative and any alternate shall be an elected official, 
employee, or other designee of the Member, and may be changed from time-to-time. Any 
alternate may exercise all the powers of the Representative during a Member meeting in 
the absence of the Member Representative. 

 
c. Allow the Pool and its agents, contractors, employees and officers reasonable access to all 

facilities and records of the Member as required for the administration of the Pool. 
 
 

d. Cooperate fully with the Pool and all agents, contractors, employees and officers thereof in 
matters relating to the Pool. 

 
e. Provide information requested by the Pool, and all agents, contractors, employees, and 

officers thereof, as reasonably required for the administration of the Pool. 
 

f. Allow the Pool to make decisions regarding, and to designate attorneys to represent the 
Member in, the investigation, settlement and litigation of any claim within the scope of 
coverage furnished through the Pool. 

 
g. Comply with the claims, loss reduction, prevention and risk management policies and 

procedures established by the Board. 
 

h. Promptly report to the Pool all incidents or occurrences which could reasonably be 
expected to result in the Pool being required to consider a claim, in any form required by 
the Board and in compliance with any applicable excess insurance or reinsurance. 

 
i. Promptly report to the Pool the addition of new programs and facilities or the significant 

reduction or expansion of existing programs and facilities or other acts, as directed by the 
Board and in compliance with any applicable excess insurance or reinsurance. 

 
 

ARTICLE 11.  Contributions 
 
11.1 The Board shall establish Member contributions pursuant to guidelines established by the Board 

from time-to-time. The contributions may include an annual contribution and any additional 
contributions at such times and in such amounts as the Board deems necessary to insure the 
solvency and avoid impairment of the Pool or which the Board otherwise deems beneficial to 
protect the financial condition of the Pool. The Board may provide for disbursement of non- 
surplus credit balances which are, pursuant to guidelines adopted by the Board from time to time, 
due a member, and such disbursements shall not be subject to the provisions of paragraphs 11.2 or 
15.1. 

 
11.2 Any excess funds which the Board determines are not needed for the purposes of the Pool, may be 



9  

may be distributed among the Members and former Members, subject to Paragraph 15.1, pursuant 
to the following: 

 
1. Any such distribution may be in the form of credits against future contributions or in the 

form of payments, or a combination thereof, as the Board may determine. 
 

2. Money distributed for any claim year shall be distributed only to those Members and 
former Members which were Members during that claim year and shall be distributed in 
order of claim year contribution, with Members and former Members of the initial claim 
year to receive the initial credits. 

 
3. The amount which may be distributed for any claim year shall be established by the Board 

which shall have discretion as to the amount and timing of any distribution. That amount 
may not exceed the net sum of (i) the net income of the Pool for that claim year less (ii) the 
portion of the Pool's net income which equals the amount of the excess loss reserve of    
the claim year prior to the claim year (which is subject to the distribution) which was  
taken into income in that claim year plus (iii) the excess loss reserve for the claim year 
which is subject to the distribution. 

 
4. For the purpose of this paragraph 11.2, the term “excess loss reserves” means the amount 

by which the amounts credited to loss reserves and charged to operating expenses in any 
claim year exceed the actual losses (including loss adjustment expenses) for that claim 
year. 

 
5. The amount established by the Board for a claim year pursuant to paragraph c., above,  

shall be distributed among each Member and former Member which was a Member during 
that claim year based on the ratio which each Member's and former Member’s 
contribution (excluding any surplus contribution) for the claim year bears to the total 
contributions (excluding surplus contributions) for the claim year and less the 
contributions of former Members which are not eligible for a distribution pursuant to 
Paragraph 15.1. 

 
6. Excess surplus funds contributed by Members and former Members may be distributed 

only among such contributing Members or former Members, subject to the five year 
membership requirement of Paragraph 15.1. The Board has discretion to determine, from 
time to time, the amount and timing of any distribution of such funds. The amount 
established by the Board shall be distributed among each Member and eligible former 
Member based on the ratio which each Member’s and former Member’s surplus 
contribution bears to the total amount of surplus funds contributed to the Pool by 
Members and former Members. 

 
7. No distribution of excess funds, including excess surplus funds contributed by Members, 

shall be made to any Member or former Member which owes any amount to the Pool until 
the amount so owed is paid, and any amount so owed may be deducted from the 
distribution to the Member or former Member. 



10  

 

8. No distribution of excess funds, including excess surplus funds contributed by Members, 
shall cause the Pool to become impaired or insolvent. 

 
11.3 The total amount of surplus shall be determined by the Board from time-to-time, but in no event 

shall be less than that required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado, and the Board may 
require all Members to make additional contributions to surplus as the Board deem necessary, or 
the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado may require. 

 
11.4 The Pool shall account separately for contributions made for the property and liability coverages 

authorized by sections 24-10-115.5 and 29-13-102, C.R.S., as amended, and for contributions 
made for the workers’ compensation coverage authorized by sections 8-44-101(1)(C) and (3) and 
8-44-204, C.R.S., as amended. 

 
11.5 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the Pool Board may establish 

from any contributions or other assets of the Pool the initial minimum surplus for workers’ 
compensation coverage required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado; provided that 
contributions or other assets derived from coverages other than workers’ compensation shall not 
be used to establish such minimum surplus unless and until the Board first determines that 
workers’ compensation contributions are or will be insufficient to fund such surplus in the 
amounts and within the time required by the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado; and provided 
further, that such minimum surplus shall be established from contributions for workers’ 
compensation coverage as soon as the Board determines practicable consistent with ensuring the 
solvency and avoiding the impairment of the Pool. The Board may issue subordinated debt to 
establish such minimum surplus consistent with applicable requirements of the Insurance 
Commissioner of Colorado. 

 
11.6 The Pool shall repay the Special District Association of Colorado for its ongoing services to the 

Pool, provided subsequent to the creation of the Pool, within such time and in such amount as the 
SDA Board and Pool Board may agree. 

 

ARTICLE 12. Liability of Directors, Officers and Employees 
 
12.1 No Director, officer, committee member, or employee of the Pool shall be personally liable for  

any acts performed or omitted in good faith. The Pool shall indemnify each Director, officer, 
committee member, and employee of the Pool against any and all expense including attorney fees 
and liability expenses sustained by them, or any of them in connection with any suit or suits which 
may be brought against them involving or pertaining to any of their acts or duties performed for 
this Pool or omitted in good faith. This provision shall not be deemed to prevent compromises of 
any such litigation where the compromise is deemed advisable in order to prevent greater expense 
or cost in the defense or prosecution of such litigation. 

 
12.2 The Pool shall obtain a fidelity bond or other bond to guarantee the faithful performance of each 

Director's, officer's and employee's duties hereunder, and shall make reasonable effort to obtain 
errors and omissions coverage for each Director, officer, committee member, and employee of the 



11  

employee of the Pool. The Pool shall obtain bonds for all Directors, officers, committee 
members, and employees who handle or have access to Pool funds, in an amount which the Board 
deems appropriate but no less than the minimum amount deemed necessary by the Insurance 
Commissioner of Colorado. 

 

ARTICLE 13. Withdrawal of Members 
 
13.1 Any Member may withdraw from the Pool by giving written notice to the Board of its intent to 

withdraw at least sixty (60) days prior to the Member's coverage renewal date. A Member which 
has different renewal dates for different coverages must give such written notice at least sixty (60) 
days prior to the first renewal date following any January 1. Unless a different date is agreed to by 
the Board and the Member, the withdrawal shall be effective on the Member's coverage renewal 
date but, if the Member has different renewal dates for different coverages, the withdrawal shall   
be effective the latest renewal date following the written notice of withdrawal. After the notice of 
withdrawal is given, no coverage will be renewed but all coverages will remain in effect only until 
their respective expiration dates. 

 
13.2 Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, any Member which dissolves or which is 

consolidated with another Special District shall be considered a withdrawn Member with the same 
rights and obligations under this agreement as any other withdrawn Member, such withdrawal to 
be effective on the date of dissolution or consolidation, as the case may be. Notwithstanding 
paragraph 15.1 and under the following circumstances only, a Special District shall receive the 
credits against its future contributions to the Pool otherwise allocable to a dissolved or 
consolidated Member pursuant to paragraph 11.2: 

 
1. If the Special District was formed by a consolidation which included such a Member, the 

Special District assumed all rights of that Member under this agreement, and the Special 
District is a Member no later than one year after the effective date of the consolidation; or, 

 
 

2. If the Special District assumed all rights of a dissolved Member under this agreement, and 
the Special District is a Member no later than one year after the effective date of the 
dissolution. 

 
A Special District entitled to receive such credits of a dissolved or consolidated Member shall not 
be obligated for any liabilities to the Pool of the dissolved or consolidated Member in excess of 
the amount of such credits. 

 

ARTICLE 14. Expulsion of Members 
 
14.1 A Member which fails to make a contribution or other payment due to the Pool shall be 

automatically expelled from the Pool on the sixtieth (60) day following the due date, unless time 
for payment is extended by the Board and payment is made within any extended period. A notice 
of failure to make a contribution or other payment due to the Pool shall be mailed to the Member 
at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of automatic expulsion. If payment is not made within 



12  

not made within any extended period, the automatic expulsion shall occur on a date, no later than 
twenty (20) days after the last day of the extended period, set by the Board. An expulsion under 
this paragraph 14.1 shall not be subject to the provisions of paragraph 14.2. 

 
14.2 A Member may be expelled by the Board for failure to carry out any other obligation of the 

Member, or for failure to maintain its membership in the Special District Association of Colorado 
if such membership was required by the Board at the time the Member was admitted to the Pool, 
subject to the following: 

 
1. The Member shall receive notice from the Board of the alleged failure and not less than 

thirty (30) days in which to cure the alleged failure, along with notice that expulsion may 
result if the failure is not so cured. 

 
2. The Member shall receive at least thirty (30) days prior notice from the Board, of the date, 

place and time when the Board will consider expelling the Member from the Pool, and the 
Member shall be entitled to be present at that meeting and to present evidence and reasons 
why it should not be expelled. The decision of the Board shall be effective as of the date 
and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Pool Agreement and applicable excess 
or reinsurance policies and otherwise specified by the Board, except as provided in 
paragraph c. 

 
3. The Member may appeal the Board's decision to the expulsion committee, which shall 

schedule a hearing thereon. The Member and the Board shall be provided at least ten (10) 
days prior written notice of the date, time and place of the hearing. The appealing 
Member shall be entitled to be present at that hearing and to present evidence and reasons 
why it should not be expelled and the Board may present evidence and reasons why 
expulsion is proper. The decision of the expulsion committee shall be final and any 
expulsion effective as of the date and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Pool 
Agreement and applicable excess or reinsurance policies, and otherwise specified by the 
Board. 

 

ARTICLE 15. Effect of Withdrawal or Expulsion 
 
15.1 No withdrawn or expelled Member shall be entitled to any reimbursement of contributions or 

distribution or excess funds, including excess surplus funds contributed by Members, unless the 
Member was a Member for at least five consecutive years. 

 
15.2 A withdrawn or expelled Member shall remain obligated for all amounts owing at the time of 

withdrawal or expulsion for the years during which the member was an active member of the Pool 
and for all amounts which thereafter become owing for such years pursuant to the Pool Agreement 
and any other Pool documents which are in effect at the time of withdrawal. 

 
15.3 A withdrawn or expelled Member shall be considered a Member of the Pool for the purpose of 

payment of the Member's claims and expenses related thereto which remain covered under the 
terms of coverage existing at the time of withdrawal. A withdrawn or expelled Member shall 



13  

shall remain subject to all conditions of coverage and obligations of a Member which are in effect 
at the time of withdrawal. A withdrawn or expelled Member shall have no right to vote on any 
matter pending before the Pool membership. 

 
15.4 No withdrawn or expelled Member may be adversely affected by any change in the Pool 

Agreement or other Pool documents adopted subsequent to the effective date of the Member's 
withdrawal or expulsion. 

 
15.5 Unless disapproved by an affected excess carrier or reinsurer, the Pool shall offer a withdrawing   

or expelled Member, no later than forty-five (45) days after the expulsion or Board's receipt of the 
written notice of withdrawal, at least twenty-four (24) months extended reporting period on any 
claims-made coverage provided through the Pool, at a cost reasonably calculated by the Board and 
subject to any contracts existing at the time of withdrawal or expulsion. 

 
 

ARTICLE 16. Miscellaneous 
 

16.1 This document constitutes an intergovernmental agreement among those Special Districts which 
become Members of the Pool. The terms of this agreement may be enforced in court by the Pool 
or by any of its Members. The consideration for the duties herewith imposed on the Members to 
take certain actions and to refrain from certain other actions shall be based upon the mutual 
promises and agreements of the Members set forth herein. 

 
16.2 A certified or attested copy of the resolution of approval for each Member shall be attached to the 

Member's Pool Agreement on file with the Pool. 
 

16.3 Except to the extent of the limited financial contributions to the Pool agreed to herein or such 
additional obligations as may come about through amendments to this Pool Agreement, the 
contracting parties intend in the creation of the Pool to establish an organization to operate only 
within the scope herein set out and have not otherwise created as between Member and Member 
any relationship of surety, indemnification or responsibility for the debts of or claims against any 
other Member. 

 
16.4 The provisions of this Pool Agreement and of the other documents referred to herein, and the 

assets of the Pool, are for the benefit of the Members of the Pool only, and no other persons or 
entitles shall have any rights or interest in this Pool Agreement or in any of the other documents 
referred to herein, or in any such assets, as a third party beneficiary or otherwise. The assets of the 
Pool shall not be subject to attachment, garnishment, or any equitable proceeding. 

 
16.5 It is the intention of the Members that the Pool and any income of the Pool not be subject to 

taxation, and the Members shall cooperate in such respects, including amending this Pool 
Agreement, as reasonably necessary to establish and maintain the non-taxable status of the Pool. 



14  

16.6 The Insurance Commissioner of Colorado shall have such authority with respect to the formation 
and operation of the Pool as is provided by applicable Colorado law. 

 
16.7 Except as permitted in this Pool Agreement, and amendments hereto, neither the Board nor any 

other person or entity is authorized to incur liabilities or obligations or enter into contracts on 
behalf of the Members. 

 
16.8 "Insolvency" as applied to the Pool shall have the meaning as defined in Section 10-3-212, C.R.S., 

as amended, or as the Insurance Commissioner of Colorado may otherwise provide. 
 
16.9 The statutory reporting period for the Pool shall be the calendar year or such other period as the 

Insurance Commissioner of Colorado may provide. 
 
16.10 If any provision of this Pool Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the other provisions, and this Pool 
Agreement is expressly declared to be severable. 

 
16.11 If the Board or its authorized representative and a Member disagree on whether a loss is covered 

through the Pool or on the amount of a covered loss, the Board or its authorized representative or 
the Member may request that the disagreement be submitted to binding arbitration as follows: 

 
 

1. Unless otherwise agreed by the Board or its authorized representative and the Member, 
three persons shall be selected for the arbitration panel, one by the Board or its authorized 
representative, one by the Member, and one by the two so selected to act as umpire to 
decide the items upon which the other two disagree. If the two so selected fail for fifteen 
days to agree upon the umpire, the umpire shall be selected by a judge of a court of record 
agreed to by the Board or its authorized representative and the Member. 

 
 

2. The decision of the panel shall be binding on the Board or its authorized representative 
and the Member. 

 
 

3. The Pool shall pay the fees and expenses of the panelist selected by the Board or its 
authorized representative, the Member shall pay the fees and expenses of the panelist 
selected by it, and the fees and expenses of the umpire shall be shared equally by the Pool 
and the Member. 

 
Dated:    

Special District: 

By:  
 

Title: Chairman, Board of Directors and President 



15  

Date: 

Attest: 

By:    
Title: Secretary 



 
 

 
 
2021 AGENCY SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 
 
District Name:  
 
T. Charles Wilson Insurance Service (“the Agency”) agrees to act as Insurance Agent, 
representing its multiple resources, for the above-named District. The agent’s services 
for property and liability shall include the following: 

 
1. Review the District’s coverage needs, budgets and future plans with the District’s 

Project Manager and, if requested, the District’s Board or the Board’s designated 
representative. 

 
2. Review property coverage including physical inspection of the District’s property 

locations (if requested), if the District has real and/or personal property it wishes to 
insure. 

 
3. Prepare and submit applications to the Colorado Special Districts Property and 

Liability Pool and at the request of District other standard carriers.   
  

4. Present all quotations on a “net of commission” basis (no commissions in the price) if 
total annual premiums are less than $6,000. If over $6,000, quotes will include 
commission and no fee will be charged. 

 
5. Prepare separate billings – one for quoted net premiums and one for the services of 

the Agency. 
 

6. Provide claim services including but not limited to: taking initial calls or reports of 
claims from Districts Representative or claimants; reporting claims to the districts 
insurance company; providing insurance related counsel and advice during the 
claim process to the District and its Representatives; fielding calls from claimants; 
directing insurance company adjustors to District Representatives. 

 
7. Provide ancillary services on an as-needed basis, including, but not limited to 

contract language review for insurance purposes (only) or aid in negotiating 
required insurance terms with entities either requiring insurance of the District or 
required to have insurance by the District. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
AGENCY SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
FEES 
If the total annual premiums of the below policies purchased by the district through the 
Agency are less than $6,000, then the Agency shall charge the following fees in lieu of 
commissions: 

 
$495.00 annual fee: Liability, Public Officials Liability, Automobile Liability. 
$280.00 annual fee: Additional if property coverage is required.  
 
*Fees are invoiced annually and subject to normal increases.  

 
Illegal Aliens Provision. The Agency certifies that the Agency shall comply with the provisions 
of Section 8-17.5-101 et seq., C.R.S. The Agency shall not knowingly employ or contract with 
an illegal alien to perform work under this Agreement or enter into an agreement with a 
subcontractor that knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien to perform work under 
this Agreement. The Agency represents, warrants, and agrees that it (i) has confirmed the 
employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work 
under this agreement through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department 
Program described in Section 8-17.5-101, C.R.S.  The Agency shall not use either the E-Verify 
Program or the Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of 
job applicants while the public contract for services is being performed.  If the Agency obtains 
actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work under this contract knowingly 
employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the Agency shall: (i) notify the subcontractor and 
the District within three days that the Agency has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is 
employing or contracting with an illegal alien; and (ii) terminate the subcontract with the 
subcontractor if within three days of receiving such notice, the subcontractor does not stop 
employing or contracting with the illegal alien, unless the subcontractor provides information 
to establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal 
alien. The Agency shall comply with all reasonable requests made in the course of an 
investigation by the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment.  If the Agency fails to 
comply with any requirement of Section 8-17.5-102(2), C.R.S., the District may terminate this 
Agreement for breach and the Agency shall be liable for actual and consequential damages 
to the District.  If the Agency participates in the Department Program, the Agency shall provide 
the affirmation required under Section 8-17.5-102(5)(e)(III), C.R.S., to the District. 

 
Please acknowledge your agreement with the terms herein by signing below. The 
obligation for payment of the above fees shall be the responsibility of the District signing 
below. 

 
  
Signature 

  
Name of Person Signing – Printed or Typed 

  
Name of Organization represented by 
above signor – Printed or Typed 

  
Date 



 
 

 
 
2021 AGENCY SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 
 
District Name:  
 
T. Charles Wilson Insurance Service (“the Agency”) agrees to act as Insurance Agent, 
representing its multiple resources, for the above-named District. The agent’s services 
for property and liability shall include the following: 

 
1. Review the District’s coverage needs, budgets and future plans with the District’s 

Project Manager and, if requested, the District’s Board or the Board’s designated 
representative. 

 
2. Review property coverage including physical inspection of the District’s property 

locations (if requested), if the District has real and/or personal property it wishes to 
insure. 

 
3. Prepare and submit applications to the Colorado Special Districts Property and 

Liability Pool and at the request of District other standard carriers.   
  

4. Present all quotations on a “net of commission” basis (no commissions in the price) if 
total annual premiums are less than $6,000. If over $6,000, quotes will include 
commission and no fee will be charged. 

 
5. Prepare separate billings – one for quoted net premiums and one for the services of 

the Agency. 
 

6. Provide claim services including but not limited to: taking initial calls or reports of 
claims from Districts Representative or claimants; reporting claims to the districts 
insurance company; providing insurance related counsel and advice during the 
claim process to the District and its Representatives; fielding calls from claimants; 
directing insurance company adjustors to District Representatives. 

 
7. Provide ancillary services on an as-needed basis, including, but not limited to 

contract language review for insurance purposes (only) or aid in negotiating 
required insurance terms with entities either requiring insurance of the District or 
required to have insurance by the District. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
AGENCY SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
FEES 
If the total annual premiums of the below policies purchased by the district through the 
Agency are less than $6,000, then the Agency shall charge the following fees in lieu of 
commissions: 

 
$495.00 annual fee: Liability, Public Officials Liability, Automobile Liability. 
$280.00 annual fee: Additional if property coverage is required.  
 
*Fees are invoiced annually and subject to normal increases.  

 
Illegal Aliens Provision. The Agency certifies that the Agency shall comply with the provisions 
of Section 8-17.5-101 et seq., C.R.S. The Agency shall not knowingly employ or contract with 
an illegal alien to perform work under this Agreement or enter into an agreement with a 
subcontractor that knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien to perform work under 
this Agreement. The Agency represents, warrants, and agrees that it (i) has confirmed the 
employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work 
under this agreement through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department 
Program described in Section 8-17.5-101, C.R.S.  The Agency shall not use either the E-Verify 
Program or the Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of 
job applicants while the public contract for services is being performed.  If the Agency obtains 
actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work under this contract knowingly 
employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the Agency shall: (i) notify the subcontractor and 
the District within three days that the Agency has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is 
employing or contracting with an illegal alien; and (ii) terminate the subcontract with the 
subcontractor if within three days of receiving such notice, the subcontractor does not stop 
employing or contracting with the illegal alien, unless the subcontractor provides information 
to establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal 
alien. The Agency shall comply with all reasonable requests made in the course of an 
investigation by the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment.  If the Agency fails to 
comply with any requirement of Section 8-17.5-102(2), C.R.S., the District may terminate this 
Agreement for breach and the Agency shall be liable for actual and consequential damages 
to the District.  If the Agency participates in the Department Program, the Agency shall provide 
the affirmation required under Section 8-17.5-102(5)(e)(III), C.R.S., to the District. 

 
Please acknowledge your agreement with the terms herein by signing below. The 
obligation for payment of the above fees shall be the responsibility of the District signing 
below. 

 
  
Signature 

  
Name of Person Signing – Printed or Typed 

  
Name of Organization represented by 
above signor – Printed or Typed 

  
Date 



2303.4701; 1110443 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ACQUISITION 
AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

_______________________________ 

This PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS ACQUISITION AND REIMBURSEMENT 
AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of March 17, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation  of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and MAYBERRY 
COMMUNITIES, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (“Communities”).  The Authority 
and Communities are collectively referred to herein as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 17, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities (collectively, the “Public Improvements”) 
permitted by the Constitution and laws of the State of Colorado and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 29-1-203.5(2)(a), C.R.S., the Authority may, to the extent 
provided by the Establishment Agreement, exercise any general power of a special district 
specified in Part 10 of Article 1 of Title 32, C.R.S.; and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the Establishment Agreement, the Authority has the power 

to acquire real and personal property, manage, control and supervise the affairs of the Authority, 
including the acquisition, financing, construction and installation of the Public Improvements, and 
to perform all other necessary and appropriate functions in furtherance of the Establishment 
Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the Authority was established to coordinate the acquisition, financing, 
construction, and installation of the Public Improvements in connection with development within 
the boundaries of the Authority (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Authority is presently without sufficient funds to provide the Public 
Improvements in a timely manner to support the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined that a delay in the provision of the Public 
Improvements will impair the successful development of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, Communities has incurred or intends to incur costs related to the financing, 
construction, and installation of Public Improvements that may be lawfully funded by the 
Authority under the Establishment Agreement, including without limitation: (a) the costs of labor 
and materials, furnishings and equipment; (b) the costs of insurance premiums, indemnity and 
fidelity bonds or other municipal or governmental charges lawfully levied or assessed; (c) the costs 
of surveys, appraisals, plans, designs, specifications, and estimates; (d) the costs, fees, and 
expenses of engineers, architects, construction management, financial consultants, accountants, 



2303.4701; 1110443 2 

legal advisors, or other agents or employees; (e) the costs of demolition, removal, and relocation; 
(f) the costs of establishing the Authority; and (g) all other lawful costs as determined by the Board 
(the “Authority Eligible Costs”); and 

WHEREAS, Authority  Eligible Costs shall become “Certified Authority  Eligible Costs” 
after the Authority has adopted an Acceptance Resolution in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to establish the terms and conditions for the acquisition of 
certain Public Improvements constructed or caused to be constructed by Communities to be owned 
by the Authority or other governmental entity, and the reimbursement of Certified Authority  
Eligible Costs; and  

WHEREAS, the Public Improvements will benefit the public, is in the public interest, and 
will contribute to the health, safety and welfare of the public; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority does not intend to direct the design or construction of any Public 
Improvements by way of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, as of the date of this Agreement the exact scope of the Public Improvements 
which may be acquired by the Authority in accordance with § 32-1-1001(f), C.R.S., and subject to 
the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, is unknown; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties do not intend hereby to enter into a public works contract as 
defined in § 24-91-103.5(1)(b), C.R.S.; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties do not intend hereby to enter into a contract for work or materials 
in accordance with § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S.; and   

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Establishment Agreement and § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., 
the Authority is permitted to enter into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the 
Authority; and 

WHEREAS, accordingly, the Board of Directors of the Authority (the “Board”) has 
determined that the best interests of the Authority, its Members (as that term is defined in the 
Establishment Agreement), and the public, would be served by entering into this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has authorized its officers to execute this Agreement and to take all 
other actions necessary and desirable to effectuate the purposes of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises expressed 
herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

1. Purpose of Agreement.  The Parties acknowledge that the Authority does not 
presently have the funds necessary for the acquisition, financing, construction, and installation of 
the Public Improvements, but in furtherance of the purposes of the Authority, this Agreement shall 



2303.4701; 1110443 3 

establish the terms and conditions for the acquisition of certain Public Improvements financed and 
constructed or caused to be constructed by Communities that is to be owned by the Authority, and 
the  reimbursement of Certified Authority Eligible Costs incurred by Communities.. 

2. Items Required for Acquisition of Public Improvements by the Authority.   The 
Authority shall acquire all or a portion of the Public Improvements which are intended to be 
conveyed to the Authority for ownership, operation and maintenance after receipt, review and 
approval by the Authority of the following: 

a. A complete set of digital record drawings of the Public Infrastructure which 
are certified by a professional engineer registered in the State of Colorado or a licensed land 
surveyor, showing accurate dimensions and location of all Public Improvements.  Such drawings 
shall be in form and content reasonably acceptable to the Authority; 

b. Evidence that any underground facilities are electronically locatable (if 
applicable); 

c. Test results for improvements conforming to industry standards 
(compaction test results, concrete tickets, hardscape test results, cut-sheets, etc.) (if applicable);  

d. Pressure test results for any irrigation system (if applicable);  

e. Assignment of any warranties or guaranties (if applicable); 

f. Any operation and maintenance manuals;  

g. An Indemnification Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, 
whereby Communities  agrees to indemnify the Authority for any mechanic or materialman’s liens 
from suppliers and subcontractors, or lien waivers from each subcontractor verifying that all 
amounts due for such Public Improvements has been paid in full; 

h. An executed Bill of Sale conveying the Public Improvements to the 
Authority; 

i. If the Authority is to assume ownership of any real property, a Special 
Warranty Deed, in a form acceptable to the Authority, conveying the real property to the Authority; 
and 

j. A warranty agreement (the “Warranty Agreement”) addressing 
Communities commitment to repair, replace or fund the repair or replacement of any defective 
portion of such Public Improvements during a period of two years from the date of Authority 
Public Improvements Acquisition (defined below).  The Authority shall be responsible for 
operating and maintaining the Public Improvements in good condition and repair during the 
Warranty Period. 

3. Authority Public Improvements Acquisition. Upon substantial completion of 
Public Improvements or a component thereof which is intended to be conveyed to the Authority 



2303.4701; 1110443 4 

for ownership, operation and maintenance, Communities shall obtain Authority Public 
Improvements Acquisition by the Authority in accordance with the following procedures: 

a. Communities shall give written notice to the Authority requesting an 
inspection of the completed Public Improvements (the “Inspection Notice”) and concurrently 
therewith provide construction plans and any applicable construction standards; 

b. The Authority’s engineer (who must be a civil engineer licensed in 
Colorado having experience in the design and construction of public improvements) and 
Communities shall jointly inspect the Public Improvements within 21 days of the Inspection Notice 
(the “Inspection”), unless the Parties mutually agree to extend the deadline; 

c. If the Authority’s engineer finds after Inspection that: (1) the Public 
Improvements (or its individual components and/or subsystems, if applicable) has been 
constructed in substantial accordance with the construction plans and any applicable construction 
standards (subject to any reasonable punch list items to correct any defective work); and (2) the 
Public Improvements is fit for its intended purpose, then within 14 days after the Inspection, unless 
the Parties mutually agree to extend the deadline, the Authority’s engineer shall notify the 
Authority in writing of its findings and provide certification of the same (the “Engineer 
Certification”); 

d. If any defective work is identified during the Inspection, the Authority 
engineer will prepare a punch list of items requiring remedial action to correct any defective work.  
Such corrective work will be performed by Communities within 60 days of the issuance of an 
Engineer Certification and in accordance with the Warranty Agreement. 

e. Not later than 30 days following receipt of the Engineer Certification, unless 
the Parties mutually agree to extend the deadline, the Authority shall by adoption of a resolution 
acquire the Public Improvements and deliver to Communities written notice of acquisition 
(“Authority Public Improvements Acquisition”).  The Authority Public Improvements 
Acquisition shall not be arbitrarily, capriciously, or unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or 
delayed. 

4. Reimbursement for Authority Eligible Costs.  Pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement, Communities may be reimbursed for the following categories of Authority Eligible 
Costs. 

a. Public Improvements which are intended to be conveyed to the Authority 
for ownership, operation and maintenance, only after the requirements of Section 2 and Section 3 
have been met and the Authority issues an Authority Public Improvements Acquisition for such 
Public Improvements.  

b. Public Improvements which are intended to be conveyed to another 
governmental entity with final, preliminary or conditional acceptance by the applicable 
governmental entity. 

c. Public Improvements which are intended to be conveyed to another 
governmental entity without final, preliminary or conditional acceptance by such governmental 



2303.4701; 1110443 5 

entity upon submission of a copy of the developer’s agreement (or equivalent agreement) with the 
applicable governmental entity requiring the completion and final acceptance of such Public 
Improvements and the means by which such completion and final acceptance (including any 
corrective work or punch list items) are secured. 

d. Funds that Communities  has advanced to or on behalf of the Authority for 
Authority Eligible Costs (the “Payment Advance”) by providing copies of all invoices or 
statements and evidence of payment thereof equal to the proposed Payment Advance, and copies 
of the applicable contract, agreement, or document evidencing the Payment Advance.  Simple 
interest shall accrue at a rate not to exceed the prime interest rate plus two points on each Payment 
Advance from the date of deposit into the Authority’s account or from the date of direct payment 
by Communities. 

5. Item Required for Reimbursement of Authority Eligible Costs.  The Authority shall 
review the follow items prior to the adoption of an Acceptance Resolution (defined below): 

a. Communities shall initiate a request for reimbursement of Authority 
Eligible Costs by submitting a completed “Application for Acceptance of Authority Eligible 
Costs” on the Authority’s standard form, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B;  

b. The Authority’s engineer shall review the invoices and other material 
presented to substantiate the Authority Eligible Costs and shall issue a cost certification in form 
and substance reasonably acceptable to the Authority declaring the total amount of Authority 
Eligible Costs associated with the Public Improvements proposed for acquisition and/or 
reimbursement, and that such costs are reasonable and appropriate for the type of Public 
Improvements being constructed (the “Engineer’s Cost Certification”); 

c. The Authority’s accountant shall review the Engineer’s Cost Certification  
and invoices and other material presented to substantiate the Authority Eligible Costs and shall 
issue a cost certification in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Authority  declaring 
the total amount of Authority  Eligible Costs associated with the Public Improvements proposed 
for acquisition and/or reimbursement (the “Accountant’s Cost Certification”). 

6. Acceptance Resolution.   

a. No later than 45 days, unless the Parties mutually agree to extend the 
deadline, following receipt of a satisfactory Application for Acceptance of Authority Eligible 
Costs,  Engineer’s Cost Certification, and Accountant Cost Certification, the Authority shall accept 
the Authority Eligible Costs by adopting a resolution declaring satisfaction of the conditions to 
acceptance as set forth in this Agreement, subject to any variances or waivers which the Authority  
may allow in its sole and absolute discretion, and with any reasonable conditions the Authority 
may specify (the “Acceptance Resolution”).   

b. The Authority may, in its sole discretion, retain up to 10% of Authority 
Eligible Costs for Public Improvements which are intended to be conveyed to another 
governmental entity without final, preliminary or conditional acceptance by such governmental 
entity.  If the Authority elects to retain any Authority Eligible Costs, interest shall not accrue on 



2303.4701; 1110443 6 

such Authority Eligible Costs and the retain amount shall be released upon final, preliminary or 
conditional acceptance as set forth in the related Acceptance Resolution. 

7. Payment of Certified Authority Eligible Costs. 

a. The Parties agree that no payment or reimbursement shall be required under 
this Agreement unless and until the Authority has adopted an Acceptance Resolution.  Acceptance 
by the Authority of Certified Authority Eligible Costs as set forth in the Acceptance Resolution 
does NOT guarantee that the Authority does or shall in the future have the financial ability to pay 
the Certified Authority Eligible Costs in part or in full.  It is the intent of the Parties that 
Communities be reimbursed Certified Authority Eligible Costs from Proceeds (as defined below). 

b. The Authority anticipates issuing bonds, loans or other obligations (the 
“Bonds”) in the near term, and shall use the proceeds of the Bonds (the “Proceeds”) to reimburse 
Communities for the Certified Authority Eligible Costs concurrently with or as soon as possible 
following closing of the Bonds.  In the event that the Authority has not issued Bonds in an amount 
sufficient to reimburse Communities under this Agreement by December 31, 2026, then as soon 
as possible thereafter, the Authority, at the request of Communities, shall exercise commercially 
reasonable efforts to issue a promissory note or other privately placed debt instrument to 
Communities for the Certified Authority Eligible Costs which have not been previously 
reimbursed with the Proceeds (a “Reimbursement Obligation”). 

c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent Bonds have not been issued, 
the Authority may, in its sole discretion, make payments to Communities from available funds 
after the payment of the Authority’s annual debt service, operations, maintenance and 
administrative expenses, subject to any Service Plan limits, electoral authorization, or debt 
instrument restriction or condition. 

d. The obligations of the Authority in this Agreement are subject to annual 
appropriation and shall not be deemed to be multiple fiscal year obligations for the purposes of 
Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution.  The determination to issue Bonds is a 
legislative function of the Board and is subject to constitutional, statutory, and regulatory 
procedures.  

8. Interest on Certified Authority Eligible Costs.  With respect to any Certified 
Authority Eligible Costs accepted in accordance with this Agreement, excluding Payment 
Advances, such Certified Authority Eligible Costs shall bear simple interest not to exceed the 
prime interest rate plus two points from the effective date of the related Acceptance Resolution.  

9. Default/Remedies.  In the event of a breach or default of this Agreement by any 
Party, the non-defaulting Party/Parties, after having given notice to the other Party and a 30-day 
period to cure said breach or default, shall be entitled to exercise all remedies available at law or 
in equity.  In the event of any litigation, arbitration or other proceeding to enforce the terms, 
covenants or conditions hereof, the prevailing Party/Parties in such proceeding shall obtain as part 
of its/their judgment or award its/their reasonable attorneys’ and expert witness fees and court 
costs. 



2303.4701; 1110443 7 

10. Termination of Reimbursement Obligation.  

a. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the Authority’s 
obligation to reimburse Communities for any and all Authority Eligible Costs or Certified 
Authority Eligible Costs shall terminate automatically and be of no further force or effect upon the 
occurrence of: (a) Communities voluntary dissolution, liquidation and winding up; (b) 
administrative dissolution (or other legal process not initiated by Communities, dissolving 
Communities  as a legal entity) that is not remedied or cured within 60 days or the effective date 
of such dissolution or other process; or (c) the initiation of bankruptcy, receivership or similar 
process or actions with regard to Communities (whether voluntary or involuntary).  The 
termination of the Authority’s reimbursement obligations set forth in this Section shall be absolute 
and binding upon Communities and its successors and assigns. Communities, by its execution of 
this Agreement, waives and releases any and all claims and rights, whether existing now or in the 
future, against the Authority relating to or arising out of the Authority’s reimbursement obligations 
under this Agreement, in the event that any of the occurrences described in this Section occur. 

b. Furthermore, the Authority’s obligations under this Agreement shall 
terminate at the earlier of the repayment in full of the Certified Authority Eligible Costs or 20 years 
from the execution date hereof.  After 20 years from the execution of this Agreement, the Parties 
hereby agree and acknowledge that any obligation of the Authority to reimburse Communities due 
and outstanding under this Agreement, including accrued interest, is forgiven in its entirety, 
generally and unconditionally released, waived, acquitted and forever discharged, and shall be 
deemed a contribution to the Authority by Communities  and there shall be no further obligation 
of the Authority to pay or reimburse the Authority with respect to such amounts.  

11. Notices and Place for Payments.  All notices, demands and communications 
(collectively, “Notices”) under this Agreement shall be delivered or sent, addressed to the address 
of the intended recipient set forth below or such other address as a Party may designate by notice 
pursuant to this Section, by: (a) first class, registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested, (b) nationally recognized overnight carrier, or (c) sent by confirmed facsimile 
transmission or email.  Notices shall be deemed given either one business day after delivery to the 
overnight carrier, three days after being mailed as provided in clause (a) or (b) above, or upon 
confirmed delivery as provided in clause (c) above. 

To the Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority  
Public Alliance, LLC 
Attn:  AJ Beckman, Authority Manager 
355 S Teller Street, Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80026 
(303) 877-6284  (phone) 
aj@publicalliancellc.com 

  
 With Copy To: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 East Commons Avenue, Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attn:  Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 

mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com


2303.4701; 1110443 8 

(303) 858-1800  (phone) 
(303) 858-1801  (fax) 
jtanaka@wbapc.com 
 

To Communities  Mayberry Communities, LLC 
1323 Stratford Court 
Del Mar, California 92014 
Attn: Kirk Miller, Esq. 
(858) 259-5888 
krik@kirkmillerlaw.net  
 

12. Amendments.  This Agreement may only be amended or modified by a writing 
executed by the Parties. 

13. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be illegal, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any 
remaining portion of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in 
lieu of such illegal, void or unenforceable provision, there shall automatically be added as part of 
this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so 
that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid and enforceable. 

14. Governing Law/Venue.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the 
State of Colorado, without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application 
of any law other than the law of the State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions arising from this 
Agreement shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.   

15. Assignment.  This Agreement may not be assigned by either Party and any attempt 
to do so shall be null and void. 

16. Authority.  By execution hereof, the Authority and Communities represent and 
warrant that their representative signing hereunder has full power and lawful authority to execute 
this Agreement and to bind the respective Party to the terms hereof. 

17. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes and represents the entire, integrated 
agreement between the Parties with respect to the matters set forth herein, and hereby supersedes 
any and all prior negotiations, representations, agreements or arrangements of any kind with 
respect to those matters, whether written or oral.  This Agreement shall become effective upon the 
date set forth above.  

18. Inurement.  The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the 
benefit of the Parties as well as their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

19. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, 
limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available 
by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other 
person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 



2303.4701; 1110443 9 

available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S. 

20. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against 
one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by 
counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed substantially 
and materially to the preparation of this Agreement. 

21. Parties Interested Herein.  Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is 
intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person other than the Parties any 
right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any covenants, terms, conditions, 
or provisions thereof, and all the covenants, terms, conditions, and provisions in this Agreement 
by and on behalf of the Parties shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Parties. 

22. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, 
each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the 
same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF 
document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto. 

[Signature page follows.] 



Signature page to Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority Public Improvements Acquisition and 
Reimbursement Agreement, dated March 17, 2021 

 
2303.4701; 1110443 10 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date 
and year first above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that 
it has taken all necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

 
AUTHORITY : 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of 
Colorado 
 

By:  
 Officer of the Authority  

 
Attest: 
 

By:  
  
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
 
 
 
General Counsel to the Authority  
 

 
COMMUNITIES: 
MAYBERRY COMMUNITIES, LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company  
 

By:  
  
  
 Printed Name 
  
  
 Title 

 
 
 

 



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 

This INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into 
___________, ___________ by and between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political subdivision and public corporation of the State of 
Colorado (the “Authority”), and MAYBERRY COMMUNITIES, LLC, a Colorado limited 
liability company,  (“Communities”) The Authority  and Communities  are collectively referred 
to as the “Parties”. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Communities entered into a Public Improvements 
Acquisition and Reimbursement Agreement dated March 17, 2021 (the “Improvements 
Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, Communities has requested the Authority accept and acquire the 
improvements constructed by [___________] on Tracts [___________] of [___________] 
Subdivision recorded [___________] at Reception Number [___________], County of El Paso, 
State of Colorado as more particularly described on the attached Exhibit A (the “Public 
Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Improvements Agreement, one condition precedent of the 
Authority’s acceptance of the Public Improvements is an Indemnification Agreement, whereby 
Communities agrees to indemnify the Authority for any mechanic or materialman’s liens from 
suppliers and subcontractors for labor performed or materials used or furnished in the construction 
of the Public Improvements; 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Communities desire to enter into this Agreement whereby 
Communities agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Authority against any 
mechanics’ liens filed by contractors, subcontractors, material providers or suppliers that 
performed work on or provided materials for the Public Improvements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective agreements of 
the Parties contained herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

1. Communities Representations.  Communities, to induce the Authority  to acquire 
the Public Improvements, does hereby make the following representations to the Authority, with 
full knowledge and intent that the Authority will rely thereon: 

a. There are no judgments, claims, or lawsuits against Communities in relation 
to the Public Improvements as of the date first set forth above; 



A-2 

b. All contractors, subcontractors, material providers and suppliers who 
furnished services, labor or materials in connection with the construction of the Public 
Improvements up to and through the date first set forth above have been paid; and 

2. Indemnification.  Communities shall at all times indemnify, defend and hold the 
Authority and its directors, officers, managers, agents and employees harmless against any liability 
for claims and/or liens for labor performed or materials used or furnished in the construction of 
the Public Improvements, including any costs and expenses incurred by the Authority in the 
defense of such claims and liens, reasonable attorneys’ fees and any damages to the Authority  
resulting from such claims or liens.  After written demand by the Authority, Communities will 
immediately cause the effect of any suit or lien to be removed from the Public Improvements.  In 
the event Communities fails to do so, the Authority is authorized to use whatever means in its 
discretion it may deem appropriate to cause said lien or suit to be removed or dismissed, and the 
costs thereof, together with reasonable attorneys’ fees, will be immediately due and payable by 
Communities.  In the event a suit on such claim or lien is brought, Communities will, at the option 
of the Authority, defend the Authority in said suit at its own cost and expense, with counsel 
satisfactory to the Authority, and will pay and satisfy any such claim, lien, or judgment as may be 
established by the decision of the Court in such suit.  Communities may litigate any such lien or 
suit, provided Communities causes the effect thereof to be removed promptly in advance from the 
Public Improvements.  This indemnity coverage shall also cover the Authority’s defense costs in 
the event that the Authority, in its sole discretion, elects to provide its own defense.   

3. Governing Law/Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising 
out of or relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of 
the State of Colorado, without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the 
application of any law other than the law of the State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions arising 
from this Agreement shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is 
located.  The Parties expressly and irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect 
venue of any such action, including, but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At 
the Authority’s request, Communities shall carry on its duties and obligations under this 
Agreement during any legal proceedings until and unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  
In the event that it becomes necessary for either party to enforce the provisions of this Agreement 
or to obtain redress for the breach or violation of any of its provisions, whether by litigation, 
arbitration or other proceedings, the prevailing party shall recover from the other party all costs 
and expenses associated with such proceedings, including reasonable attorney’s fees.  

4. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, 
limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available 
by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other 
person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S. 

5. Severability.  If any covenant, term, condition or provision of this Agreement shall, 
for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such 
covenant, term, condition or provision shall not affect any other provision contained herein, the 
intention being that such provisions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or 



A-3 

unenforceable provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision 
similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed 
provision is legal, valid and enforceable. 

6. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of 
which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, 
and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall 
have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules of evidence 
applicable to court proceedings. 

 
 



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

APPLICATION FOR ACCEPTANCE OF AUTHORITY ELIGIBLE COSTS 
 

Applicant Name:  _____________________ 
 
Applicant Address:  ____________________ 
 
Email:  __________________________ 
 
Phone:  __________________________ 
 
A narrative description and location of the corresponding Public Improvements:  ______________ 
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Public Improvements Category and Costs: 
 

Category Entity that will 
own, operate, 

and/or maintain 
Public 

Improvements 

Final, preliminary 
or conditional 

acceptance by the 
applicable 

governmental 
entity (Yes/No) 

Hard Construction 
Costs (including 

Staking and 
Testing) 

Soft Costs 
(Engineering, 

Legal, 
Planning, 

Landscape & 
Irrigation Design 

Street      
Parks and Recreation      
Water     
Sanitation/Storm 
Sewer 

    

Transportation     
Mosquito     
Safety Protection     
Fire Protection     
Television Relay and 
Translation 

    

Security     
 
Total Amount of Authority Eligible Costs:  $______________ 
 
By its signature below, the Applicant certified that this Application and all documents submitted 
in support of this Application are true and correct, that the Applicant is authorize to sign this 
Application, and the costs submitted for reimbursement herein qualify at Authority Eligible Costs 
pursuant to the Public Improvement Acquisition and Reimbursement Agreement. 
 
Signature:  _______________________________ 
 
Date:  ___________________________________ 



2303.0015; 1111353 1 

Resolution No. 2021-03-08 
 

RESOLUTION 
ADOPTING BUDGET AND APPROPRIATING FUNDS 

 
(2021) 

       
 
 

The Board of Directors of Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority (the 

“Board”), County of El Paso, Colorado (the “Authority”) held an organizational meeting via 

teleconference on March 17, 2021, at the hour of 3:00 p.m. 

 

Prior to the meeting, each of the directors was notified of the date, time and place of the 

budget meeting and the purpose for which it was called and a notice of the meeting was posted or 

published in accordance with § 29-1-106, C.R.S. 

 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.] 

 



2303.0015; 1111353 2 

NOTICE AS TO PROPOSED 2021 BUDGET 
 



2303.0015; 1111353 3 

A RESOLUTION SUMMARIZING EXPENDITURES AND REVENUES FOR EACH FUND 
AND ADOPTING A BUDGET AND APPROPRIATING SUMS OF MONEY TO EACH FUND 
IN THE AMOUNTS AND FOR THE PURPOSES SET FORTH HEREIN FOR THE 
AUTHORITY FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR BEGINNING ON THE FIRST DAY OF 
JANUARY 2021 AND ENDING ON THE LAST DAY OF DECEMBER 2021. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board has authorized its accountant to prepare and submit a proposed 

budget to the Board in accordance with Colorado law; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed budget has been submitted to the Board for its review and 
consideration; and 
 

 WHEREAS, upon due and proper notice, provided in accordance with Colorado law, said 

proposed budget was open for inspection by the public at a designated place, a public hearing was 

held on March 17, 2021, interested electors were given the opportunity to file or present any 

objections to said proposed budget at any time prior to final adoption of the budget by the Board. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD AS FOLLOWS: 
 

 Section 1. Adoption of Budget.  The budget attached hereto and incorporated herein is 

approved and adopted as the budget of the Authority for fiscal year 2021.  In the event of 

recertification of values by the County Assessor’s Office after the date of adoption hereof, staff is 

hereby directed to modify and/or adjust the budget and certification to reflect the recertification 

without the need for additional Board authorization.  Any such modification to the budget or 

certification as contemplated by this Section 1 shall be deemed ratified by the Board. 

 

 Section 2. Appropriations.  The amounts set forth as expenditures in the budget 

attached hereto are hereby appropriated. 

 

 Section 3. Filing of Budget and Budget Message.  The Board hereby directs its legal 

counsel, manager or other designee to file a certified copy of the adopted budget resolution, the 

budget and budget message with the Division of Local Government by January 30 of the ensuing 

year. 

 



2303.0015; 1111353 4 

Section 4. Budget Certification.  The budget shall be certified by a member of the 

Authority, or a person appointed by the Authority, and made a part of the public records of the 

Authority. 

 

 [Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 



2303.0015; 1111353 5 

ADOPTED THIS 17TH DAY OF MARCH, 2021 

 
 MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY  

 
 
 
              
 Officer of the Authority 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
    
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
       
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
       
       
General Counsel to the Authority 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO 
COUNTY OF EL PASO 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY  
 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution constitutes a true and correct copy of the 
record of proceedings of the Board adopted by a majority of the Board at Authority meeting held 
on March 17, 2021, via teleconference as recorded in the official record of the proceedings of the 
Authority. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name this 17th day of March, 
2021. 
 
       
 
       
              



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

BUDGET DOCUMENT 
 

BUDGET MESSAGE 
 

 



MAYBERRY COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 

ANNUAL BUDGET 

FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2021 



3/5/21

ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET 
2019 2020 2021

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES -$  -$  -$  

REVENUES
Developer advance - - 50,000           

Total revenues - - 50,000           

Total funds available - - 50,000           

EXPENDITURES
General and administrative

Accounting - - 12,000           
Insurance and bonds - - 3,000             
District management - - 12,000           
Legal services - - 12,000           
Organization costs - - 10,000           
Contingency - - 1,000             

Total expenditures - - 50,000           

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation - - 50,000           

ENDING FUND BALANCES -$  -$  -$  

EMERGENCY RESERVE -$  -$  -$  
AVAILABLE FOR OPERATIONS - - - 
TOTAL RESERVE -$  -$  -$  

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

MARYBERRY COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY
GENERAL FUND 

2021 BUDGET
 WITH 2019 ACTUAL AND 2020 ESTIMATED

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
1



MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 
2021 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Services Provided 

The Authority, a quasi-municipal corporation and a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, 
was organized by order and decree of the District Court for the City of Colorado Springs in 2021 
and is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special District Act (Title 32, Article 1, 
Colorado Revised Statutes).  

The Authority has no employees and all administrative functions are contracted. 

The Authority prepares its budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting in accordance with 
the requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 using its best estimates as of the 
date of the budget hearing. These estimates are based on expected conditions and its expected 
course of actions. The assumptions disclosed herein are those that the Authority believes are 
significant to the budget. There will usually be differences between the budget and actual results, 
because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences 
may be material. 

Revenues 

Developer Advance 

Developer advances are expected to fund a portion of general fund expenditures. Developer 
advances are to be recorded as revenue for budget purposes with an obligation for future 
repayment when the Authority is financially able to issue bonds to reimburse the Developer. 

Expenditures 

Administrative Expenditures 

Administrative and operations expenditures include the estimated services necessary to maintain 
the Authority’s administrative viability such as legal, accounting, district management, insurance, 
and other administrative expenses. 

Debt and Leases 

The Authority has no outstanding debt or operating or capital leases. 

Reserves 

Emergency Reserve 

The Authority has provided for an emergency reserve fund equal to at least 3% of fiscal year 
spending as defined under TABOR. 

This information is an integral part of the accompanying forecasted budget. 

2



WILLIAM P. ANKELE, JR. 
JENNIFER GRUBER TANAKA 
CLINT C. WALDRON 
KRISTIN BOWERS TOMPKINS 
ROBERT G. ROGERS 
BLAIR M. DICKHONER 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
KRISTEN D. BEAR 
K. SEAN ALLEN 
GEORGE M. ROWLEY  

ZACHARY P. WHITE 
TRISHA K. HARRIS 

HEATHER L. HARTUNG 
MEGAN J. MURPHY 

EVE M. G. VELASCO 
ALLISON C. FOGG 

JENNIFER C. ROGERS 
LAURA S. HEINRICH 

AUDREY G. JOHNSON 
LISA CANCANON 

 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Ste. 2000   |  Centennial, CO  80122 |   P 303.858.1800     F 303.858.1801  |  WhiteBearAnkele.com 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 

FROM: Abby Franz, Paralegal, White Bear Ankele Tanka & Waldron 

DATE: March 17, 2021 

RE: Website Proposal, Heather Sosa 
 

Effective August 2, 2019, the Districts can post notices of public meetings on a public website of 
the Districts in compliance with Section 24-6-402, C.R.S. 
 
The Board of Directors has previously directed us to create an Authority website using the 
Statewide Internet Portal Authority (“SIPA”) (https://sipa.colorado.gov/). We have been 
experiencing significant delays with SIPA and to date we have been unable to create a website 
for the Authority on their platform. 
 
SIPA is releasing approximately one Authority website at a time and depending on their ability 
to build websites SIPA may or may consider releasing more websites. Because we are not able to 
create a website with SIPA at this time we are continuing to physically post meeting notices 
within the boundaries of the District. 
 
The proposal from Heather Sosa is following this Memo. The pricing of the proposal is as 
follows: 

: Website Creation - $950 billed at the end of the project 
: Training - $50/hour billed in 15-minute increments 
: Maintenance - $150 billed quarterly 

 
The proposal does not include website domain purchase and hosting.  
 
Here are links to websites Heather Sosa has created for other projects: 

: https://www.svlmd-barefootlakes.com/  
: https://www.wheatlandsmetro.org/ 

 
Heather Sosa can start working on the Districts website as soon as her proposal is authorized. 
Here are some options for how to proceed: (1) continue to work with/wait on SIPA for a website 
on their platform; (2) wait and approve the Heather Sosa proposal at the next meeting; or (3) 
approve the Heather Sosa proposal now and ratify it at the next meeting. If a majority of the 

https://www.svlmd-barefootlakes.com/
https://www.wheatlandsmetro.org/


- 2 - 

Board authorizes the Heather Sosa proposal to proceed now we will send a contract for signature 
and the work can begin. 
 
We recommend the following: 

: WEBSITE DEVELOPER: Heather Sosa - $950.00 for the build and development of 
website (see contract for maintenance and other optional costs) 

: DOMAIN 
o NAME: [Domain].com 
o TERM: 10 Year Term = Total of $246.83 

: HOSTING: WordPress Ultimate Packet – 36 Month Term/3 Years = $467.64 
 

 
 

DOMAIN 
Below you will find a breakdown of costs with a 1 year, 2, year, 3 year, 5 year and 10 year 
option. We recommend doing the 10 year term as this removes the possibility of the domain cost 
going higher and locks the Authorityinto a great rate. When you purchase the WordPress you 
will also get 1 year free of the domain.  
 

Year  Cost Per Year Renewal Cost Total 
Full Domain 
Privacy & 
Protection 

Total  

1 $                 11.99  Renews at $17.99/yr $    11.99   $                       9.99   $    21.98  
2 $                 11.99  Renews at $17.99/yr $    29.98   $                     19.98   $    49.96  
3 $                 11.99  Renews at $17.99/yr $    47.97   $                     29.97   $    77.94  
5 $                 11.99  Renews at $17.99/yr $    83.95   $                     49.95   $  133.90  
10 

(Recommend) 
$                 11.99 
(First Year Free)  

Renews at 
$17.99/yr $  146.93   $                     99.90   $  246.83  

 
HOSTING 
Concerning hosting options, the recommendation and alternative options are as follows: 
 
Platform: WordPress 
Recommend Package: Ultimate 
Recommend Cost/Term: $12.99/month for 36 months/3 Years = $467.64 + tax 

 

Contact Item Cost Quantity Total
Build and Development of Website 950.00$               1 950.00$     
Quarterly Maintenance (Recommended) 150.00$               4 600.00$     
New Development (Optional - see contract) $50/hour 50.00$                 0 -$            
Training (Optional - see contract): $50/hour 50.00$                 0 -$            
Website Domain & Full Domain Privacy Protection (Total for 10 Years) 246.83$               1 246.83$     
Website Hosting - WordPress Ultimate Package (Total for 3 Years) 467.64$               1 467.64$     
Total 2,264.47$ 

Please note the following:
Estimate for domain and protection is a 10 year term and hosting for a 3 year term
Estimate does note include any White Bear Ankele Tanka & Waldron Billing
Estimate does note include taxes
Estimate is based off of the most recent costs on GoDaddy.com, although these rates can change

Heather Sosa

GoDaddy.com



- 3 - 

You can view the other packages below, although we recommend the Ultimate for the 
additional storage, additional visitors (each time you go to the website, you are a visitor) 
and most importantly, Malware removal which provides security and protection for the 
District. 
 
WordPress Package Options 

 
 
WordPress Terms 

 
 
 


	Agenada
	3.a.i Annual Adminsitrative Resolution
	3.a.ii. Emergency Procedures Resolution Authorizing Teleconferencing
	3.a.111. Resolution Establishing an Electronic Signature Policy
	3.a.iv. Resolution Providing Defense and Indeminfication
	3.a.v. Resolution Adopting Records Retention Schedule
	3.a.vi. Resolution, Public Records Request Policy
	3.a.vii. Resolution Designating Location of Regular and Special Meetings
	3.b.i White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron Engagement Letter
	3.b.ii. Whit Bear Ankele & Tanaka Disclosure of Costs for Legal Services in connection with Bonds
	3.b.iii. CliftonLarsonAllen Engagemetn Letter
	3.b.iv. ICA with Public Alliance for Management Services
	3.b.v. ICA with MMI Water Engineers for Engineering Services
	3.b.vi. DA Davidson Engagement Letter
	3.b.vii. Kutak Rock Engaement Letter
	3.b.viii. Kutak Rock Engagement Letter
	3.c.i. Property and Liability Pool Proposal and IGA
	3.c.ii. T. Charles Wilson Agency Services Agreement
	3.d. Public Improvements Acquisition and Reimbursement Agreement
	5.a. Website Proposal



